BEeKEZKRBRLF

ALLIED CEMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED

(SRS EMKRILz BRAR)
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
(A& 19 5% Stock Code: 1312)




H £t Contents

RAEH

Corporate Information

FREHE

Chairman’s Statement
BIREN®I AN

Management Discussion and Analysis
TEERRE

Corporate Governance Report

E=2RE

Directors’ Report

B % B RS
Independent Auditor’s Report

FeBn Rk Ht2EK SR
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

REMBARR

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

BARBEBE
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

FeaReRBR

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

fRE g HmR MR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

M

Financial Summary

20

36

55

57

58

60

61

64

144



NEE

Corporate Information

g
HITES

ma o EE
BBE BEFREE
M

BYFHAITES

5% /ElL/EI\ H«%I\
SR I
REE

R - TE
R B

RiEE
REZEE

=FE
ﬁ% /E\E\ H]%
o I

REE

FEREAREEEZES

REE - L/FE
= A
=S
R B
o B Y

BORXZEZES

=58

—E—HFEF I ANNUAL REPORT 2015

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Huang Yu, Chairman
Ng Qing Hai, Managing Director
Deng Jinguang

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Chan Sze Chung
Zhang Ruibin
Zhang Junxi Jack

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Huang Yu, Chairman
Ng Qing Hai
Deng Jinguang

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Chan Sze Chung, Chairman
Zhang Ruibin
Zhang Junxi Jack

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Zhang Ruibin, Chairman
Chan Sze Chung
Zhang Junxi Jack

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Huang Yu, Chairman
Ng Qing Hai

Chan Sze Chung
Zhang Ruibin

Zhang Junxi Jack

CREDIT AND RISKS MANAGEMENT
COMMITTEE

Zhang Junxi Jack, Chairman
Huang Yu

Ng Qing Hai

Chan Sze Chung

Zhang Ruibin

SHARE DEALING COMMITTEE

Huang Yu, Chairman
Ng Qing Hai
Deng Jinguang



A7l & # Corporate Information

FEFRET PRINCIPAL BANKERS

B8 Hong Kong

FERIT(EBR)BRAR China CITIC Bank International Limited

EBRIT(EB)BRAA] Fubon Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

BITIRT(HEB)BRAR Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

AR LESELRTERAR The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

mtBARTEE UBS AG

B A i Mainland China

REHRIT(FE)BRAF The Bank of East Asia (China) Limited

FEERBRITROABRAA China Construction Bank Corporation

EAE—RITAERAA Fubon Bank (China) Co., Ltd.

FETIERITRAOHBRAF Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited

T iRITR B R A A Ping An Bank Co., Ltd.

AMPSEE REGISTERED OFFICE

Clifton House Clifton House

75 Fort Street 75 Fort Street

P.O. Box 1350 P.O. Box 1350

Grand Cayman KY1-1108 Grand Cayman KY1-1108

Cayman Islands Cayman lIslands

BREERFTEEEME HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS

BB EELITE188% 9th Floor, Allied Kajima Building

BaEmRERNENME 138 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong

B 2111 9686 Tel.: 2111 9686

BE: 2111 1276 Fax: 2111 1276

BE info@alliedcement.com.hk E-mail: info@alliedcement.com.hk

BHBEFEELRER PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR

Appleby Trust (Cayman) Ltd. Appleby Trust (Cayman) Ltd.

Clifton House Clifton House

75 Fort Street 75 Fort Street

P.O. Box 1350 P.O. Box 1350

Grand Cayman KY1-1108 Grand Cayman KY1-1108

Cayman lIslands Cayman lIslands

BHBEERDE BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR

P EWERHEBRAF Tricor Secretaries Limited

BB Level 22, Hopewell Centre

25 KB H183% 183 Queen’s Road East

& T 0221 Hong Kong

i & 7K e 2 % A IR 22 7] ALLIED CEMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED 3



A7l & # Corporate Information

EEMBERRAGAME CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER AND COMPANY
SECRETARY

AEHE Si Tou Man Wai

B X % #ED INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

e e A EMR T ERTANTT Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

e SOLICITORS

PRS2 AR B MR 2EMEFAMEG S CFN Lawyers in association with Broad & Bright

e AR E A Paul Hastings

BIEEXEIEY 321 P. C. Woo & Co.

Appleby Appleby

Bz 4 4K 5% STOCK CODE

1312 1312

8 uk WEBSITES

http://www.alliedcement.com.hk http:/www.alliedcement.com.hk

http://www.irasia.com/listco/hk/alliedcement/index.htm http:/www.irasia.com/listco/hk/alliedcement/index.htm

4 —E—HFEF I ANNUAL REPORT 2015



FERE
Chairman’s Statement

AANBRERB GNRZEBRARRA ([ARF]])
MEFS(EFSDMAR BTE2HAR
AREMBAR(AKEDHE—T—1F
T A=+ HLFENEERFEESE -

ES

BE-_Z—RE+-_A=1+—HILFE X&
BHW A B465. 78 EE T (ZF— M4 : 733.1
BEBT) W E—FE FFE36.5% ° KNFE
ZAREEEEBA208FEETL M _ZT—N
FZHAEB|A8088 BT  EREAERE
B0.69B (T —WF : FREKRZEFI0.43
AL -

HYHEE-_ZT-—ME+-_A=+—HIEFE
BEMN ANEBBEE_Z-RE+_A=
+—BIEFEHREEANEE ZEBEEXTEH
R AEERNKEERZHEHEERTFHE
BEE—FETE (\RERBEEEN &
(i) TTE & g -

I’ E

EEREHR FRARBE_F-AF+
A=t BULFEREAAAERE(CE
— U ) -

&£

—E-AFRPEARAMB(HFED+ =
FIWEZF SRKBEEL A HDEY
EREBRNBRIEIBN—F - NEITERE
ZRN[ EeRAIEEER  RRTELR
FEEMHENTROER -

“E-RFHRIORTEMES BT EER
EMEHIE - ZEE] - BEREETENEE
BEMRITERMARER  HEEKBRTE
" TERERERR -

£ AP B 3 KO 1T 5 TE R B Uk 2 B BV RIS
THRBETERSRER  RIZBHEKRE
B =S - Plan =2 B A 78 &= I AT e BC
A ARER - Sl REEHIE
BRPBEBRNFZ KN - REFEARHK
MBEEREENHEERE T —[ERFRE
TEBEERNE  BRBETEER B/
PEARRAFNTERRARZ— © B
REIEE BT IR AT B B N oR & A B S R
BRBAKZBETATER - PEBFIT

On behalf of the board of directors (“Board”) of Allied Cement
Holdings Limited (“Company”), | am pleased to present to you the
audited annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries
(“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2015.

RESULTS

The revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015
was HK$465.7 million (2014: HK$733.1 million), representing a
decrease of 36.5% compared to the previous year. The loss for the
year of the Group was HK$29.8 million, as compared to a profit of
HK$28.0 million in 2014. The basic loss per share amounted to
HKO0.69 cents (2014: basic earnings per share HK0.43 cents).

The Group recorded a significant loss for the year ended 31
December 2015 as compared to the net profit for the year ended
31 December 2014. Such loss was primarily attributable to: (i) a
decline in the sales volume and average selling prices of the
Group’s cement products as compared to the previous year; (i) an
increase in allowance for bad and doubtful debts; and (i) an
increase in administrative expenses.

DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to recommend any final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2015 (2014: Nil).

OUTLOOK

Apart from the ending year of the Twelfth Five-Year Plan of the
People’s Republic of China (“PRC”), 2015 was the same year filled
with daunting challenges of over-capacity in the cement industry
during its transformation and upgrading. The “Golden Era” of the
rapid growth in cement industry has come to an end and
inevitably, the industry needs to strive to overcome the struggles
arising from the industrial transformation.

In 2016, cement industry will primarily incline to the strategy of
“suspending additional production capacity and reducing over-
capacity”. However, in the supply side, the result of reducing over-
capacity is not expected in the short-run with the outstanding
imbalance between supply and demand, which the industry
situation will remain much challenging.

While the cement industry in Mainland China faces stern
challenges, the pharmaceutical industry in the PRC is rapidly
growing and is supported by a number of socioeconomic factors,
such as China’'s economic growth and increase in disposable
income, population growth and increased life expectancy, rising
health consciousness and the active support from the PRC
government. According to the Thirteenth Five-Year Plan for National
Economic and Social Development of the PRC (FF #E A K L FE [
R BEMTGERFET=(ERFRE), the improvement of medical
resources in China, including the development of pharmaceutical

i & 7K e 2 % A IR 22 7] ALLIED CEMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED 5
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industry, is one of the key policy directions for China in the next
five years. Furthermore, the pharmaceutical industry in PRC may
also benefit from the policy directions regarding improvement of the
public health and medical insurance system. The PRC government
has also initiated scientific research projects on the prevention and
control of major diseases with increasing financial support. It is
also expected that the above efforts in reforming the PRC drug
appraisal and approval system will potentially encourage the
development and sales of pharmaceutical products in the market.

Looking ahead, the Group will launch a diversified strategy. Apart
from promoting its current strategies to improve the core
competitiveness of the existing businesses, the Group will
vigorously expand in the medical, pharmaceutical and healthcare
businesses. The Group will also actively identify other development
opportunities and acquisition targets in the medical, pharmaceutical
and health industry that are in line with the Group’s business
strategies and can enlarge the Group’s revenue stream in order to
enhance shareholders’ value. Overall, the Group aims to develop
into a magnificent medical-and-health-oriented enterprise, which is
the vision of the Group for its future development.

APPRECIATION

| would like to take this opportunity to thank our shareholders,
customers and suppliers for their continuous support to the Group.
| would also like to express the Group’s appreciation for the
contributions of the members of the Board and all staff.

Huang Yu
Chairman

30 March 2016
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FINANCIAL RESULTS

The revenue of Allied Cement Holdings Limited (“Company”) and its
subsidiaries (“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2015 was
HK$465.7 million (2014: HK$733.1 million), representing a decrease
of 36.5% compared to the previous year. The loss for the year of
the Group was HK$29.8 million, as compared to a profit of
HK$28.0 million in 2014. The basic loss per share amounted to
HKO0.69 cents (2014: basic earnings per share HK0.43 cents).

The Group recorded a significant loss for the year ended 31
December 2015 as compared to the net profit for the year ended
31 December 2014. Such loss was primarily attributable to: (i) a
decline in the sales volume and average selling prices of the
Group’s cement products as compared to the previous year; (i) an
increase in allowance for bad and doubtful debts; and (i) an
increase in administrative expenses.

The sales volume and average selling prices of the Group’s cement
products declined as compared to the previous year, mainly due to
the economic growth of the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) hit
the record trough since 1990 in 2015. Continued sluggish
investment in fixed asset led to a diminishing demand for cement
product. Under the environment of over supply and inadequate
market demand, certain cement industry peers in the PRC strived
to grasp market share by continued reduction of their sales prices
of cement, resulting in continued drop in market price and
stressed profitability of corporates. The gross profit of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2015 was HK$24.2 million (2014:
HK$70.1 million), representing a decrease of 65.5% compared to
the previous year. The gross margin was 5.2%, representing a
decrease of 4.4 percentage points from 9.6% for the previous
year.

The allowance for bad and doubtful debts was increased as a
result of the uncertainty in the recoverability of certain receivables
relating to the Group’s Shanghai operations.

BEXEERAMELE

ALLIED CEMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED

A FRRA-_Z-AERFAERE
2015 Annual General Meeting of the Company

S R-EEERAR XN

2015 ANWUAL GENERAL MEETING

it & Kkoje 12 B A R 2 7 ALLIED CEMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED

7



EEEN R LD

Management Discussion and Analysis

B aKik
2015 KA TIES N

A —T-EFIfeH - FEEBERELBETIAR
2015 Working Conference — Snapshot of the top management

of the Group with Shanghai staff

HE-Z—RAF+-A=+—HILFE 4X&
ERNTHRERAEC0SEE A T(ZE—M
F 472888 7T)  BRE—FEEIN28.8% -
WHFEEBRR: (\AEREMBREREEED
ERNEEEEN: ()VRERNTHRERTH
HEBATEM: (ESB/EIEMN: Rivh &
RIS E BB &G BB FREE N -

E3 JE)]
TE-RFKEXLZBRER

—E—RF ﬁﬁ‘iﬂ“/ﬁ‘iiﬁwﬁiﬁﬁ T~F
B EEZ CEHBRHES - PEH
£ R i%‘?)‘ﬁﬁ(% Eﬁﬁ“ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂiﬁﬂ’]liﬁ
MPkE; - ER AP EEITAEER Ll 28

RE  DEBRAEKERT-RIRER
RME  #BEE BRLE  DARBRNOBRKRE
T - AR T AR KR e

TEBERA R ERER —h

¢EPilfmﬁut*ﬁf‘m%z%?%%
Wi [k T FB4.9%° M & F /K #
(www.dcement.com) Z F st E R AIER - &
BIARITEERA BEEARKI20.7ET
& b F%58% - %‘JEFfJT\E'JzEEFE’U—fﬁ CBEE
EREEFHRFKE - =ZF ﬁiﬁi EF'
B 7K e (B 1% 15 B (CEMPI)HSZ #&79 2524 -
—HFE2F - REKEE W?a%(f%ﬁ'ﬁ%“ﬂmL

20.59% @ W —E—MFE RN KREBRIEH
90.8FKIEE — T IR - MEBEBTEITEE

B AP ARA R 2E

—E—HFEF I ANNUAL REPORT 2015

EiRARLE

KeXKEERAR2
2015 HEATIES N

A —T - EFIFEE - AEERERLUREIRRAR
2015 Working Conference — Snapshot of the top management of
the Group with Shandong staff representatives

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the administrative
expenses of the Group amounted to approximately HK$60.8 million
(2014: HK$47.2 million), representing an increase of 28.8% as
compared to the previous year. This was mainly due to () an
increase in legal and professional fees incurred in the exploration
of new investment opportunities; (ii) an increase in salaries included
in administrative expenses; (i) an increase in charitable donations;
and (iv) an increase in net loss on disposal and write-off of
property, plant and equipment.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Macro Environment of Cement Industry in 2015

In 2015, the global economy was characterised by low growth,
imbalance, high volatility, comprehensive risk and difficult recovery.
The growth of the PRC’s economy continued to slow down, facing
unprecedented difficulties and challenges. In view of the above
macro environment of the PRC’s economic operation, the Chinese
government has adopted a series of policies to stabilise growth,
facilitate reforms, optimise structure, improve citizen’s living
standard and avoid risks, which minimised the occurrence of huge
fluctuation in its economy.

According to the statistics of National Bureau of Statistics of the
PRC, the production volume of cement above designated size
across the PRC in 2015 amounted to 2,347.96 million tons,
representing a year-on-year decrease of 4.9%. According to the
statistics from the website of Digital Cement (www.dcement.com),
the cement industry in the PRC recorded a year-on-year decrease
of 58% in total profit to RMB32.97 billion, which was barely half of
that in the prior year and even fell below the profitability level over
the past 7 years. As at the end of 2015, cement price index
(CEMPI) of China closed at 79.25, representing a cumulative
decline of 20.59% for the whole year of 2015, and a further
decrease from 99.8 of CEMPI at the end of 2014. Such data
revealed the fact that the entire industry was encountering
unprecedented predicament.
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Managing Director of the Company, with staff members with
outstanding performance

Business operation of the Group

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group is engaged
principally in the manufacture and sales of cement, clinker and
slag, trading of cement and provision of technical services in
Shandong province and Shanghai in the PRC. The Group’s cement
and clinker sales volume amounted to 2,002,000 tons (2014:
2,424,000 tons) during the year, representing a decrease of 17.4%
as compared to the previous year.

1. Shanghai Allied Cement Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai SAC”)

In 2015, cement distributed by Shanghai SAC amounted to
805,000 tons (2014: 1,039,000 tons), decreased by 22.5%
from the previous year. Gross profit generated was HK$19.1
million (2014: HK$25.2 million), representing a decrease of
24.2% from the previous year. During the year, Shanghai SAC
actively explored and maintained the relationship with quality
customers while removing customers with potential risks. It
also adopted various measures to enhance the sales from
quality customers, and continued to make best effort to
implement and improve its business management system.
Shanghai SAC also continued to apply the surplus of the idle
funds in its business operation to invest cautiously into
wealth management products in accordance with the Group’s
treasury policies and investment guidelines. Shanghai SAC
recorded interest income on financial assets of HK$4.1 million
in 2015 (2014: fair value gains and interest income of
HK$16.6 million) through treasury management. Shanghai
SAC also stepped the efforts in reducing administrative
expenses, which amounted to HK$18.9 million (2014:
HK$20.7 million) for the year ended 31 December 2015,
representing a decrease of 8.7% from the previous year. The
unsatisfactory financial performance recorded by Shanghai
SAC for the year was mainly due to the accrual for allowance
for bad and doubtful debts of HK$18.3 million.

it & Kkoje 12 B A R 2 7 ALLIED CEMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED
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The Emerging Chinese Building Material
Enterprises Top 100 Award 2015* awarded to
Shandong Allied Wangchao Cement Limited
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The Chinese Building Material Enterprises Top
500 Award 2015* awarded to Shandong Allied
Wangchao Cement Limited

Shandong Allied Wangchao Cement Limited (“Allied
Wangchao”)

In 2015, Allied Wangchao’s clinker production amounted to
852,000 tons (2014: 920,000 tons), while cement production
was 1,083,000 tons (2014: 1,334,000 tons), decreased by
18.8% from previous year. The sales of cement and clinker
amounted to 1,197,000 tons (2014: 1,373,000 tons),
representing a decrease of 12.8% as compared to the
previous year. Gross profit amounted to HK$10.6 million
(2014: HK$46.2 million), decreased by 77.1% from previous
year.

The profit before taxation of Allied Wangchao for 2015
decreased significantly as compared with the previous year,
mainly attributable to the substantial fall in the selling price of
its products where the average selling price per ton of grade
42.5 cement recorded a decrease of 17.6% compared to last
year and the average production costs per ton decreased by
111% from the previous year. The excess of decrease in
selling price over the decrease in production costs resulted in
a decrease in gross profit. In addition, under the influence of
shrinking market demand, both the production and sales
volume recorded a significant decrease, which also
contributed to the remarkable decrease in the profit before
taxation.

During the year, Allied Wangchao enjoyed several preferential
policies and tax refund policy from the government, and
received such payments amounting to HK$10.6 million. It
continued to increase investments in technological innovation
and equipment modification, which reduced consumption and
enhanced product quality. Further, in order to enhance the
working and operating efficiency, Allied Wangchao had
reduced its headcount. In light of the unfavourable situation
of the operating environment, sales by cash is also promoted
to mitigate operating risks. These measures had positive
effect on stabilising the results of Allied Wangchao during the
year. Moreover, Allied Wangchao was recognised as the
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“High and New Technology Enterprises in Shandong
Province” (IR & = ¥ # it & %), and thus enjoyed a
preferential income tax rate of 15% commencing from 2015.

3. Shandong Shanghai Allied Cement Co., Ltd. (“Shandong
SAC”)

Shandong SAC is exploring the possibility on product and
technology transformation. In 2015, it resold available
inventories, machinery and equipment to Allied Wangchao,
and wrote off obsoleted inventories, and machinery and
equipment.

4. The development of new cement production facilities at
Bailonggang, Pudong, Shanghai (“Bailonggang
Project”)

The Bailonggang Project is located at Heqing Town, Pudong
New Area, Shanghai. It owns an area of 43.37 hectares and
a shoreline of 450 meters. The Bailonggang Project applies
new dry process cement production lines of existing
advanced international standards. Major constructions
include: (i) two new dry process cement production lines,
each with a capacity of 4,000 tons per day for the synergetic
handling of urban sludge and wastes; (ii) ancillary
construction of two pure low-temperature waste heat power
stations, each with a capacity of 7.56MW for fully utilising the
waste heat from cement kiln; and (i) ancillary construction of
a dock with annual throughput of approximately 8 million
tons. This project is a resource-saving and environmentally
friendly green environmental project. It uses cement kiln for
synergetic hazard-free disposal of industrial solid waste,
urban sludge, domestic waste and industrial hazardous
waste, achieving comprehensive utilisation of resources. An
application has been filed to the relevant government
authority for postponement, and is currently pending for
approval.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Liquidity and Financing

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group’s capital
expenditure, daily operations and investments are mainly funded by
cash generated from its operations, issuance of loan notes and
loans from principal bankers and financial institutions.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group has early
redeemed the Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) denominated unsecured
loan notes with aggregate principal amount of HK$185.0 million
with the Group’s internal funds and additional bank loan.

As at 31 December 2015, the Group maintained bank balances
and cash reserves of approximately HK$1,322.8 million (2014:
HK$1,073.6 million), including bank balances and cash of
approximately HK$697.3 million (2014: HK$1,026.6 million), pledged
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short-term bank deposits of approximately HK$424.9 million (2014:
HK$21.7 million) and time deposits of approximately HK$200.6
million (2014: HK$25.3 million).

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had outstanding borrowings
of HK$777.5 million (2014: HK$257.6 million) repayable within one
year. There was no outstanding borrowing repayable after one year
(2014: HK$185.0 million). All of the Group’s outstanding borrowings
were denominated in HK$ and were charged with interest at
floating rates.

REBWR-_ZT—RHE+-_A=+—HMEE  The gearing ratio (total borrowings over total assets) of the Group
A& tl:?ﬂﬁm BRERRABEE)WT as at 31 December 2015 was as follows:
—E-EF —me
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BRBE Total borrowings 777,456 442 554
BEE Total assets 2,629,925 2,426,774
EEBELX Gearing ratio 29.6% 18.2%
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were HK$157.9 million (2014: HK$167.3 million), which represented
the provision of entrusted loans through a bank to /& (£E)
BR8] (Shanghai Bqumg Material (Group) Company Limited®)
(formerly known as /R EM K (&£E)#AF] (Shanghai Building
Material (Group) General Company?*)) (Shanghai Building Material”)
and the related interest receivable. Details of the transactions were
set out in the announcement of the Company dated 22 May 2015.

Financial Management and Policy

The Group’s financial policy aims at minimising the Group’s
financial risk exposure. Our policy is not to engage in speculative
derivative financial transactions and not to invest the current capital
in financial products with significant risk.

Risk of Foreign Exchange Fluctuation

The Group’s operations are mainly located in Mainland China and
its transactions, related working capital and borrowings are
primarily denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) and HK$. The Group
closely monitors such foreign exchange exposure and will consider
hedging significant currency exposure should the need arise.
However, since the Group’s consolidated financial statements are
presented in HK$ which is different from its functional currency,
being RMB, it is inevitable that the Group would face foreign
exchange exposure in this respect, whether positive or negative,
from translating the accounts to its presentation currency.
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Pledge of Assets

Details regarding the pledge of assets are set out in note 39 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

Material Capital Commitments and Investments

As announced by the Company on 15 February 2012, Shanghai
SAC entered into the (EARREFBRIBEBIBEEIS (EH &)
(Bailonggang Project Construction Cooperation Agreement®) and
the (FARRIEERQRRB)D &) (Principle Agreement for the
Establishment of the Joint Venture Company*) on 13 February
2012 with Shanghai Building Material, a state-owned enterprise, for
the purpose of setting up a joint venture company (“JV Company”)
to operate and manage the Bailonggang Project after the relevant
government approvals for the Bailonggang Project being obtained.
The 50% share of registered capital of the JV Company
attributable to the Group amounting to RMB400 million (equivalent
to approximately HK$477.9 million (2014: HK$506.3 million)) will be
contributed and funded by internal resources of the Group. Details
of the transaction were set out in the announcements of the
Company dated 15 February 2012 and 30 January 2014,
respectively and the circular of the Company dated 16 March
2012.

As announced by the Company on 3 October 2012, Shanghai SAC
entered into three purchase agreements on 28 September 2012 for
the purchases of certain equipment and machineries at the
aggregate consideration of RMB380 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$454.0 million (2014: HK$481.0 million)), for future
use in the Bailonggang Project. The Company does not intend to
retain such equipment and machineries for its own use. Up to 31
December 2015, Shanghai SAC settled the first installment of the
total consideration under the three respective agreements in an
aggregate amount of RMB68.3 million (2014: RMB68.3 million)
(equivalent to approximately HK$81.6 million (2014: HK$86.5
million)). Details of the transaction were set out in the
announcement and circular of the Company dated 3 October 2012
and 15 November 2012, respectively.

As announced by the Company on 28 January 2016, Kingwood
Limited (“Purchaser”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, and AT EFREEEEBR AT (Shenzhen Waranty
Asset Management Co., Ltd.*) (“Shenzhen Waranty”) entered into a
sale and purchase agreement, pursuant to which the Purchaser
conditionally agreed to purchase, and Shenzhen Waranty
conditionally agreed to sell, an aggregate of 60% equity interest in
I RER BB AR AT Beijing Ziguang Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.*)
(“Ziguang Pharmaceutical”), a sino-foreign joint venture enterprise
established in the PRC, representing the entire interest held by
Shenzhen Waranty in Ziguang Pharmaceutical, for an aggregate
consideration of RMB291.2 million. The acquisition will be funded
by the internal resources of the Company.

i & 7K e 2 % A IR 22 7] ALLIED CEMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Shenzhen Waranty is a connected person of the Company by
virtue of its interests in China Health Management Investment
Limited (“China Health”), a substantial shareholder of the Company.
Therefore, the acquisition constitutes a connected transaction of
the Company under Chapter 14A of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. As at the date of this report, the equity interest of
Shenzhen Waranty was held by &I TTEBREREZREGR AR
(Shenzhen Aorongxin Investment Development Co. Ltd.)
(“Shenzhen Aorongxin”) as to 52% and 1t R[F 5 AIFT L E B R A F]
(Beijing Tongfang Chuangxin Investment Co., Ltd.*) (“Tongfang
Chuangxin”) as to 48%. The equity interest of Shenzhen Aorongxin
is held by Mr. Huang Yu, the Chairman of the board of directors of
the Company, as to 99%. Mr. Huang is the chairman of the board
of directors of Shenzhen Waranty and a director of Waranty Assets
Management (HK) Limited, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Shenzhen Waranty. The proposed acquisition is subject to the
approval of the independent shareholders of the Company at an
extraordinary general meeting held on 15 April 2016. Details of the
transaction were set out in the announcement and circular of the
Company dated 28 January 2016 and 22 March 2016,
respectively.

EVENT AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING
PERIOD

As announced by the Company on 28 January 2016, the Group
conditionally agreed to purchase an aggregate of 60% equity
interest in Ziguang Pharmaceutical for an aggregate consideration
of RMB291.2 million. The details of the proposed acquisition are
set out in the section headed “Material Capital Commitments and
Investments”.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had 306 (2014: 324)
employees. The Group maintains a policy of paying competitive
remuneration packages and employees are also rewarded on
performance related basis including salary and bonus.

Details of the emoluments of the directors of the Company, the five
highest paid individuals and the senior management of the Group
are set out in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements of
this annual report.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme, details of
which are set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.
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Strengthening industry discipline and fair
competition

Despite the PRC’s cement market being caught in a
downdraft in 2015, the Group has not implemented deep
discount policies for the purpose of boosting sales and has
not adopted unethical competitive tactics for the purpose of
maximising profit but rather devoted itself to guide and
promote its peers in the region in order to safeguard the
market for a disciplined, orderly, robust and sustainable
business environment.

Focusing on environmental protection by
energy saving and reduction of emission

The Group’s major environmental policy is to comply with all
environmental requirements applicable to its operations and
continually improve its environmental structure towards
industry best practice. According to the Group’s vision of
taking the initiative in the recycling economy and keeping the
enterprise with solid foundations and a promising future, the
Group strives for a better eco-friendly construction of factory
sites, upholds green development, expedites energy-saving,
reduction of emission and comprehensive utilisation of
resources while keeping close watch on environmental
protection with green construction materials recommended
so as to strike a harmonic balance between the cement
industry and the environment.

Allied Wangchao has also invested more than RMB40 million
to establish the 4.5MW waste heat power generation units to
make full use of kiln waste heat, self-solving the 30% power
consumption need for production. In addition, the waste heat
power generation units has reduced carbon dioxide
emissions by approximately 30,000 tons annually since it
started operation officially in 2011 and minimised the
emissions of dust and other harmful gases correspondingly.

Allied Wangchao also invested several millions of RMB to
change the electrostatic precipitator in kiln inlet collector to
bag-type precipitator and change the denitration technology,
which helped to substantially reduce the emission of dust
and nitrogen oxide. The emission of nitrogen oxide was far
under the emission permit value of 400mg/m3.

In addition, there are environmental smoke and dust monitors
inside the plant area of Allied Wangchao to monitor emission
densities and volume of pollutants from production lines, so
as to ensure the pollutant emission from such production
lines complies with the environmental regulations in the PRC.
Environmental authorities in the PRC also carried out regular
site visits to monitor the pollutant emission of its production
lines.
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For the whole year of 2015, the emission densities and
volume of particles, sulphur dioxides and nitrogen oxides
from the production lines of Allied Wangchao, after being
dedusted, fulfilled all indicators as stipulated in the L5 & &
MIEXRSLEYWHYENIZE (Emission Standard of Air
Pollutants for Building Materials Industry in Shandong
Province®) (DB37/2373-2013). In addition, noise from the plant
of Allied Wangchao also complied with the national standards
as set out in Class Il of the T 313 i IR IR IR 2 HE R %
(Emission Standard for Industrial Enterprises Noise at
Boundary*) (GB/T12348-2008).

For the year ended 31 December 2015, there were no fines
or prosecutions arising from environmental-related regulatory
non-compliances of the Group.

Providing employees with regular training with
the focus on corporate culture development
through both internal and external policies

The Group provided regular training regarding production,
skillsets and code of behaviour for its staff members in order
to enhance their all-round quality. To facilitate communication
and understanding for a better and harmonic family life for
our staff members and their children, a number of seminars
were held with this aim. Since the start of publication of our
monthly journal “E8# 2 " our staff have been informed with
a whole set of knowledge about production and technology
as well as encyclopedia of life. The Group also fosters
communication and cooperation with colleges and academic
institutions in the PRC to render support to technology
innovation and at the same time reduce cost and boost
efficiency.

Participating in charity and contributing to
society

While its business is developing and growing, the Group
maintains its commitment to social responsibility and
philanthropy. In 2015, the Group donated HK$1 million and

- = 2 -

A FEEEIRBELMEIRBRTLEXKE AR
Snapshot of family of staff members after attending a seminar
for the staff members and their children

A\ FHATRAEARATNBGEEERMEER LTS T
RILREBERETH —AEZREAZA
Mr. Huang Wuhu, general manager of Shandong Allied
Wangchao Cement Limited, visited an elderly home in
Zaozhuang City, Shandong Province, with staffs in Shandong
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HK$70,000 to “South South Education Foundation For
Sustainable Development Limited” and “Bring Me A Book
Hong Kong”, respectively. Over the years, Allied Wangchao
also sponsored uniforms to schools on Children’s day (1
June), sponsored notebooks and granted scholarship to the
children of our staff members, paid visit to the elderly living
in adjacent villages and poverty-stricken families of our staff
during Chung Yang Festival and voluntarily repaired roads
nearby. The Group had spent over HK$15 million on donation
and charity work since 2008.

A TREND OF INDUSTRY DEVELOPMENT IN
2016

Cement Industry

In 2016, it is expected that China will experience weaker
investment sentiment, moderate growth in consumer industry,
softening export and excess capacity removal, and overall
macroeconomy may be exposed to downside pressure.

Currently, a clear direction is given by the PRC government for the
current quagmire for the cement industry, that is, new production
capacity is controlled while obsolete production capacity is
eliminated and products of lower quality are removed. Moreover,
the government also cut down the production on the supplier side.
With the implementation of such excess capacity removal policy
and market forces, market confidence will bounce back,
competition will be more rational, capacity allocation will be more
reasonable and cement prices are expected to regain gradually into
a better balance of higher level.

On the cost front, it is expected that the supply in coal and power
market in the PRC will be sufficient in 2016. In virtue of the
demand, the market price is still stably hovering in a lower level
where little possibility of upsurge or plunge is inferred which is in
favour of production for cement corporates.

Medical and Pharmaceutical Industry

As aforesaid, the cement industry in the PRC is facing a stern
challenge. Meanwhile, along with the growing financial strength and
increasing disposable income of China, the demand for medical
and health services is growing while the medical and
pharmaceutical industry is booming. Invention and innovation in
emerging markets is of faster pace than that in developed markets.
Taking advantage of its enormous population, it is expected that
the PRC will lead the development of the global medical and
health industry. Healthcare consumers expect convenient
healthcare experience as if in banks, retails and transportation in
the future. Companies with new business model are expected to
bring new ideas and skills to the global medical industry, which will
fill the gap between people’s expectation and the medical
infrastructure in reality. Along with the growing economy in the
PRC, faster ageing population, accelerating urbanisation, rapid rise
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of citizen consumption and the policies for the new medical
reform, it is expected that the spending power will increase and
the medical service industry in the PRC will prosper in the 5 to 10
years ahead.

STRATEGIC BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

Cement Business

Regarding cement business, based on the philosophy of
innovation, the Group forges ahead with innovation in terms of
technology, management and industry to augment its technology
foundation and turns its edge to compete in the market. The
Group also continues to put more effort in technology innovation
and revamp to boost productivity while avoiding wastes to turn out
products with better quality. China has stepped into an era where
development is a new normal, we will gear up to transform so as
to embrace and adapt to the new normal.

Medical, Pharmaceutical and Health Industry
Business

In parallel, in light of the window of opportunity of development of
the medical and pharmaceutical industries in the PRC, the Board is
actively exploring medical, pharmaceutical and health industry
business and other investment opportunities, such as hospital
management, healthcare and elderly care services, in order to
enhance its income and profitability and prepare for the Group’s
future development.

The Company has established a wholly-owned subsidiary, 1t 7 %

THREERBERESIEAR AT (Beijing Huakong Kangtai Healthcare
Management Co., Ltd*) (“Huakong Kangtai”), in the PRC and
injected a capital of approximately RMB60 million into Huakong
Kangtai for the purpose of investment in and operation of
healthcare businesses in the future. Huakong Kangtai currently has
eight staff members, including a senior executive who has served
in major pharmaceutical enterprises in the aspects of investment
and asset management and is experienced in mergers and
acquisitions of hospital and healthcare businesses, and a medical
doctor who is a professor of medical school and is experienced in
the management and operation of medical institutions.

As announced by the Company on 28 January 2016, the Group
conditionally agreed to purchase an aggregate of 60% equity
interest in Ziguang Pharmaceutical, which is principally engaged in
the manufacturing and sales of prescription drugs, including
chemical drugs and traditional prescribed Chinese medicines
through its subsidiaries.

Ziguang Pharmaceutical and its subsidiaries were granted with
permits and licenses to manufacture pharmaceutical products in
thirteen dosage forms, namely, tablets, powders for injection, gel,
cream, patches, pills, granules, capsules, syrups, oral solution,
tinctures, mixtures and vinum, all of which are currently being
manufactured by them. The Board is of opinion that the acquisition
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of Ziguang Pharmaceutical is valuable investment opportunity and
will raise the Group’s profile in the medical, pharmaceutical and
health industry, and also create new revenue streams for the
Group and further enhance Shareholders’ value.

As at the date of this report, [E77 &7 A R A7 (Tsinghua Tongfang
Co., Ltd*) (“Tsinghua Tongfang”) holds the equity interest of
Shenzhen Waranty as to 48% through its wholly-owned subsidiary.
Shenzhen Waranty holds the entire equity interest of China Health
Management Investment Limited (“China Health”) which is the
controlling shareholder of the Company.

BEE KR AR QA (Tsinghua Holding Co., Ltd*) (“Tsinghua
Holdings”) holds 25.42% of the shareholding of Tsinghua Tongfang.
Tsinghua Holdings is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Tsinghua
University. Tsinghua University is a renowned university in the PRC
with strong capabilities in scientific research and educational
resources, including the medical and pharmaceutical disciplines. In
particular, Tsinghua University has four hospitals and a medical
school in the PRC. Tsinghua Tongfang’s group is principally
engaged in the businesses of information, security and energy-
saving technology, as well as development of science parks.
Tsinghua Tongfang would take advantage of Tsinghua University’s
strengths and resources in medical and pharmaceutical research,
and implement strategies in terms of the industrial development,
assets integration and investments in medical, healthcare and
pharmaceutical businesses. The Group will benefit from the
synergies created among Tsinghua Tongfang and Tsinghua
University through the development path of interaction between
“enterprise, education and scientific research”.

Looking forward, the Group will continue to explore business and
investment opportunities in the medical, pharmaceutical and health
industry in stages with an aim to build up its influence and
branding in the industry. The focus of the Group will be placed on
the philosophy of “regional medical services, centralised
management and commercialised operation” as its core
development. Combining its existing strengths with the
pharmaceutical and medical services, the Group will develop a full-
fledged synergic model. Overall, the Group aims to develop into a
magnificent medical-and-health-oriented enterprise, which is the
vision of the Group for its future development.

4

Ng Qing Hai
Managing Director

30 March 2016

*  For identification purpose only
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The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance within a sensible framework with an
emphasis on the principles of transparency, accountability and
independence. The board of directors of the Company (“Directors”
and “Board”, respectively) believes that good corporate governance
is essential to the success of the Company and to the
enhancement of shareholders’ value.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE AND
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

In light of the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate
Governance Report (“CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (“Listing Rules”) on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”), the
Board has reviewed the corporate governance practices of the
Company with the adoption of the various enhanced procedures
which are detailed in this report. The Company had applied the
principles of, and complied with, the applicable code provisions of
the CG Code during the year ended 31 December 2015 (“Year”),
except for certain deviations as specified with considered reasons
for such deviations as explained below. After making amendments
to the terms of reference of each of the Remuneration Committee
and the Audit Committee on 17 September 2015, the Company
has complied with all the applicable code provisions of the CG
Code. The Board will review the current practices at least annually,
and make appropriate changes if necessary.

THE BOARD

The Board currently comprises six Directors in total, with three
Executive Directors and three Independent Non-Executive Directors
(“INEDs”). The composition of the Board during the Year and up to
the date of this report is set out as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Huang Yu (Chairman)
Mr. Ng Qing Hai (Managing Director)
Mr. Deng Jinguang

INEDs

Mr. Chan Sze Chung
Mr. Zhang Ruibin
Mr. Zhang Junxi Jack
(Date of appointment: 21 August 2015)
Mr. Li Shujie
(Date of resignation: 21 August 2015)

The brief biographical details of the Directors are set out in the
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” section
in the Directors’ Report on pages 41 to 46.

There are no financial, business, material
relationship among the Directors.

family or other
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Board Process

During the Year, the INEDs provided the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively “Group”) with a wide range of expertise
and experience. Their active participation in the Board and Board
committee meetings brought independent judgement on issues
relating to the Group’s strategy, performance and management
process, taking into account the interests of all shareholders of the
Company (“Shareholders”).

Throughout the Year and up to the date of this report, the Company
had three INEDs representing not less than one-third of the Board.
At least one of the INEDs has the appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise under Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules. The Board has
received from each INED an annual confirmation of his
independence and considers that all the INEDs are independent
under the guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

The Board meets regularly to discuss the overall strategy as well
as the operation and financial performance of the Group, and to
review and approve the Group’s annual and interim results and
other ad hoc matters which need to be dealt with. The attendance
records of each Director at board meetings, board committee
meetings and general meeting for the Year is set out below:

—E-Hf
RREFAE
REZ8% FHMEEE FHZEE HUTEEE 2015 Annual
EZ2 Nomination Remuneration Audit Executive General
Board  Committee Committee Committee ~ Committee Meeting
BOIBRIRY Number of meetings held during 6 1 2 2 9 1
the Year
HEBITERZ R
Number of meetings attended/held "¢
YTES: Executive Directors:
BEAEEER) Mr. Huang Yu (Chairman) 6/6 11 9/9 11
BRBRE(EELAE) Mr. Ng Qing Hai (Managing Director) 6/6 1/1 99 11
HHrEE Mr. Deng Jinguang 5/6 1/9 0/1
BUFHTES: INEDs:
RBRELE Mr. Chan Sze Chung 6/6 1/1 2/2 2/2 1/1
K kE Mr. Zhang Ruibin 6/6 11 2/2 2/2 11
REE L AN Mr. Zhang Junxi Jack Mot 2 1/2 0/0 0/0 0/0 0/0
FRIAR KN Mr. Li Shujie Mot 3/4 0/1 1/2 2/2 01
B 2 Notes:
1. FRNEZFS BRI ES 2 HBFEBFER IR E 1. Attendances of the Directors appointed or resigned during the Year were

REEZAZEPRRBTZERE R REIE
IT

2. REERLERZERBIUFNTES B-F
—EENAZT—HEERK -

3. FHNCLECHEBIENTES BT —
EENAZ+—BREX -

made by reference to the number of such meetings held during their
respective tenures.

2. Mr. Zhang Junxi Jack was appointed as INED with effect from 21 August
2015.

3. Mr. Li Shujie resigned as an INED with effect from 21 August 2015.
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The Board has reserved for its decision or consideration matters
covering mainly the Group’s overall strategy, annual operating
budget, annual and interim results, Directors’ appointment or re-
appointment (based on the recommendations made by the
Nomination Committee), material contracts and transactions,
corporate governance as well as other significant policy and
financial matters. The Board has delegated the day-to-day
responsibility to the executive management under the instruction/
supervision of the Executive Committee which has its specific
written terms of reference. The respective functions of the Board
and management of the Company have been formalised and set
out in writing and are reviewed by the Board from time to time to
ensure that they are consistent with the existing rules and
regulations.

Regular Board meetings each year are scheduled in advance to
facilitate maximum attendance of Directors. At least 14 days’
notice of a regular Board meeting is given to all Directors who are
given an opportunity to include matters for discussion in the
agenda. The company secretary of the Company (“Company
Secretary”) assists the Chairman/Managing Director in preparing
the agenda for meetings and ensures that all applicable laws, rules
and regulations are complied with. The agenda and the
accompanying Board papers are sent to all Directors at least 3
days before the intended date of a regular Board meeting (and so
far as practicable for such other Board meetings). Draft minutes of
each Board meeting are circulated to all Directors for their
comment before being tabled at the following Board meeting for
approval. All minutes are kept by the Company Secretary and are
open for inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable notice by
any Director.

According to the current Board practice, if a substantial
Shareholder or a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to
be considered by the Board, which the Board has determined to
be material, the matter will be dealt with by the Board at a duly
convened Board meeting. The amended and restated
memorandum and articles of association of the Company (“Articles
of Association”) also stipulate that save for the exceptions as
provided therein, a Director shall not vote (nor shall he/she be
counted in the quorum) on any resolution of the Board in respect
of any contract, arrangement or proposal in which such Director or
any of his/her close associates has/have a material interest.

Every Director is entitled to have access to the Board papers and
related materials and to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary. The Board and each Director also have separate and
independent access to the Company’s senior management.
Directors are continuously updated on the major development of
the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements to
ensure compliance and upkeep of good corporate governance
practices. In addition, a written procedure was established in
December 2011 to enable the Directors, in discharge of their
duties, to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at a reasonable cost to be borne by the Company.
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Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

For continuous professional development (“CPD”), in addition to
Directors’ attendance at meetings and review of papers and

NHRBRIN G EFL2H FHBIELT circulars sent by the management of the Company, the Directors
participated in the activities including the following:
SHRBEEERRED
Participation in CPD Activities
HERESSEE
BRAZEI
IR =
BEER
Attending
trainings/
briefings/
seminars/
MEERESR conference
Reading relevant to
Regulatory Directors’
EEHR Name of Directors Updates duties
HITES: Executive Directors:
=R kEER) Mr. Huang Yu (Chairman) v v
BEBEE(EFLLE) Mr. Ng Qing Hai (Managing Director) v 4
Bx k& Mr. Deng Jinguang v v
BYFHTES: INEDs:
REIREAE Mr. Chan Sze Chung v v
of Im M o A Mr. Zhang Ruibin v v
ok B E S AEMED Mr. Zhang Junxi Jack Mot 9 v v
& IO S Mr. Li Shujie Mote2 v
B RE - Notes:
1. EZAFAH - —E—AFN\B=-1+—8 1. Date of appointment: 21 August 2015

2. BERH:  —T—aFN\A=-+—H

EEEHEZ L

2. Date of resignation: 21 August 2015

Board Diversity
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Code provision A.5.6 of the CG Code stipulates that the
nomination committee (or the Board) should have a policy
concerning diversity of board members, and should disclose the
policy or a summary of the policy in the corporate governance
report.

The Company adopted a board diversity policy (“Board Diversity
Policy”) in December 2013. The Nomination Committee has been
charged with the review of the Board Diversity Policy. The Board
Diversity Policy sets out the objectives and principles regarding
board diversity for the purpose of achieving the Company’s
strategic objectives of balanced diversity at the Board as far as
practicable. Board appointments will be based on merit and
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candidates will be considered against measurable objectives,
taking into account the Company’s business and needs.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
criteria, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, knowledge, professional experience and
skills. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and the
contribution that the selected candidates may bring to the Board.

ROLES OF CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code provides that the roles of the
chairman and the chief executive should be separated and
performed by different individuals.

The roles of the Chairman of the Board and the Managing Director
are separate. Mr. Huang Yu, the Chairman of the Board, is
responsible for leadership and effective running of the Board, while
Mr. Ng Qing Hai, the Managing Director, is responsible for overall
management of the Group.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee include the
nomination procedure specifying the process and criteria for the
selection and recommendation of candidates for directorship of the
Company.

Every newly appointed Director will receive an induction package
from the Company Secretary on the first occasion of his/her
appointment. This induction package is a comprehensive, formal
and tailored induction on the responsibilities and on-going
obligations to be observed by a director pursuant to the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance (“Ordinance”), Listing Rules and Hong
Kong Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”). In addition, this
induction package includes materials briefly describing the
operations and business of the Company, the latest published
financial reports of the Company and the documentation for the
corporate governance practices adopted by the Board. Directors
are continuously updated on any major developments of the Listing
Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure
compliance and upkeep of good corporate governance practices.

All INEDs were appointed for a specific term, but subject to the
relevant provisions of the Articles of Association or any other
applicable laws whereby the Directors shall vacate or retire from
their office but are eligible for re-election. Details of the term of
appointment of the INEDs are set out in the section headed
“Terms of Office for the Independent Non-executive Directors”
contained in the Directors’ Report on page 46.

According to the Articles of Association, at each annual general
meeting of the Company (“AGM”), one-third of the Directors for the
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time being (or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three,
the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from
office by rotation. Further, any Director appointed by the Board to
fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only until the first general
meeting of the Company after his/her appointment whilst for those
appointed as an addition to the Board shall hold office until the
next AGM and in both cases, those Directors shall then be eligible
for re-election at the relevant meeting. Every Director shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for performing corporate governance
duties and has adopted the written terms of reference on its
corporate governance functions in April 2012.

The duties of the Board in respect of the corporate governance
functions include:

(i) developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance;

(i) reviewing and monitoring the training and CPD of Directors
and senior management;

(i) reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

(iv)  developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees and Directors;
and

(v)  reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the Year, the Board has performed the corporate
governance duties in accordance with its terms of reference.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established various committees, including a
Nomination Committee, a Remuneration Committee, an Audit
Committee and an Executive Committee, each of which has its
specific written terms of reference. Copies of minutes of all
meetings and resolutions of the committees, which are kept by the
Company Secretary, are circulated to all Board members and the
committees are required to report back to the Board on their
decision and recommendations where appropriate. The procedures
and arrangements for a Board meeting, as mentioned in the
section headed “The Board” of this report, have been adopted for
the committee meetings so far as practicable.
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee is chaired by the Chairman of the
Board and comprises a majority of INEDs. Currently, the
Nomination Committee consists of five members, including Mr.
Huang Yu (Chairman of the Nomination Committee), and Mr. Ng
Qing Hai, both being Executive Directors, and Mr. Chan Sze
Chung, Mr. Zhang Ruibin and Mr. Zhang Junxi Jack, all being the
INEDs. The Nomination Committee is provided with sufficient
resources to discharge its duties and it can seek independent
professional advice according to the Company’s policy if
considered necessary. The major roles and functions of the
Nomination Committee are included in its terms of reference,
which are available on the respective websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

The Nomination Committee will meet as and when necessary in
accordance with its terms of reference and may also deal with
matters by way of circulation. A Nomination Committee meeting
was held in 2015 and the attendance of each member is set out in
the section headed “The Board” of this report. In addition to the
above Nomination Committee meeting, the Nomination Committee
also dealt with matters by way of circulation during 2015. During
the Year, the major work performed by the Nomination Committee
was as follow:

(i) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the
proposed resolutions for re-election of the Directors at 2015
AGM;

(i) reviewed the structure, size, composition and diversity of the
Board;

(i)  reviewed the independence of INEDs; and

(iv)  recommended the proposed appointment of INED to the
Board for approval and relevant terms of appointment.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently consists of three members,
including Mr. Zhang Ruibin (Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee), Mr. Chan Sze Chung and Mr. Zhang Junxi Jack, all
being the INEDs. The Remuneration Committee is provided with
sufficient resources to discharge its duties and it can seek
independent professional advice according to the Company’s policy
if considered necessary. The major roles and functions of the
Remuneration Committee are included in its terms of reference,
which are available on the respective websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.

During the Year, the Board reviewed and amended the terms of
reference of the Remuneration Committee in order to attain a
higher standard of corporate governance. Before such
amendments, the terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee were in compliance with code provision B.1.2 of the CG
Code, but with a deviation from code provision that the
Remuneration Committee shall make recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages of the Executive Directors
only and not senior management (as opposed to executive
directors and senior management under the code provision). The
reasons for the above derivation are summarised as below:

(i) the Board believed that the Remuneration Committee was not
in a proper position to evaluate the performance of senior
management and that this evaluation process was more
effectively carried out by the Executive Directors;

(i) the Executive Directors must be in a position to supervise and
direct senior management and thus must be able to monitor
their compensation; and

(i)  there was no reason for the Executive Directors to pay senior
management more than industry standards and thus
Shareholders will benefit by reducing costs in the fixing of
such compensation packages.

After the adoption of the amended terms of reference on 17
September 2015, the Company regards that it has now complied
with code provision B.1.2. of the CG Code.

The Remuneration Committee shall meet at least once a year in
accordance with its terms of reference. Two Remuneration
Committee meetings were held in 2015 and the attendance of each
member is set out in the section headed “The Board” of this
report. In addition to the above Remuneration Committee
meetings, the Remuneration Committee also dealt with matters by
way of circulation during 2015. During the Year, the Remuneration
Committee performed the works as summarised below:

(i) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the
existing policy and structure for the remuneration of
Directors;
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(i)  reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the
bonus for the year ended 31 December 2014 and, the
increment in the Director’s fee for the Year of the Executive
Directors; and

(i) reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the letter
of appointment of new INED.

Each Director will be entitled to a Director’s fee which is to be
proposed for the Shareholders’ approval at the AGM each year.
Further remuneration payable to the Directors (including any
service fees of the INEDs) for their additional responsibilities and
services will depend on their respective contractual terms under
their employment contracts or service contracts as approved by
the Board on the recommendation of the Remuneration
Committee. Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in
note 11 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report while detailed changes in the emoluments of certain
Directors during the period for the six months ended 30 June
2015 (the “2015 Interim Period”) and up to the date of the interim
report of the Company for the 2015 Interim Period (“Interim
Report”), being 14 August 2015 were also disclosed in the Interim
Report. Details of the remuneration policy of the Group are also set
out in the “Employees” section contained in the Management
Discussion and Analysis on page 14.

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the annual
remuneration of the members of the senior management (other
than the Directors) whose particulars are contained in the section
headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management”
in the Directors’ report for the Year by band is set out in note 11
to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently consists of three INEDs. To retain
independence and objectivity, it is chaired by an INED with
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise. The current members of the Audit
Committee are Mr. Chan Sze Chung (Chairman of the Audit
Committee), Mr. Zhang Ruibin and Mr. Zhang Junxi Jack, all being
INEDs. The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources
to discharge its duties and it can seek independent professional
advice according to the Company’s policy if considered necessary.
The major roles and functions of the Audit Committee are included
in its terms of reference, which are available on the respective
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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During the Year, the Board reviewed and amended the terms of
reference of the Audit Committee in order to attain a higher
standard of corporate governance. Before such amendments, the
terms of reference of the Audit Committee were in compliance with
code provision C.3.3 of the CG Code, but with deviations from
code provision of the audit committee’s responsibility to:

(i)

(ii

(ii)

implement policy on the engagement of the external auditors
to supply non-audit services;

ensure that the management has performed its duty to have
an effective internal control system; and

ensure co-ordination between the internal and external
auditors, and ensure that the internal audit function is
adequately resourced and has appropriate standing within the
listed company.

The reasons for the above derivations are summarised as below:

(1)

the Board considered that the Audit Committee should
recommend (as opposed to implement) the policy on the
engagement of the external auditors to supply non-audit
services for the following reasons:

(@ it was proper and appropriate for the Board and its
committees to develop policy and make appropriate
recommendations;

(o) the proper and appropriate mechanism for
implementation of such policy and recommendations
was through the Executive Directors and management;
and

(c) INEDs were not in an effective position to implement
policy and follow up the same on a day-to-day basis;

the Board considered that the Audit Committee only
possessed the effective ability to scrutinise (as opposed to
ensure) whether management has performed its duty to have
an effective internal control system. The Audit Committee
was not equipped to ensure that the same is in place as this
would involve day-to-day supervision and the employment of
permanent experts. The Audit Committee was not in a
position either to ensure co-ordination between the internal
and external auditors but it could promote the same.
Similarly, the Audit Committee was not in a position to
ensure that the internal audit function was adequately
resourced but it could check whether it was adequately
resourced.

After the adoption of the amended terms of reference on 17
September 2015, the Company regards that it has now complied
with code provision C.3.3 of the CG Code. The terms of reference
were also amended by the Board on 29 December 2015 pursuant
to the amendments to the Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules with
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effect from 1 January 2016. The functions of the Audit Committee
will be reviewed regularly by the Board and amended from time to
time, as and when appropriate, in order to ensure compliance with
the applicable code provisions of the CG Code (as amended from
time to time).

The Audit Committee meets at least twice a year in accordance
with its terms of reference. Two Audit Committee meetings were
held during the Year and the attendance of each member is set
out in the section headed “The Board” of this report. In addition to
the above Audit Committee meetings, the Audit Committee also
dealt with matters by way of circulation during the Year.

During the Year and up to the date of this report, the Audit
Committee performed the works as summarised below:

(i) reviewed and approved the audit scope and fees proposed
by the external auditor in respect of the final audit for the
Year (“2015 Final Audit”) of the Group;

(i)  reviewed the independent review report/audit completion
report from the external auditor and the management’s
response in relation to the final audit for the year ended 31
December 2014, the interim results review for the 2015
Interim Period and 2015 Final Audit;

(i)  reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the
financial reports for the year ended 31 December 2014, for
the 2015 Interim Period and for the Year together with the
relevant management representation letters and
announcements;

(iv) reviewed the internal audit review reports/summaries (“IA
Reports”) prepared by the Internal Audit Department (“IAD”),
and instructed that the issues raised would be addressed
and managed by the management;

(v)  reviewed and recommended for the Board’s approval the
updated reports on substantiation of the resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s
accounting and financial reporting function, and their training
programmes and budget; and

(vi)  reviewed and recommended for the Board’s annual review the
Connected Transaction Policies, the Related Party
Transaction Policies and Procedures, the Whistle Blower
Policy, the Policy on the Disclosure of Inside Information and
the Code of Conduct and Compliance Manual.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee currently consists of three Executive
Directors, being Mr. Huang Yu (Chairman of the Executive
Committee), Mr. Ng Qing Hai and Mr. Deng Jinguang. The
Executive Committee is vested with all the general powers of
management and control of the activities of the Group as are
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vested in the Board, save for those matters which are reserved for
the Board’s decision and approval pursuant to the written terms of
reference of the Executive Committee.

The Executive Committee meets as and when necessary to
discuss the operating affairs of the Group and may also deal with
matters by way of circulation. The Executive Committee is mainly
responsible for undertaking and supervising the day-to-day
management and is empowered to:

(i) formulate and implement policies for the business activities,
internal control and administration of the Group; and

(if) plan and decide on strategies to be adopted for the business
activities of the Group within the overall strategy of the
Group as determined by the Board.

CODES FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the Directors. All Directors have
confirmed, following a specific enquiry made by the Company that
they had complied with the required standard as set out in the
Model Code during the Year.

Relevant Employees who, because of their office in the Company,
are likely to be in possession of inside information, have been
requested to comply with the provisions of the Model Code.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing, with
the support from the Finance Department, the consolidated
financial statements of the Group. In preparing the consolidated
financial statements for the Year, the accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong have been adopted and the
requirements of the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(which also include Hong Kong Accounting Standards and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the
Ordinance have been complied with. The Directors believe that they
have selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently, and made judgements and estimates that are prudent
and reasonable and ensure the consolidated financial statements
are prepared on a going concern basis.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company’s external auditor,
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, are set out in the Independent Auditor’s
Report on pages 55 and 56.
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Internal Control

The Board has the responsibility to review annually the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control system and ensure that
the controls are sound and effective to safeguard the
Shareholders’ investments and the Group’s assets at all times.
During the Year, the Board, through the Audit Committee and IAD,
had reviewed the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial
reporting function, and their training programmes and budget.

The Group’s internal control system is designed to provide
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss; to manage rather than completely eliminate
the risk of system failure; and to assist in the achievement of the
Group’s agreed objectives and goals. It has a key role in the
management of risks that are significant to the fulfilment of
business objectives. In addition to safeguarding the Group’s assets,
it should provide a basis for the maintenance of proper accounting
records and assist in the compliance with relevant laws and
regulations.

The Board, through the Audit Committee and with the assistance
of the IAD, conducted internal control reviews of the cement
business operations for the Year.

Internal Audit

The IAD reports to the Audit Committee. The IAD plays an
important role in providing assurance to the Board that a sound
internal control system is maintained and operated by the
management. This is part of the Board’s plan to enhance the
standards of the Group’s overall corporate governance and comply
with code provision C.2 of the CG Code.

The IA Reports were prepared by the IAD and issued to the Audit
Committee and the Board for review. A discussion of the policies
and procedures on the management of each of the major types of
risk which the Group is facing is included in note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

The IAD performed internal control assessments of cement
business operations for the Year. The |A Reports were distributed
to the Audit Committee and the Board for their review. The IAD
monitored that the issues raised in the IA Reports would be
addressed and managed promptly by the management.
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External Auditor’s Remuneration

The remuneration paid/payable to the Group’s external auditor in
respect of audit services and non-audit services for the Year is set
out as follows:

FET

AEAEEREZRE Services rendered for the Group HK$’000

% ER % Audit services 850
HFZERBE (REEMHPEHES - Non-audit services (including review of interim results,

LB E S TR R HAM) working capital forecast and others) 210

Et Total 1,060
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Si Tou Man Wai, is the Company Secretary and the chief
financial officer of the Company. Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules
stipulates that an issuer’s company secretary is required to take no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training in each financial
year. Ms. Si Tou has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training during the Year.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognises the importance of good communication with
Shareholders. Information in relation to the Group is disseminated
to Shareholders in a timely manner through a number of formal
channels which include interim and annual reports, announcements
and circulars. Such published documents together with the latest
corporate information and news are also made available on the
website of the Company.

In addition to publication of information, the AGM of the Company
provides an important opportunity for constructive communication
between the Board and the Shareholders. The 2015 AGM was held
on 3 June 2015. The Chairman of the Board took the chair of the
2015 AGM to ensure shareholders’ views are communicated to the
Board. The chairman of each of the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee were also
present thereat to answer any question to ensure effective
communication with the Shareholders. The attendance record of
the Directors at the general meeting is set out in the section
headed “The Board” of this report.

The chairman of any independent Board committee formed as
necessary or pursuant to the Listing Rules (or if no such chairman
is appointed, at least a member of the independent Board
committee) should also be available to answer questions at any
general meeting of the Shareholders to approve a connected
transaction or any other transaction that is subject to independent
Shareholders’ approval.
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Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meeting for each
substantial issue, including the re-election of Directors.

The notice to Shareholders is sent in the case of AGM at least 20
clear business days before the meeting and at least 10 clear
business days in case of all other general meetings. An
explanation of the detailed procedures of conducting a poll is
provided to the Shareholders at the commencement of the
meeting. The Chairman answers questions from Shareholders
regarding voting by way of a poll. The poll results are published in
the manner prescribed under the requirements of the Listing Rules.

Shareholder(s) holding not less than one-tenth of the paid-up
capital of the Company can request the convening of an
extraordinary general meeting according to Article 64 of the
Articles of Association by written requisition, with stated business
proposed to be transacted, which must be validly served at the
head office and principal place of business of the Company
registered in Hong Kong (‘Head Office”) or at Tricor Secretaries
Limited, the branch share registrar of the Company (“Registration
Office”). Besides, Shareholders may make a proposal at a
Shareholders’ meeting by submitting it in written form to the Board
at the Head Office or at the Registration Office in the form of a
proposed resolution, which shall clearly and concisely set out the
proposal for discussion and be relevant to the Company’s business
scope.

The Board has established a shareholders’ communication policy.
A Shareholder may serve an enquiry to the Board at the Head
Office for the attention of the Board in written form, which shall
state the nature of the enquiry and the reason for making the
enquiry. In addition, Shareholders can contact the Registration
Office for any questions about their shareholdings.

As regards proposing a person for election as a director, the

procedures are available on the website of the Company at
http://www.alliedcement.com.hk.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS INSURANCE

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect
of potential legal actions against its directors and officers.
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BEEXH CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

B ETRAISE13.001& - AAFIEBEHE Pursuant to Rule 13.90 of the Listing Rules, the Company has
REREHNBIAMEARRSEH - B posted its Articles of Association on the respective websites of the
RFEEN BEEARARF 2 BEXHELB Stock Exchange and the Company. During the Year, no

il e amendments were made to the constitutional documents of the
Company.

REESFE On behalf of the Board

*E Huang Yu

=a Chairman

ZE-RF=H=1H 30 March 2016
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The board of directors of the Company (“Board”) presents their
annual report and the audited consolidated financial statements of
the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2015 (“Year”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
principal activities and details of its subsidiaries as at 31
December 2015 are set out in note 43 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.

The Group’s revenue for the Year was derived mainly from
activities carried out in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”). An
analysis of the Group’s revenue for the Year set out in note 7 to
the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

SUBDIVISION OF SHARES AND CHANGE IN
BOARD LOT SIZE

On 19 December 2014, the Company announced that each of the
then issued and unissued shares in the share capital of the
Company of par value of HK$0.01 each be subdivided into five
shares of par value of HK$0.002 each (“Share Subdivision”) and
the board lot size for trading on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (“Stock Exchange”) be changed from 3,000 shares of the
Company to 6,000 shares of the Company.

The Share Subdivision took effect after the approval of the
Shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company
held on 19 January 2015.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM OPEN OFFER

On 7 November 2014, the Company raised approximately
HK$495.0 million before expenses by way of open offer (“Open
Offer”) of 330,000,000 new ordinary shares of the Company (“Offer
Shares”) at a subscription price of HK$1.5 per Offer Share on the
basis of one Offer Share for every two ordinary shares of the
Company held by the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”). The Open Offer was completed on 22 December
2014. It is intended that the entire amount of the net proceeds
amounting to approximately HK$487.3 million from the Open Offer
after deducting the relevant expenses would be applied by the
Group for the funding of the development of and/or investment in
pharmaceutical and health industry business. The Group currently
does not have any intention to change its plan for the use of
proceeds as stated in the Prospectus.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group and appropriations of the Company are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 57 of this annual report and in the
accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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The Board has resolved not to recommend for the payment of final
dividend for the Year (2014: Nil).

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of the Company’s reserves during the Year are set out in
note 42 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the Year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment
totalling approximately HK$14.6 million.

Details of these and other movements in property, plant and
equipment of the Group during the Year are set out in note 16 to
the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2015 is set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s
Statements” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” from
pages 5 to 6 and pages 7 to 19 of this annual report and the
paragraphs below. The discussion and analysis in the “Chairman’s
Statements” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” form part
of this Directors’ Report.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties
Economic Conditions in the PRC

Cement is the basic material for building works, and is therefore
dependent on the demand for construction activities and the
economic conditions. The operations of the Group are mainly
conducted in the PRC, the economic conditions in the PRC have a
significant impact on the Group’s operating results and financial
conditions. There is no assurance that China’s economy and the
demand for cement will remain at the same level. The Group
cannot control market conditions but believes it has effective
measures in place to respond to changes.

Competition in Cement industry in China

The cement industry is highly competitive in China. The Group
competes with its competitors for customers, raw materials, energy
resources, distribution network and skilled labour force. The
Group’s current and potential competitors may have better
competitive advantages over brand recognition in local markets,
economy of scale, pricing and/or financial, technical or marketing
resources. Failure to compete successfully with the existing and/or
potential competitors may adversely affect the Group’s business,
financial condition and results of operations. To mitigate the risk of
competition, the Group continues to focus on the basis of pricing
of our products, our service, variety of product offerings, access to
resources, sales and marketing, network, production efficiency and
brand image.
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Product Price

The Group’s average selling price of cement products fluctuates
along with the market demand and supply and concrete in the
regions the Group operate. The financial operating results of the
Group may experience significant fluctuations along with the
fluctuations of the selling price of the Group’s products. The Group
continues to improve the efficiency and reduce consumption in its
operations to mitigate the negative impact that declining cement
prices brought on the Group’s economic performance. Ongoing
technical innovation has implemented to improve performance and
reduce manufacturing cost.

Prices and Supply of Coal and Electricity

The Group uses a substantial amount of coal and electricity in its
production. As a result, increase in coal and electricity prices will
in turn increase the costs of sales of the Group and any shortage
or interruption in the supply of coal or electricity could disrupt the
Group’s operations. To minimise the risk on prices and supply of
coal and electricity, the Group sustainably improve efficiency and
reduce consumption through technical innovation and strengthened
production management. Shandong Allied Wangchao Cement
Limited (“Allied Wangchao) has established waste heat power
generation units to make full use of kiln waste heat and self-solving
the 30% power consumption need for production.

Regulatory Environments in the PRC

The operations of the Group are subject to various national and
regional laws and regulations. Failure to comply with these laws
and regulations may adversely affect the profitability and results of
the Group. It is the Group’s policy to comply with all legal
requirements imposed on its operations. The risk is mitigated
through regular monitoring and review of changes in the regulatory
framework to ensure compliance with all the applicable statutes
and regulations.

Financial Risk

The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks, a discussion of
the policies and procedures on the management of each of the
major types of financial risks which the Group is facing is included
in note 6 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.

Compliance with Relevant Laws and Regulations

The Group has the greatest respect for compliance with the laws
and regulations which govern the Group’s businesses and
operations. The Group has complied with all the following relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the Group
throughout the 2015.
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In relation to environmental protection, the Group’s manufacturing
operations in the PRC comply with the requirements of laws such
as “Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of
China” (A2 A R MBI IR B R7E %), “Law on the Prevention and
Control of Water Pollution of the People’s Republic of China” (%
AR FEFMBEAFEFEK), “Law on Prevention and Control of Air
Pollution of the People’s Republic of China” (F1#E A R EME A &
SEABFA%), “Law on Prevention and Control of Environmental
Pollution Caused by Solid Waste of the People’s Republic of
China” (FP#E AR B E G EY 5 2 RBAE) and “Law on
Prevention and Control of Environmental Noise Pollution of the
People’s Republic of China” (R A R HXFIBIIR % R & )52 [Fa%).

In relation to the utilization of resources, the Group’s manufacturing
operations in the PRC are required to complying with the
“Technical Condition of Coal for Cement Rotary Kiln” (7K [o] 8 7=
FB B BT 1% 4F) (National Standard of the PRC GB/T7563-2000)
relating to using coal for cement rotary kiln and the “Provisions on
the Administration of Electric Power Business Licenses” (& 17 % 7%
FFA] 7 B 12 MR F) relating to waste heating power generating.

Aimed to protect the interests of its employee, the Group is also
committed to complying with laws and regulations enforced in the
PRC and Hong Kong relating to labour, social insurance and
production safety.

Relationships with Employees, Customers and
Suppliers

The Group strongly believes that our staff is an invaluable asset to
the Group and is of significance to its business. Therefore, the
Group recognises the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with employees. The Group maintains a policy of
paying competitive remuneration packages and employees are also
rewarded on performance related basis including salary and bonus.
The Group attaches emphasis to the development of its employees
by providing plentiful training and a number of opportunities with its
employees for development and growth in the Group. The Group
also devoted itself to the provision of a safe working environment
for its employees by formulating safety guidelines with which its
employees shall strictly comply. Safety officers of the Group will
supervise the safety level of each aspect of its operations and
provide the Group’s staff members and workers with information
and training courses about operation of equipment in office,
production facilities, mining tools and inspection equipment on a
regular basis. The Group has a number of channels in place for its
employees to express grievances and complaints which will be
well-handled according to the predetermined procedures to ensure
equality to all employees when related matters are handled.

The Group has established strong relationships with its customers.
It will maintain existing relationships with its customers and expand
its customer base to enhance its market presence. The cement
products produced by the Group are put under a series of
rigorous physical and chemical analysis and controls during
production. To ensure the quality of cement products produced by
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third parties sold in the Group’s cement trading business, each of
the suppliers is required to provide a quality assurance report
regarding their cement products supplied to the Group. The Group
has been providing efficient and premium after-sale service for its
customers where our staff of the Group will pay visit to our
customers and listen to their opinions to our products and services
on a regular basis. The Group also commit to prompt quick
response at construction site of our customers if our customers
come across with the problems for our products. The Group will
also render value-added services such as logistics to our
customers on demand.

The Group dedicates to fostering strong and long-term cooperation
relationship with its suppliers to ensure stable, reasonably priced
and quality supply of raw materials and products for its operation.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movement in the share capital of the Company during
the Year are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Particulars of the share option scheme of the Company are set out
in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the amended
and restated articles of association of the Company (“Articles of
Association”) or the laws of the Cayman lIslands which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to
existing Shareholders.

BORROWINGS AND INTEREST CAPITALISED

Bank and other borrowings of the Group which are repayable
within one year are classified as current liabilities. Repayment
analysis of bank and other borrowings of the Group is set out in
note 30 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report. The Group had not capitalized any interest during the Year.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results as well as the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 144 of this
annual report.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to
the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
Shares (the “Shares”).
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company (“Directors”) during the Year and up
to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Huang Yu (Chairman)
Mr. Ng Qing Hai (Managing Director)
Mr. Deng Jinguang

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Sze Chung
Mr. Zhang Ruibin
Mr. Zhang Junxi Jack
(Date of appointment: 21 August 2015)
Mr. Li Shujie
(Date of resignation: 21 August 2015)

Pursuant to Article 108 of the Articles of Association, Mr. Huang Yu
and Mr. Deng Jinguang shall retire from office by rotation and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting to be held on 3 June 2016 (2016 AGM”).
Pursuant to Article 112 of the Articles of Association, Mr. Zhang
Junxi Jack shall hold office until the first general meeting of the
Company after his appointment and subject to re-election at such
meeting. Since Mr. Zhang Junxi Jack was not offered for re-
election at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held
on 15 April 2016, he shall retire at the 2016 AGM and, being
eligible, offer himself for re-election at the 2016 AGM.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Huang Yu, aged 47, was appointed as an Executive Director and
Chairman of the Board on 15 March 2014 and 24 July 2014
respectively. Mr. Huang was also appointed as a chairman of each
of the executive committee, nomination committee and share
dealing committee of the Company and a member of the credit
and risks management committee of the Company. He is also a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Huang
obtained a master degree in science from the University of
Greenwich. He is the chairman of the board of directors of
Shenzhen Huakong Seg Co., Ltd. (stock code: 68), the issued
shares of which are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, the
senior vice president of Tsinghua Holdings Co., Ltd., an executive
director of Shenzhen Aorongxin Investment Development Co., Ltd
(“Shenzhen Aorongxin”), the chairman of supervisory committee of
Penghua Fund Management Co., Ltd and the vice chairman of
Tongfang Co., Ltd. (stock code: 600100), the issued shares of
which are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange.
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Ng Qing Hai, aged 59, was appointed as a Director in March 2011
and was re-designated as an Executive Director in December
2011. Mr. Ng was also appointed as the Managing Director and a
member of each of the executive committee, nomination
committee, credit and risks management committee and share
dealing committee of the Company. Mr. Ng is a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Ng completed a three-year
course in finance and accounting in building materials industry in
the faculty of enterprises management at Shanghai Institute of
Building Materials Industry in 1983. He is a non-practising member
of The Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Ng
was the 6" vice chairman of Shanghai Cement Industrial
Association of the PRC, and was a fellow member of the Asian
Knowledge Management Association from November 2005 to
November 2006. He was appointed as a member of 11"
Shandong Provincial Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference in January 2013. Mr. Ng was the chief
executive officer (from 15 May 2001 to 20 April 2010), the
president (from 15 May 2001 to 24 June 2014) and an executive
director (from 15 May 2001 to 24 June 2014) of ChinaVision Media
Group Limited (now known as Alibaba Pictures Group Limited)
(stock code: 1060), the issued shares of which are listed on the
Stock Exchange. Mr. Ng was a non-executive director of Tian An
China Investments Company Limited (stock code: 28), the issued
shares of which are listed on the Stock Exchange, from 18
January 2012 to 18 January 2013. Mr. Ng was appointed as a
director (on 27 June 2014) and the president (on 21 December
2015) of Grand Ocean Retail Group Limited (security code: 5907),
the issued shares of which are listed on the Taiwan Stock
Exchange. Mr. Ng was a non-executive director of China Shanshui
Cement Group Limited (stock code: 0691), the issued shares of
which are listed on the Stock Exchange from 1 December 2015 to
2 February 2016. Mr. Ng is a younger brother of Mr. Huang Wuhu,
a member of the senior management of the Group.

Deng Jinguang, aged 45, was appointed as an Executive Director
and a member of the executive committee and share dealing
committee of the Company in March 2014. Mr. Deng holds a
bachelor degree and a master degree from the Beijing Institute of
Technology and a doctoral degree in applied chemistry from the
Tsinghua University. Mr. Deng served as the senior vice president
of Shenzhen Waranty Assets Management Co., Ltd (“Shenzhen
Waranty”), the chief consultant of Beijing Ning Gang Sheng Teng
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd., the general manager of Shandong
Dongeejiao Health Management Co., Ltd. and Beijing Jinxiang
Pharmacy Health Management Co., Ltd., and the assistant to
general manager of Beijing Jinxiang Fosun Pharmaceutical Co.,
Ltd.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Chan Sze Chung, aged 46, was appointed as an Independent
Non-Executive Director of the Company (“INED”) on 20 December
2011. He entered into a new appointment letter with the Company
on 17 January 2016 upon the expiry of previous terms with a term
from 18 January 2016 until 17 January 2018. He is the chairman of
the audit committee and a member of each of the remuneration
committee, nomination committee and credit and risks
management committee of the Company. He graduated from the
University of Wales with a bachelor of arts degree in accounting
and finance in July 1991 and obtained a master of arts degree in
accounting and finance at the University of Lancaster in December
1992. Mr. Chan is a certified public accountant of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a member of the
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Besides, he is
also recognised as a chartered financial analyst by the CFA
Institute of the United States of America. Prior to joining the
Company, he acted as the chief financial officer (from December
2009 to August 2010) of Coolpoint Energy Limited (now known as
Viva China Holdings Limited) (stock code: 8032), the issued shares
of which are listed on the Stock Exchange, as the acting chief
financial officer (from September 2008 to March 2009) of Nam Tai
Electronic & Electrical Products Limited, the issued shares of which
were previously listed on the Stock Exchange, and as the vice
chief financial officer (from March 2009 to November 2009) of
Nam Tai Electronics, Inc. (now known as Nam Tai Property Inc.)
(NYSE: NTP), the issued shares of which are listed on the New
York Stock Exchange. During the period from January 1993 to
August 1997, Mr. Chan was employed by Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu and served as a senior accountant at the time of his
resignation.

Zhang Ruibin, aged 43, was appointed as an INED on 24 July
2014. Mr. Zhang was also appointed as the chairman of the
remuneration committee and a member of each of the audit
committee, nomination committee and credit and risks
management committee of the Company. Mr. Zhang holds a
doctoral degree in statistics from the Xiamen University. He was a
postdoctoral research fellow at the Renmin University of China and
R A RIBITE R FT. He was qualified as a senior economist
by EREAZEE. He was qualified as a certified treasury
professional of The Association for Financial Professionals. He has
been awarded the research project second prize by The Securities
Association of China and the key research project third prize by
the People’s Bank of China. Mr. Zhang was an external director of
Moutai Group Company Limited. Mr. Zhang has been (i) an
independent director of Guizhou Panjiang Refined Coal Co., Ltd.
(stock code: 600395), the issued shares of which are listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange, since 18 May 2013; (ii) an independent
director of China Zhenhua (Group) Science & Technology Co. Ltd.
(Stock Code: 000733), the issued shares of which are listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange, since 25 July 2014; (i) an independent
director of Guizhou Qianyuan Power Co., Ltd. (stock code: 2039),
the issued shares of which are listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange, since 12 September 2014; and (iv) a 75 IEFE of China
Financial Engineering Annual Conference.
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Zhang Junxi Jack, aged 52, was appointed as an INED on 21
August 2015. Mr. Zhang was also appointed as the chairman of
the credit and risks management committee and a member of
each of the audit committee, remuneration committee and
nomination committee of the Company. Mr. Zhang graduated from
the Nankai University with a bachelor degree in Physics in July
1983. He obtained a master of business administration degree
established jointly by the Ministry of Education of the People’s
Republic of China (formerly known as the State Education
Commission of the People’s Republic of China), Nankai University
and Canadian International Development Agency in July 1986. Mr.
Zhang also obtained a doctoral degree in the Department of
Economics at the University of Pittsburgh in the United States in
August 1992. Mr. Zhang has over 20 years of experience in the
field of economics, financial and business management, and mainly
engaged in teaching and research work in the aspect of Monetary
Economics and Finance. Mr. Zhang has been an independent
director of China Bohai Bank Co., Ltd. since February 2013, the
vice principal of the Tianjin University of Finance and Economics
since December 2011 and a part-time professor of China Center
for Economic Research in Peking University since September
2000. From April 2007 to March 2010, he was an investment
strategy and development analyst of Binhai Investment Company
Limited (stock code: 2886), the shares of which are listed on the
Stock Exchange. From August 1992 to August 1995, Mr. Zhang
taught in the Department of Economics of The Chinese University
of Hong Kong, and he was engaged in teaching and researching at
the University of Dundee in the United Kingdom from August 1995
to July 1997. Mr. Zhang taught in the National University of
Singapore from July 1997 to August 1998. From September 1998
to August 2012, he has been a doctoral tutor in the School of
Economics and Finance at The University of Hong Kong. Mr. Zhang
is an internationally well-known financial economist, he has been
the dean of the China Academy of Finance and Development at
the Central University of Finance and Economics from September
2006 to August 2009 and the dean of the Institute of Finance and
Development at the Nankai University from September 2009 to
April 2012.

Senior Management

Huang Wuhu, aged 683, joined the Group in June 2001, is a director
and the general manager of Shandong Shanghai Allied Cement Co.,
Ltd. (“Shandong SAC”) and the chairman of Allied Wangchao, both
Shandong SAC and Allied Wangchao are subsidiaries of the
Company. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Huang worked for various
unions in Nan’an City of Fujian province, the PRC, now known as
Fujian Nan’an Rural Cooperative Bank, for more than twenty years. He
was a registered planner in the PRC and was qualified as a finance
economist. He was qualified as an international senior occupation
manager by the China Manager Society. Mr. Huang was appointed as
a member of the 7" to 9" Zaozhuang Committee of the China
People’s Political Consultative Conference. He is an elder brother of
Mr. Ng Qing Hai, an Executive Director of the Company.
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Li Chao, aged 53, joined the Group in February 2002. He is
currently the financial controller and a director of Shanghai Allied
Cement Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai SAC”) and also a director of Allied
Wangchao. Mr. Li completed a three-year course in finance and
accounting in building materials industry in the faculty of
enterprises management at the Shanghai Institute of Building
Materials Industry in 1983. In 2001, he completed a three-year
part-time post-graduate course in economic management at Party
School of Chinese Communist Party of Hubei province, the PRC.
Mr. Li was qualified as a senior accountant by the Professional
Title Reform Office of Hubei province in 1996.

Yu Zhong, aged 53, was appointed a Director in March 2011 and
redesignated as an Executive Director from December 2011 to 15
March 2014. He joined Shanghai SAC, a subsidiary of the
Company, in December 1993 and is currently a director and the
vice general manager of Shanghai SAC, and has been a director of
Allied Wangchao, since December 2003. He served as the deputy
general manager of Shandong SAC, for the period from June 2001
to July 2004. Mr. Yu completed a two-and-a-half year course in
cement craftsmanship at the Shanghai School of Building Materials
in 1982 and in 1988, he graduated from the Shanghai Light
Industry Authority Workers College in industrial enterprise
management. In 1993, Shanghai Building Material Authority
certified that Mr. Yu was qualified as an economist.

Zhang Shoutian, aged 64, joined the Group in June 2005. He
has been the financial controller of Shandong SAC and Allied
Wangchao since December 2006. Mr. Zhang completed a two-year
course in finance and accounting for infrastructure from the Li Xin
Accounting Institute in 1991 and a two-and-a-half-year part-time
course in economic management at the Party School of Chinese
Communist Party of Shandong province in 1996. Prior to joining
the Group, he served as a finance officer at the Tengzhou Water
Resources Bureau for more than ten years, and was the deputy
head of finance department, the head of audit division and a
supervisor of China United Cement Lunan Co., Ltd. for about five
years respectively.

Si Tou Man Wai, aged 38, was appointed as the chief financial
officer and the company secretary of the Company on 7
November 2014. Ms. Si Tou holds a master of commerce degree
in funds management and a bachelor of commerce degree in
accounting and finance from the University of New South Wales.
Ms. Si Tou has more than 15 years of experience in audit and
financial advisory services with companies that are engaged in the
provision of advisory services including valuation, mergers and
acquisitions, and reorganisation. Prior to joining the Company, she
worked at Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu in Hong Kong and Macau and
two accountancy firms in Australia. Ms. Si Tou is a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a member
of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia. She was also
appointed as an independent non-executive director of Pak Wing
Group (Holdings) Limited (stock code: 8316), the issued shares of
which are listed on the Stock Exchange on 29 June 2015.
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Chen Yi, aged 51, joined the Group in August 2015. He served as
the president of Beijing Huakong Kangtai Healthcare Management
Co., Ltd.* since August 2015. Mr. Chen obtained a master’s degree
in Business Administration from the Business School of Fordham
University, New York, the USA. He also studied an Executive
Master of Business Administration (EMBA) course in the Centre for
Economic Research of Peking University and a special course in
pharmacy of Peking University Health Science Center. Prior to
joining the Company, he worked at Peking University Health
Science Center and several multinational pharmaceutical
enterprises, such as PKU Healthcare Industrial Group Co., Ltd.,
CITIC Medical & Health Group Co., Limited®, in the field of
healthcare industry investment and industrialised operation. He has
extensive experience in merger and acquisition projects of
hospitals in the PRC and cooperation with overseas medical
resources. He has led and participated in the mergers and
acquisitions and initial public offerings of shares for various large
medical and pharmaceutical projects. He is a senior investor in the
medical and pharmaceutical industry, and is experienced in the
investment, market, management and operation of overseas and
domestic pharmaceutical and healthcare industry. During his office
in CITIC Medical & Health Group Co., Limited*, he was mainly
responsible for the company’s strategic planning on medical
industry, investment and mergers and acquisitions. He also led
various restructuring and mergers and acquisitions of private and
public hospitals, and has extensive experience, in particular in the
restructuring of public hospital system and research of property
rights.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
AGM has an unexpired service contract with the Group which is
not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

TERMS OF OFFICE FOR THE INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Sze Chung was appointed for a specific term of two
years, which shall continue until 17 January 2018 but subject to
the relevant provisions of the Articles of Association or any other
applicable laws whereby the Directors shall vacate or retire from
their office.

For Mr. Zhang Ruibin and Mr. Zhang Junxi Jack, their terms of
appointment shall be three years, which commenced on 24 July
2014 and 21 August 2015 respectively and are subject to the
relevant provisions of the Articles of Association or any other
applicable laws whereby the Directors shall vacate or retire from
their office.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURE

As at 31 December 2015, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong (“SFQ”)) as recorded in the register required to be kept
under section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”) were
as follows:

(a) Long positions in Shares

HART
ERADL
(B 49)
B#@EE Percentage of
EEHA 5% Number of interest in the
Name of Director Capacity Shares Company
(approximate)
=a REHEEE S 2,775,000,000 56.06%
Huang Yu Interest of a controlled corporation (M 3%)
(Note)
B 5 Note:
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RN BB i EA09% 2 # 25 MR BB g2
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EBRRAR (TPEEE]) D HITRAI100%.21#
% o R AP EE R A2,775,000,00008 % H 2 &
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B R R o

RAREEH FEREEEESE
3,127,995,000% i 5 + 15 AR ARIEEITRMD A
63.19% - Atk EE L ERZSR M PEE
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As at 31 December 2015, Mr. Huang Yu owned 99% interests in the
registered capital of Shenzhen Aorongxin and Shenzhen Aorongxin
owned 60% interests in the registered capital of Shenzhen Waranty.
Shenzhen Waranty, through its subsidiary, namely Waranty Assets
Management (HK) Limited (“Waranty Hong Kong”), owned 100%
interests in the issued share capital of China Health Management
Investment Limited (“China Health”). Since China Health is the beneficial
owner of 2,775,000,000 Shares, Mr. Huang Yu was indirectly interested
in the Shares held by China Health.

As at the date of this report, China Health directly held 3,127,995,000
Shares representing approximately 63.19% of the issued Shares of the
Company. Therefore, Mr. Huang was indirectly interested in such
Shares.
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(b) Interest in associated corporation

HAEEEEE
EREO
(BE#)
Percentage of
interest in the

EEHE B EZEER 5% associated
Name of Director Name of associated corporation Capacity corporation

(approximate)
& an (Pt ) YRS EmEBA 99%

Huang Yu (Note)

B :

N-T—hE+-_A=+—H @@tLEEE
YIRS s A A99% 2 i KR Y| B g
BE R ERTEMERC0% 2L o FYIIE
BEEBHENBARIERTEEHEGRERE
FRE#EITIRA100% 2 fEw o R E G RS
A AN 7A)2,775,000,0000% i 17 -

B E X EEESN R E—RF+—
A=+—B BEARREERHZTT
BABRBEEEZETBEALR
ARR M EEE(EERBEH L BER
FISEXVER) BB ~ HHER (D R Z5
BATMCHERARBEESZMPE
kP FE352G R EFF 2 BERMA - 3K
RIEAR 7 B A & AR A R P
ZZRERIOKA o

EERBEREB 2GS

REARBERREBHIL - RIEETHRA
MEEE (BN TEFTHRIN RSN E
AEBEEGBRFAEARNRFEKTES

MR o

EEEXRS  RHEAESHNPZE
RE#=

BRARBR-_ZE-—RE-A-_TNRZRSE
FIEBEEIN  BEEAFERERINFAL
B E > WEETZARE - AMBLAGF - &
RIZEMBARSEERARARITNTMES
SEEFEMECERCERAMERBERX
BacTAEAREBEBHBCEERS
ZHIAHN -  XFFBENERER AR
KIgEE|—8A -

—E—HFEF I ANNUAL REPORT 2015

Shenzhen Aorongxin

Beneficial owner

Note:

As at 31 December 2015, Mr. Huang Yu owned 99% interests in the
registered capital of Shenzhen Aorongxin and Shenzhen Aorongxin
owned 60% interests in the registered capital of Shenzhen Waranty.
Shenzhen Waranty, through its subsidiary, Waranty Hong Kong, owned
100% interests in the issued share capital of China Health. China Health
directly held 2,775,000,000 Shares of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2015, none of
the Directors nor the chief executive of the Company and
their respective associates had any interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of
the Company and its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which were recorded in the
register maintained by the Company pursuant to section 352
of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

During the Year and up to the date of this report, none of the
Directors (not being the INEDs) are considered to have interests in
the businesses which compete or are likely to compete with the
businesses of the Group as defined in the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in
relation to the Group’s businesses to which the Company, its
subsidiaries, its fellow subsidiaries or its holding companies was a
party or were parties and in which a Director or any entities
connected with a Director had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year save for the discloseable and connected transaction
announced by the Company on 28 January 2016. Details of the
transaction are set out in the section headed “Material Capital
Commitments and Investments”.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the Directors and every one
of them is entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the
Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses which the Directors or any of them, shall
or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done,
concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty, or
supposed duty in their offices or otherwise in relation thereto
provided that this indemnity shall not extend to any matter in
respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to any of the
Directors.

The Company has taken out and maintained Directors’ liability
insurance throughout the year which provides appropriate cover for
legal actions brought against the Directors.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the Year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate with the
exception of granting of share options to subscribe for Shares
under the share option scheme.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or executed during the Year.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES

At 31 December 2015, so far as it was known by or otherwise
notified to any Directors or the chief executive of the Company, the
following Shareholders (other than a Director or the chief executive
of the Company) had 5% or more interests in the Shares or
underlying shares as recorded in the register required to be kept
under section 336 of the SFO:

e
Long Positions

RETDE

(BE49)

Percentage of

BGEB interest in

B REB 5% Number of  Shareholding

Name of Shareholders Capacity Shares (approximate)

o 2 R BB A 2,775,000,000 56.06%
China Health Beneficial owner (B 51
(Note 1)

EREEFE RPEHEE S 2,775,000,000 56.06%
Waranty Hong Kong Interest of a controlled corporation (P 5x2)
(Note 2)

RN B F XEGhEEE R 2,775,000,000 56.06%
Shenzhen Waranty Interest of a controlled corporation (MI3E3)
(Note 3)

BEERARAREEZR] XIXEHEE#ER 2,775,000,000 56.06%
Tsinghua Holdings Co., Ltd.* Interest of a controlled corporation (M 54)
(“Tsinghua Holdings”) (Note 4)

ICEPN REHDEE S 2,775,000,000 56.06%
Tsinghua University Interest of a controlled corporation (Fff 55)
(Note 5)

RN ZAEHE B R 2,775,000,000 56.06%
Shenzhen Aorongxin Interest of a controlled corporation (Fff 526)
(Note 6)

Autobest Holdings Limited EmEAA 937,500,000 18.94%
([Autobest]) Beneficial owner (P 5E7)
(Note 7)

REHPEKREERAA(RRZ]) XEHHEE#ER 937,500,000 18.94%
Tian An China Investments Interest of a controlled corporation (Fff 5E8)
Company Limited (“TACI”) (Note 8)

—E—HFEF I ANNUAL REPORT 2015
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#E
Long Positions
REBDL
(% 49)
Percentage of
B4 EE interest in

BRRER 5% Number of  Shareholding

Name of Shareholders Capacity Shares (approximate)

e E(FB)BRAF EEGEEE R 937,500,000 18.94%

(B & EE D) Interest of a controlled corporation (M9 5%9)
Allied Properties (H.K.) Limited (Note 9)
(“APL")
GEeSBEARAR(BEERE] EHEAE#ER 937,500,000 18.94%
Allied Group Limited (“AGL”) Interest of a controlled corporation (M 5E10)
(Note 10)
Lee and Lee Trust EEGEEE R 937,500,000 18.94%
Interest of a controlled corporation (M 5E11)
(Note 11)

B 3% Notes:

1. it 8 7 $5 P B 2 B+  22,775,000,000/% i 1, The figure refers to the legal and beneficial interest of China Health in
MZEEBRER - 2,775,000,000 Shares.

2. FEREE B AT FECETEAI00%2 2. Waranty Hong Kong owned 100% interest in the issued share capital of
A MURERATREREMSE 2R 2 China Health and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the
Bm o RBEEHFRABGFEH - LHFHET Shares in which China Health was interested. The figure refers to the
EERFBEZR—HRMD2EE - same interests of China Health in the Shares under the SFO.

3. RINERREBHWBARIERREBHEA 3. Shenzhen Waranty, through its subsidiary, namely Waranty Hong Kong,
B B B B AT AR AN100% 2 #E 5 - BB AR (E owned 100% interests in the issued share capital of China Health and
BEPEEEMAFELRND 2 EZ - IRBEFSH was therefore deemed to have an interest in the Shares in which China
MBS - B FETEREREZRA T Health was interested. The figure refers to the same interests of China
[ fp 2 % o Health in the Shares under the SFO.

4. 7 Y I R B R Y 2 Bl 2R G A A AN 40% .2 18 4. Tsinghua Holdings owned 40% interests in the registered capital of
o BEEER A RN EREBMSEZ B2 Shenzhen Waranty and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the
o REFHFRABGEL - LHFHET Shares in which Shenzhen Waranty was interested. The figure refers to
REFBEZE RN ZEZ - the same interests of China Health in the Shares under the SFO.

5. BERBHEABEERGMEA100% i 5. Tsinghua University owned 100% interests in the registered capital of
BURARVETE B B 3 IR AT I A 2 B 1 2 #E i o Tsinghua Holdings and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the
BEEFRMEGD - LB FEPEEERS Shares in which Tsinghua Holdings was interested. The figure refers to
BZR—HBRMHZHER - the same interests of China Health in the Shares under the SFO

6. RN BB AR Y B AR T E A 60% 2 42 6. Shenzhen Aorongxin owned 60% interests in the registered capital of
i BRRE R A AR E RIS E 2 B Shenzhen Waranty and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the
Bm o RBEEHZRABGFEH - LHFET Shares in which Shenzhen Waranty was interested. The figure refers to
EERFHEBEZR—HRMD2EE - the same interests of China Health in the Shares under the SFO.

7. It 77 35 Autobest 5 £ 937,500,000 B s 7 2 & 7. The figure refers to the legal and beneficial interest of Autobest in
FEmiEm o 937,500,000 Shares.

8. B RAE S B K % 2 2 & [ & A F] Autobest 15 8. The interests was held by Autobest, a wholly-owned subsidiary of TACI.
B HRBEESRMEGE  ReWREES TACI was therefore deemed to have an interest in the Shares in which
AutobestFT 58 2 IR 1n 2 1% o Autobest was interested under the SFO.

9. B & i 2 335 3B EL B 1 R B T B A B Fine Class 9. APL, through its direct and indirect subsidiaries, namely Fine Class
I—loldingi Limitgd&China Elite Holdings Limited Holdings Limited and China Elite Holdings Limited, owned approximately
BARZDETBNBBAI48.66% 2 #a - 48.66% of the total number of issued shares of TACI and was therefore
BIERBREMBACRO 2 EZ - BREFS deemed to have an interest in the Shares in which TACI were interested.
KGR - 1 87 $5 Autobest 15 A 2 [7 — 4t The figure refers to the same interests of Autobest in the Shares under
Bty 2 #E e the SFO.

10. HESEREHAMWEDRITRG 4 10.  AGL owned approximately 74.91% of the total number of issued shares

TAN% R MWEIEREE A HERNE
BzRHzER - REFHRIPEBEM - L
F 45 Autobest 5 5 2 B — #iL

of APL and was therefore deemed to have an interest in the Shares in
which APL was interested. The figure refers to the same interests of
Autobest in the Shares under the SFO.

it & Kkoje 12 B A R 2 7 ALLIED CEMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED
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1. ZRBELE ZTHRELRLIRFERELEE AR
#1{E5ELee and Lee TrustZE5E A EAH
HERAEEEEHITRMBEHL73.90% 2 #
H(BEEREBELAEZAAEZ)  WREES
EFHEKD  wRIEBRAHESEMEEZ
Bz i w o

12 RAREAH PREEE  ERRKES R
I ORI R R E S B 708,127,995,000 % A%
MHABEERZ HARABHETROD
63.19% - RYNIR@ERIIRAFEFRESR
RARI(RAEIFD AR FERINEREZ
52% R48%IXHE - MIRBESFRBMEGKRL - [
TR RERA R EREBZEZRG
(B13,127,995,000/% iz 5) » # 2 - ZZER M 16
NATEBITHN 496319% - RIFTENHERA
AI(TRAA B BB R A 2 2 50k - &
BIEBHRBAEGKY - RARDESEREER
FEIFAMIE A ZRMD 2z o tboh  THTF
Energy-Saving Holdings Limited ([THTF
Energy-Saving]) ' R kHhzEE2EHNBA
A B 25 ¥ B 113,994,000/ B 15 - MR & B
HFREEEG - RA RGO IR ERBTHTF
Energy-SavingFi#5 8 2 Mm 2w o Bt - [
73 B& 17 48 1E 14.3,241,989,000 % % 15 7 i & 4
w o B ARFEEITRMD #65.49% © JFEE
BABRHERYERE 2 ERRE Bt &
ERREREERERBFEAETHRARQR
R BEEITRMDPHEA 2 o fAutobest + X
2 BAME - BA%E KLee and Lee Trust
FEREBARRBEEHTRMONEBEEE -

FREXHBEEIN R_F-—AF+-A=
T—H  ARARABEEETFAAL(RRAE
FAERSTHRABARETBZIBEALR
SN B AN - R D R AR RBE B A0 P B B L
AER N IR 5 M B B R ) SE 336K R E R 7
ZELMzEm KR -

TREFRHEER

RER AEBRARARFEGEZHEELER
AEBRAHENELRZREBES R AR
S ER M RERBEA37.3%K67.9% °

RER AEBGABRFZHERERAE
B AtEEm s RBRE I ALAEEEE
5 [ BRBE BB 4911.2% 2. 28.4% o

BEFHMAN BEES REFCETHEA
TRFARNRRFCEITIADE% A _E#Y T ]I
RRAGEEAAREAREFHERES#

s
S o
g
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11. Mr. Lee Seng Hui, Ms. Lee Su Hwei and Mr. Lee Seng Huang are the
trustees of Lee and Lee Trust, being a discretionary trust. They together
owned approximately 73.90% of the total number of issued shares of
AGL (inclusive of Mr. Lee Seng Hui's personal interests) and were
therefore deemed to have an interest in the Shares in which AGL was
interested under the SFO.

12. As at the date of this report, each of China Health, Waranty Hong Kong,
Shenzhen Waranty and Shenzhen Aorongxin was interested in
3,127,995,000 Shares representing approximately 63.19% of the issued
Shares of the Company. The equity interest of Shenzhen Waranty was
held by Shenzhen Aorongxin as to 52% andit =R AIF I E B R Q7
(Beijing Tongfang Chuangxin Investment Co., Ltd.") (“Tongfang
Chuangxin”) as to 48%. Tongfang Chuangxin was therefore deemed to
have an interest in the Shares in which Shenzhen Waranty was
interested under the SFO being 3,127,995,000 Shares representing
approximately 63.19% of the issued Shares of the Company. The entire
equity interest of Tongfang Chuangxin was held by[E 75 X5 & R 2 7
(Tsinghua Tongfang Co., Ltd.*) (“Tsinghua Tongfang”) and Tsinghua
Tongfang was therefore deemed to have an interest in the Shares in
which Tongfang Chuangxin was interested under the SFO. In addition,
THTF Energy-Saving Holdings Limited (“THTF Energy-Saving”), an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Tsinghua Tongfang, was the
beneficial owner of 113,994,000 Shares, and Tsinghua Tongfang was
therefore also deemed to have an interest in the Shares in which THTF
Energy-Saving was interested under the SFO. Tsinghua Tongfang was
therefore interested in 3,241,989,000 Shares representing approximately
65.49% of the issued Shares of the Company. Tsinghua Holdings no
longer held any equity interest in Shenzhen Waranty, therefore Tsinghua
Holdings and its holding entity, Tsinghua University, were no longer
interested in any issued Shares of the Company. Each of Autobest, TACI,
APL, AGL and Lee and Lee Trust was interested in less than 5% of the
issued Shares of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2015, the Company
had not been notified by any person (other than a Director or chief
executive of the Company or their respective associate(s)) of any
interest and short position in the Shares and underlying shares
which were required to be recorded in the register required to be
kept under 336 of the SFO.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, the aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s five
largest customers and the aggregate purchases attributable to the
Group’s five largest suppliers were approximately 37.3% and
67.9% of the Group’s sales and purchases respectively.

During the Year, the aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s
largest customer and the aggregate purchases attributable to the
Group’s largest supplier were approximately 11.2% and 28.4% of
the Group’s sales and purchases respectively.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholders,
which to the knowledge of the Directors owned more than 5% of
the Company’s issued shares, had a beneficial interest in any of
the Group’s five largest suppliers and customers.
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BN F AR S B R 402 Bl T R
SLEHRERLETRAERZFBRER
5 ARRIERARBRFRNR L 2 F5 B
ERZETLETRAUNFIAEZIRE -

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group has the following transactions which
constitute connected transactions as defined under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules:

On 22 May 2015, Shanghai SAC and L /8E# (£E)FR QA
(Shanghai Building Material (Group) Company Limited®) (“Shanghai
Building Material”) entered into an extension framework agreement
(“Extension Framework Agreement”), pursuant to which the term of
each of the following entrusted loans is extended for one year:-

(i) On 28 May 2014, Shanghai SAC, Shanghai Building Material
and a bank entered into an entrusted loan agreement,
pursuant to which Shanghai SAC entrusted the bank to
provide an entrusted loan in the principal amount of
RMB54.0 million to Shanghai Building Material for a term of
one year (“First Entrusted Loan”). The maturity date of the
First Entrusted Loan is 26 May 2015; and

(i)  On 2 July 2014, Shanghai SAC, Shanghai Building Material
and a bank entered into an entrusted loan agreement,
pursuant to which Shanghai SAC entrusted the bank to
provide an entrusted loan to Shanghai Building Material in the
principal amount of RMB78.0 million for a term of one year
(“Second Entrusted Loan”). The maturity date of the Second
Entrusted Loan is 3 July 2015.

Since Shanghai Building Material holds 40% equity interest in
Shanghai SAC which is a subsidiary of the Company, Shanghai
Building Material, as a substantial shareholder of Shanghai SAC, is
therefore a connected person of the Company. Accordingly, the
Extension Framework Agreement constituted a connected
transaction of the Company and is subject to the reporting and
announcement, but is exempt from the independent shareholders’
approval, requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Please refer to (i) the announcement of the Company dated 23
May 2014 in relation to the provision of First Entrusted Loan; (ii) the
announcement of the Company dated 2 July 2014 in relation to the
provision of the Second Entrusted Loan; and (iii) the
announcement of the Company dated 22 May 2015 in relation to
the extension of the term of the entrusted loans for further details.

The related party transactions and balances set out in note 40 to
the consolidated financial statements of this annual report included
transactions that constituted connected transactions within the
meaning of the Listing Rules. The Company has complied with the
requirements prescribed in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules with
respect to the connected transactions entered into by the Group
during the Year.
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EEREROBFER CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

AR —T-—RERRBFRGEIN_F The 2016 AGM is scheduled to be held on Friday, 3 June 2016.

—ANFERA-ZB(EHR)R{T BRETLRE For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the 2016

T AFRRAEFASANE LRENE AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed on

Ao ARBEHR-F—RENA-H(EHM)  Thursday, 2 June 2016 and Friday, 3 June 2016, during which

RZZ-A"FANA-HEHR)EERER period no transfer of shares of the Company will be registered.

MBPEL EUHEARARNZEET

BT THIE -

ARFIBER(BERDBEAERIE _—F — In order for a shareholder of the Company (the “Shareholder”) to

NEBRRBFAGENELERE  ARZT be eligible to attend and vote at the 2016 AGM, all transfer forms

—ANENA-HEH D) TFOEBE =128 accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged

AR B P X B AR R A R A NA] 2 with the Company’s branch share registrar, Tricor Secretaries

BBEELOREEWEBEERLA O Limited of Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,

I A E B2 FREFRI1835 A M A L2218) A Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday,

MIBELFE - 1 June 2016.

B DONATIONS

AEBRAFEAZEZERBRBIIEES The Group made charitable donations of HK$1.9 million during the

JC ° Year.

TEER CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

RRNBV ) HEF5 =KE Zﬁ%%;ﬁ%%ﬁ Wl The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate

AARAIMRAZ EEERT R ZERNER governance practices. Information on the corporate governance

RNEMHEI0B FISH 7 PEEBRE o practices adopted by the Company is set out in the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 20 to 35 of this annual report.

NBREFERE PUBLIC FLOAT

REARRAIAFAARFZIERRRESMA Based on the information which is publicly available to the Company

ARARAFERAREEAFIRBHERS £ and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has

TRAUFMBEZREANARETRE - maintained the prescribed amount of public float during the Year and
up to the date of this report as required under the Listing Rules.

B % EE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

AFERAFE L HBHROLERPeME  The Group's financial statements for the Year have been audited by

RIGEEIITEG BB AR S5t Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu who will retire and, being eligible, offer

THERERENABERYBEEEET - BN itself for re-appointment. A resolution to re-appoint Deloitte Touche

—E-RFRRBERG LIE2HAMARLE Tohmatsu and to authorize the Directors to fix its remuneration will

PeMER TG AITREEESEEHEM  be proposed at the 2016 AGM.

BLRER o

REEFE On behalf of the Board

*E Huang Yu

=ar Chairman

—E-RE=ZA=+H 30 March 2016

* ERHF * For identification purpose only
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Deloitte.
=)

BBaKEERERAAETRR
(REISHBHEME L ZERLA])

EEEEBZY SN ES7TE = F143E B A K
BERABRAR(EARD)REKBAR (%
HMIEERDNGREMERE - RS TER
EBENR-_Z—AF+_A=+—HWNERA
MR RARAREEZALEFEZHRAEE
MEMEERER SEESEHRREGA
BERBRAREZSHBRBME R E MR
BER -

ESRGAMBHRRAEEN

BEfE

BERAERAAEREBEE B EAMASRM
ZEBHMBREENRIZBE LB RRHRHIH
BRERERBELEEMA T HZEFEE
MBRER TEEEER/AREEAUE
BRMEBLENAIEE  UEKEEMB
BRI FERRRFFRERMERNE K
R -

2% - I

EENEIERBEESNERYZEHRAY
BHRRELER  WRBRE ZWHERKE
RESER BTHRSE MULEEMWAE
Ve BENG A HE K AR R E A A
TR ERAEEMNEE EFCREFTES
SR AERMNB BB EIETES - &
SHEAUBREFTETERAE  WHRE R
TEZ NABBEZSHREVBRERES
T AEAEANHERRL

TO THE MEMBERS OF ALLIED CEMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Allied
Cement Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 57 to
143, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2015, and the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of
engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. We conducted our audit in accordance
with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

it & 7K Je 2 B% A R /2 7] ALLIED CEMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED 55



1B BRAN ¥R 4 Independent Auditor’s Report

BERSNATREFABRRZESEMBRE

BB MREERNBZEE - METEHN
TR BUR N BBy H T - SR EENER

FFRERMEBZSHAMBRREFEEX
R B R R R o R AR ERRE - 2R
Eﬂi%)"fiﬁizxﬁmmiﬁﬁfﬁﬁﬁiﬁﬂﬂ e
BB WAARMA N IE - RET N ZIB

RT%D*‘“E’J%V&F“ B EBHERAHA
MEENMERRER - BERNEHENEE
ERANEABENAEERAEHNS

AR EN URFEZSFHRAMBR
ROEBIHETA -

BEEMR1E - %%ﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬁ’ﬂ%’fﬁ?iﬁ?ﬁﬂﬁi%ﬂ
HEWABESENECE LIRMER -

=R

EERA x%?v?/\ﬁﬁ’z#&i%ﬁﬁﬁ%f &
BREZENEEMATHRER SEREN_
T-RAF+-_A=t—HOMBRRIR &
SEEEZRLFENFBRAMRERE
VYERBEEARAGINEEREZSR
Bl o

D@@(/{-H@ Tvee bt Vebrragdrin

EHeMERS GEEIIT
S ey

&
—E-RF=A=TH

—ZT—AFFHR ANNUAL REPORT 2015

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the
directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2015, and of its financial performance and cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

D@@(/{-H@ Zvee bt Vebrradrin

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
30 March 2016
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
HEZZ—AF+=ZA=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

—E-IOfF —T-NE
2015 2014
i F&T FHET
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
WA Revenue 7 465,739 733,125
3 & B AR Cost of sales (441,537) (663,039)
EAH Gross profit 24,202 70,086
H e A Other income 9 44,872 28,737
VHIE H E 18 Net foreign exchange loss (2,418) (1,329)
BEBDEREATEE Fair value (losses) gains on financial
BREZEMEEZ assets at fair value through profit
ANFEBE(EE) RS or loss 25 (898) 4,574
H b (R AR B 17 5K Interest income on other principal
A B A protected deposits 26 10,749 13,938
DR IEE B A Distribution and selling expenses (5,655) (6,423)
THE R Administrative expenses (60,842) (47,152)
RER Allowance for bad and
B doubtful debts 22 (18,274) (1,530)
Bl & Bk AR Finance costs 10 (18,721) (14,794)
Br 5 A1 (B 18) )& A (Loss) profit before taxation (26,985) 46,107
R Taxation 12 (2,829) (18,083)
REZ (EE) & T (Loss) profit for the year 13 (29,814) 28,024
HEip 2wk e Other comprehensive income:
BEETeEFTHERE ltem that will not be reclassified
EmkZIEE : subsequently to profit or loss:
HBRAREIEE Exchange difference arising on
EEZ translation to presentation
M=% currency (65,544) -
AEE2E(EH) Total comprehensive (expense)
U 25 4858 income for the year (95,358) 28,024
NEEZ (E518) & F (Loss) profit for the year
FEAR 75 : attributable to:
RABIRE Owners of the Company (34,237) 17,280
JE ¥ A% = Non-controlling interests 4,423 10,744
(29,814) 28,024
ARFEE2E(ZH)WEE5  Total comprehensive (expense)
FE(5 77 : income for the year attributable to:
NN 3 Owners of the Company (77,032) 17,280
FEHE AR M 2 Non-controlling interests (18,326) 10,744
(95,358) 28,024
Al AL
HK cents HK cents
F(E8B)&F (Loss) earnings per share 14
AR Basic (0.69) 0.43

B

VAN
(=)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial

RZZT—AF+=ZA=+—H At 31 December 2015

ENRBEE

ME - BENRRE
& M 2%
ZHEE

T b A E
ZENEERE

RuEE

RBEE
FEHEM R

FE

EWE ZF AR ERRE
HEERE R
BN RE

FEU & 5K
BRBEREATVEE
BREZEMEE

H Al AR AN B A7 5K

=+ 3 5
ZENEEFR

— BB T R

SR ERHRITER
o iRER N
RITEBR LA S

REBRE

ENEZHREANRENRIE

H A & 5 FRIR
REWIZE S

R— 2B T KA

HEAE
—FRIPHZR/ITR
HitE &

RBEEFRR

HEER
RBAE

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment

Deposits for equipment and
machineries

Prepaid lease payments on land use
rights

Mining right

Current assets

Properties held for sale

Inventories

Trade and bills receivables

Other receivables, deposits and
prepayments

Loans receivable

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Other principal protected deposits

Prepaid lease payments on land use
rights

Amounts due from a related party

Pledged short-term bank deposits

Time deposits

Bank balances and cash

Current liabilities
Trade and bills payables

Other payables and deposits
received

Amounts due to a related party
Tax liabilities

Bank and other borrowings due
within one year

Net current assets

Total assets less current
liabilities
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Position

17

18
19

20
21
22

23
24

25
26

18
40
39
27
27

28

29
40

30

—E-EHF —E—F
2015 2014
THxT T T
HK$’000 HK$'000
380,880 422100
81,565 86,418
6,685 7,279
9,050 9,870
478,180 525,667
2,310 2,448
34,330 40,089
295,440 307,323
51,142 62,146

- 7,605
82,227 —
205,327 240,349
187 198
157,937 167,344
424,912 21,697
200,636 25,317
697,297 1,026,591
2,151,745 1,901,107
103,997 100,611
32,093 49,064
2,137 69
86,425 97,947
777,456 257,554
1,002,108 505,245
1,149,637 1,395,862
1,627,817 1,921,529




A B %Ak L & Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
R-Z—hAF+=-HA=+—H At 31 December 2015

—E-IOfF —T-NE
2015 2014
B 5% FET FET
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
BARFE Capital and reserves
% s Share capital 31 9,900 9,900
517 4 18 % 1 s Share premium and reserves 33 1,197,759 1,274,791
RNARRRE Equity attributable to owners of the
FEAG HE = Company 1,207,659 1,284,691
IE ¥ B #E o Non-controlling interests 400,946 429,058
R Total equity 1,608,605 1,713,749
ERBERE Non-current liabilities
— SR\ IETR Bank and other borrowings due
Hipfg & after one year 30 - 185,000
iR FE T IR Deferred taxation 34 19,212 22,780
19,212 207,780
1,627,817 1,921,529
FETEEF14BENRE B WMKRENR T — The consolidated financial statements on pages 57 to 143 were
NE=ZA=THEE=gH £ REERE approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 30
WHETIIEEFRREE: March 2016 and are signed on its behalf by:
>
A
=8 0P}
Huang Yu Ng Qing Hai
EE EF
Director Director
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GORBEDE

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

HEZZ—AF+=ZA=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

A\=2-MF-A—-AH At 1 January 2014

AEERHRZEKE Profit and total comprehensive
income for the year

BEAREE Issue of shares pursuant to open

BI2BRH

REAHEE Expenses incurred in connection
with issue of new shares
pursuant to open offer
BRTHMERE Transfer to other reserves
DT IR = Dividend distribution to non-
controlling interests

BOHRD
ZHEAEA

kR

RZF—MF+=-A=1—H At 31 December 2014

KEEBE Loss for the year
RBRRZFER Exchange difference arising on
translation to presentation

EEZ
EXER

KEEZE Total comprehensive expense for

Edufts

DI T IEERE R Dividend distribution to non-
controlling interests

ZBR

RZZ—R%F+-A=1—H At 31 December 2015

EAARRES
Attributable to owners of the Company
FRRES

BRA RGEE EXRE BHRE EXRE HERE RIEN Non- RzZH#AH
Share  Share Translation Special Capital  Other Retained @ controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserves profits Total interests equity
ThEr TER Thr Thr Thr TFhr TFhExT TEn AT THER
HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000  HK$000 HK$'000

(Rt 35)

(note)
6,600 731,052 46,871 (392,739 824 15125 372,402 780,139 430,169 1,210,308
- - - - ~ - 17,280 17,280 10,744 28,024
3,300 491,700 - - - - — 495,000 — 495,000
- (7,728) - = - - - (7,728) - (7,728)
- — = - - 17689 (17,689 - - =
i - = - — - = = (11,855)  (11,855)
9,900 1,215,024 46,871 (392,739 824 32814 371,993 1,284,691 429,068 1,713,749

- - - - = (34,237) (34,237) 4,423  (29,814)

- (42,795) - - -

(42,795) (22,749)  (65,544)

- (42,795) - - - (34,287) (77,032)  (18,326)  (95,358)

(9,786)  (9,786)

9,900 1,215,024 4,076 (392,735) 824 32,814 337,756 1,207,659 400,946 1,608,605

Mt BRlEEEREIIR=E—SFR_F——
FRBIEMATUIE 2B ARG EERER
B FT 37T 2 2N A7) & Splendid Link Limited

BNEEZERE -

—ZE—HFEF 3 ANNUAL REPORT 2015

Note: The special reserve represents the differences between the nominal
amount of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the
corporate reorganisations in 2010 and 2011 respectively and the nominal
amount of the shares of the Company and Splendid Link Limited issued
in exchange.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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BEXKRA
REFHE

AF+ZA=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
(Loss) profit before taxation
Adjustments for:

Amortisation and depreciation

Release of prepaid lease payments on
land use rights

Allowance for bad and doubtful debts
Finance costs
Interest income from loans receivable

Interest income on other principal
protected deposits

Interest income from banks

Interest income from a non-controlling
shareholder of the Group’s
subsidiary

Net loss on disposal and write-off of
property, plant and equipment

Fair value losses (gains) on financial
assets at fair value through profit or
loss

Write-off of other payables and
deposits received

Loss on write-off of inventories

Operating cash inflow before movements
in working capital

(Increase) decrease in inventories

Increase in trade and bills receivables

Decrease (increase) in other receivables,
deposits and prepayments

Increase (decrease) in trade and bills
payables

(Decrease) increase in other payables and
deposits received

Cash (used in) generated from operations
Income tax paid

NET CASH USED IN OPERATING
ACTIVITIES

BAlRERARA

—E—-EHF —E—F
2015 2014
TET T T
HK$’000 HK$’000
(26,985) 46,107
23,166 21,989
195 198
18,274 1,530
18,721 14,794
(1,317) (1,652)
(10,749) (13,938)
(6,607) (657)
(8,184) (4,584)
1,697 524
898 (4,574)
1,637 —
5,685 —
16,431 59,737
(2,177) 11,417
(23,648) (9,262)
7,514 (10,163)
9,035 (38,108)
(10,249) 5,713
(3,094) 19,334
(11,641) (27,464)
(14,735) (8,130)

7] ALLIED CEMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED 61



62

@§:§—£¢+ A=+ —HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

BREXHK
HEME BEAREZ
P15 508
BEYE  BE

B4
EL B RE T AN
BB R E R
BEEABREREATEE
BEEREE
310 5 (R AN BY
75K
FE O] FE L B 3K
Z P8 5k IE
BEREBREREEA
BEZESMEEZ
Fr 158 38

HABR AR R
5|81 > BT 18 508
— £ 3 R A2 2 2
57 B 45 9
B
2 B 45 47 2 B
BAER
7 5 B 77 2
BEE B R
M B3 2 B R 8
H (R A ELTF
ZEWF 8
BEERERATHEERS Y
H

N EE

TREEZCDWHE
fib 2 A 8

REXE(FTR)ME
ReFEH

—ZT—AFFHR ANNUAL REPORT 2015

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant
and equipment

Purchase of property, plant and
equipment

Addition of mining right

Purchase of loans receivable

Purchase of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Placement of other principal protected
deposits

Proceeds from redemption of loans
receivable

Proceeds from redemption of financial
assets at fair value through profit or
loss

Proceeds from other principal protected
deposits upon maturity

Advance to a non-controlling interest

Placement of pledged short-term bank
deposits

Withdrawal of pledged short-term bank
deposits

Placement of time deposits

Withdrawal of time deposits

Interest received from loans receivable

Interest received from other principal
protected deposits

Interest received from financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss

Other interest received

NET CASH (USED IN) FROM
INVESTING ACTIVITIES

—E-RE — e
2015 2014
FHET T T
HK$’000 HK$'000
1,984 124
(14,600) (29,890)

- (2,406)
(2,012,413) (1,226,203)
(181,947) (307,595)
(552,569) (909,873)
2,019,582 1,250,253
97,014 565,007
571,685 990,886

- (167,089)
(1,038,805) (33,020)
634,690 23,769
(702,306) (88,608)
727,623 65,190
1,308 4,205
12,684 17,902
1,876 —
14,801 4,986
(419,393) 157,638
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BMEXEL
BATRD 2 PR 1S 3R
iﬁl%ﬁ
MBELE &R
B FE

BT H A B & KA
g R1T R A E R
BIEIRTT

K H A &R

B SRR S

Z BB
XE#T&EE@%
BRI ESEN

BMEXL
FEREFHE

RERRSEMN(AD)
FE

FPRS
BAEEED
EERD Y

ERAE
EREEEY

L

RITEHR MRS
REBES=EARNZ
EHER

310

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds of issue of shares

Payment of expenses attributable to issue
of new shares

Interest paid
Other financial cost paid
New bank and other borrowings raised

Repayments of bank and other
borrowings

Dividends paid to non-controlling
interests

Advance from non-controlling interests
Repayment to non-controlling interests

NET CASH FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
THE END OF THE YEAR

Represented by
Bank balances and cash
Time deposits with original maturity
within 3 months

BAlRERARA

—E—EHF — 4
2015 2014
FHET T
HK$’000 HK$’000
- 495,000

- (7,728)
(14,510) (14,794)
(3,616) —
1,327,913 444115
(990,228) (56,372)
(7,786) (20,732)

68 69
- (90)
311,841 839,468
(122,287) 988,976
1,026,591 37,615
(6,371) —
897,933 1,026,591
697,297 1,026,591
200,636 —
897,933 1,026,591
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEZZ—AF+=ZA=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2015
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GENERAL

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability on 21 March 2011
under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The shares
of the Company have been listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) since 18 January
2012. lts parent is China Health Management Investment
Limited (“China Health”), a private limited company which is
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. Its ultimate holding
company of the Company is FIITRE{EEEZEEFRA
Al (Shenzhen Aorongxin Investment Development Co., Ltd.*),
a company incorporated under the laws of the People’s
Republic of China (“PRC”) with limited liability. The address of
the registered office of the Company is Clifton House, 75
Fort Street, P.O. Box 1350, Grand Cayman KY1-1108,
Cayman lIslands and the head office and principal place of
business of the Company is 9™ Floor, Allied Kajima Building,
138 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 43.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollar (“HK$”) which is different from the functional
currency of the Company, Renminbi (“RMB”) as the directors
of the Company (“Directors”) consider that HK$ is the most
appropriate presentation currency in view of its place of
listing is in Hong Kong.
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2.

i Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEZZ—AF+=ZA=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

The Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time in the current year.

Amendments to HKAS 19 Defined Benefit Plans: Employee
Contributions

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2010-2012 Cycle

Amendments to HKFRSs

Amendments to HKFRSs  Annual Improvements to HKFRSs

2011-2013 Cycle

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current
year has had no material impact on the Group’s financial
performance and positions for the current and prior years
and/or disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.
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HEZZ—AF+=ZA=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

2. EAFHIRLETNERR 2.
BMEER (BB BERELE
Al &)

B 5 181 5K 46 3% 2 37 3T % 48
1A E BB 5 B A

AEBEYEEFEATINEBMER
REBOHAT REEFTBEEMB RS

New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

66

£ o effective.

ERMBREER R ITA HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments'
E5

BAEVBRELER BEERLERB? HKFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts?
1458

BAUBHmRESENN REFFEHZ HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
F155% &y Customers'

BEAMBEREEL WELRLEER Amendments to HKFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisitions of
ERREA N 2 EE A Interests in Joint Operations®

BB EFER B A& Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure Initiative®
%15}?{ HTZ’K

BB EFAER BB EREE Amendments to HKAS 16 Clarification of Acceptable
F165 BB GIE:E b~ and HKAS 38 Methods of Depreciation and
2R FE 38R Amortisation?
BET A

A 7 B 7% & 2E B =% *_ii Amendments to HKFRSs  Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
(EH —E-NFEREE 2012-2014 Cycle®

ZBEBYB®RE
4 BI| 55 5 Bh o

BB G TR BX: EEMHED Amendments to HKAS 16 Agriculture: Bearer Plants®

%165)7&%5/% and HKAS 41

SRS
fE /] A

BB EFER BB HwEK 2 Amendments to HKAS 27 Equity Method in Separate
F2THASET A HE 2 %8 Financial Statements?®

BRI HRE %R ?xé%éﬁi,ﬁ\ﬂf = Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
FI0R BB NAIHE E AT and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
SETERF285 RN EELE Associate or Joint Venture*
BT A ¢ 0E B4

BEAUBmELED REER: ERAK Amendments to HKFRS  Investment Entities: Applying the
F105% - BB & AR Z B INME 10, HKFRS 12 and Consolidation Exception?
Bt 7 ¥R & £ A e HKAS 28

F12R R EE
GRS 285,
fE /] A

1 R
Rl

T \F—A-—BXUAERBZF

2 REE—RF-—HA—HAURHAIKRZE

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018

2 Effective for first annual HKFRS financial statements beginning on

NEFEEBBHIERELENTERRER or after 1 January 2016

E RZZE—R"FE—A—BRUERRZEF 8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016
E HRFE A 3K

¢ FHETHBSR AR ZFEBRME 4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
W determined
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2.

22T -HF+ZA=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”

HKFRS 9 issued in 2009 introduced new requirements for
the classification and measurement of financial assets.
HKFRS 9 was subsequently amended in 2010 to include
requirements for the classification and measurement of
financial liabilities and for derecognition, and further amended
in 2013 to include the new requirements for general hedge
accounting. Another revised version of HKFRS 9 was issued
in 2014 mainly to include a) impairment requirements for
financial assets and b) limited amendments to the
classification and measurement requirements by introducing a
‘fair value through other comprehensive income’ (“FVTOCI”)
measurement category for certain simple debt instruments.

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 are described as follows:

o All recognised financial assets that are within the scope
of HKAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement” are required to be subsequently
measured at amortised cost or fair value. Specifically,
debt investments that are held within a business model
whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows,
and that have contractual cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal
outstanding are generally measured at amortised cost
at the end of subsequent accounting periods. Debt
instruments that are held within a business model
whose objective is achieved both by collecting
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets, and
that have contractual terms that give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding, are generally measured at FVTOCI. All
other debt investments and equity investments are
measured at their fair value at the end of subsequent
accounting periods. In addition, under HKFRS 9,
entities may make an irrevocable election to present
subsequent changes in the fair value of an equity
investment (that is not held for trading) in other
comprehensive income, with only dividend income
generally recognised in profit or loss.
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (continued)

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 are described as follows:
(continued)

With regard to the measurement of financial liabilities
designated as at fair value through profit or loss,
HKFRS 9 requires that the amount of change in the fair
value of the financial liability that is attributable to
changes in the credit risk of that liability is presented in
other comprehensive income, unless the recognition of
the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in
other comprehensive income would create or enlarge
an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in
fair value attributable to a financial liability’s credit risk
are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss.
Under HKAS 39, the entire amount of the change in the
fair value of the financial liability designated as at fair
value through profit or loss is presented in profit or
loss.

In relation to the impairment of financial assets, HKFRS
9 requires an expected credit loss model, as opposed
to an incurred credit loss model under HKAS 39. The
expected credit loss model requires an entity to
account for expected credit losses and changes in
those expected credit losses at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition. In
other words, it is no longer necessary for a credit
event to have occurred before credit losses are
recognised.

The new general hedge accounting requirements retain
the three types of hedge accounting mechanisms
currently available in HKAS 39. Under HKFRS 9,
greater flexibility has been introduced to the types of
transactions eligible for hedge accounting, specifically
broadening the types of instruments that qualify for
hedging instruments and the types of risk components
of non-financial items that are eligible for hedge
accounting. In addition, the retrospective quantitative
effectiveness test has been  removed. Enhanced
disclosure requirements about an entity’s risk
management activities have also been introduced.
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i Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEZZ—AF+=ZA=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (continued)

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 are described as follows:
(continued)

The Directors anticipate that HKFRS 9 will be adopted in the
Group’s consolidated financial statements for the financial
year when HKFRS 9 is mandatory effective and that the
application of the new standard may have impact on
amounts reported in respect of the Group’s financial assets.
Regarding the Group’s financial assets, it is not practicable
to provide a reasonable estimate of that effect until a detailed
review has been completed.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2012-2014
Cycle

The Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle
include a number of amendments to various HKFRSs, which
are summarised below.

The amendments to HKFRS 5 introduce specific guidance in
HKFRS 5 for when an entity reclassifies an asset (or a
disposal group) from held for sale to held for distribution to
owners (or vice versa). The amendments clarify that such a
change should be considered as a continuation of the
original plan of disposal and hence requirements set out in
HKFRS 5 regarding the change of sale plan do not apply.
The amendments also clarify the guidance for when held-for-
distribution accounting is discontinued.
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2.

A IS R KT 5 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEZZ—AF+=ZA=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2012-2014
Cycle (continued)

The amendments to HKFRS 7 provide additional guidance to
clarify whether a servicing contract is continuing involvement
in a transferred asset for the purpose of the disclosures
required in relation to transferred assets.

The amendments to HKAS 19 clarify that the rate used to
discount post-employment benefit obligations should be
determined by reference to market yields at the end of the
reporting period on high quality corporate bonds. The
assessment of the depth of a market for high qualify
corporate bonds should be at the currency level (i.e. the
same currency as the benefits are to be paid). For currencies
for which there is no deep market in such high quality
corporate bonds, the market vyields at the end of the
reporting period on government bonds denominated in that
currency should be used instead.

The Directors do not anticipate that the application of these
amendments will have a material effect on the results and the
financial position of the Group.

For other new and revised HKFRSs, the Directors anticipate
that their application will have no material impact on the
results and the financial position of the Group.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain financial
instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of
each reporting period, and in accordance with HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA.

In addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”)
and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

The disclosure requirements set out in the Listing Rules
regarding annual accounts have been amended with
reference to the provisions of the new Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) regarding preparation of
accounts and directors’ reports and audits and to streamline
with HKFRSs. Accordingly, the presentation and disclosure of
information in the consolidated financial statements for the
financial year ended 31 December 2015 have been changed
to comply with these new requirements. Comparative
information in respect of the financial year ended 31
December 2014 are presented or disclosed in the
consolidated financial statements based on the new
requirements. Information previously required to be disclosed
under the predecessor Hong Kong Companies Ordinance or
Listing Rules but not under the new Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance or amended Listing Rules are not disclosed in
these consolidated financial statements.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an
asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a
basis.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are
described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

The significant accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved
when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee

if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights
of an investee, it has power over the investee when the
voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to
direct the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether or not the Group’s voting rights in an
investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

° the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative
to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote
holders;

o potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote
holders or other parties;

° rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

o any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that
the Group has, or does not have, the current ability to
direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions
need to be made, including voting patterns at previous
shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses

and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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A IS R KT 5 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEZZ—AF+=ZA=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries prior to 1 January 2010

The cost of the acquisition of additional interest in a
subsidiary is measured at the consideration paid for the
additional interest. The goodwill is calculated as the
difference between the consideration paid and the carrying
amount of the net assets of the subsidiary attributable to the
additional interest acquired.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries on or after 1 January 2010

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control
over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests
and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the
changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any
difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration
paid or received is recognised directly in equity and
attributed to owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration received and the fair value of any retained
interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any
non-controlling interests. All amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to
profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as
specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of
any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date
when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting under HKAS 39 or,
when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an
investment in an associate or a joint venture.
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22T -HF+ZA=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations

Business combination that took place after 1 January
2005 but prior to 1 January 2010

The acquisition of businesses is accounted for using the
purchase method. The cost of the acquisition is measured at
the aggregate of the fair values, at the date of exchange, of
assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity
instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control of
the acquiree, plus any costs directly attributable to the
business combination. The acquiree’s identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for
recognition under HKFRS 3 “Business combinations” are
recognised at their fair values at the acquisition date.

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an asset and
initially measured at cost, being the excess of the cost of the
business combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair
value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities recognised. If, after reassessment, the Group’s
interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities exceeds the cost of
the business combination, the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for
goods sold and services provided in the normal course of
business, net of discounts and sales related taxes.

Revenue from sale of properties held for sale is recognised
when the respective properties have been delivered to the
buyers. Deposits and instalments received from purchasers
prior to meeting the above criteria for revenue recognition are
included in the consolidated statement of financial position
under current liabilities.

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised when goods are
delivered and titles have passed.

Technical services income is recognised when services are
provided.
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22T -HF+ZA=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it
is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group
and the amount of income can be measured reliably. Interest
income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the
principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate
applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of
the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, including buildings held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purpose other than construction in progress,
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Construction in progress includes property, plant and
equipment in the course of construction for production or for
its own use purposes. Construction in progress is carried at
cost less any recognised impairment loss. Construction in
progress is classified to the appropriate category of property,
plant and equipment when completed and ready for intended
use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as
other property assets, commences when the assets are
ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
items of property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, less their residual value over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on
a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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22T -HF+ZA=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Mining right

On initial recognition, mining right acquired separately is
recognised at cost. After initial recognition, mining right is
carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses.

Gain or loss arising from derecognition of mining right is
measured at the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Impairment of tangible assets and mining
right

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible assets and mining right with
finite useful lives to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If the
recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than
its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to enter into
an operating lease are recognised as a liability and release
as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term on a
straight-line basis.
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22T -HF+ZA=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the
Group assesses the classification of each element as a
finance or an operating lease separately based on the
assessment as to whether substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of each element have been
transferred to the Group, unless it is clear that both elements
are operating leases in which case the entire lease is
classified as an operating lease. Specifically, the minimum
lease payments (including any lump-sum upfront payments)
are allocated between the land and the building elements in
proportion to the relative fair values of the leasehold interests
in the land element and building element of the lease at the
inception of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for
as an operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease
payments on land use rights” in the consolidated statement
of financial position and is released over the lease term on a
straight-line basis.

Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are stated at cost less any
impairment loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost comprises direct materials and, where applicable,
direct labour costs and those overheads that have been
incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition. Cost is calculated using the weighted average
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling
price less all estimated cost of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from “profit before taxation” as
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income because of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that
are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
difference. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of
its assets and liabilities.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (continued)

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the
cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the
respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates)
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s entities
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e.
HK$) at the rate of exchange rate prevailing at the end of the
reporting period, and their income and expenses are
translated at the average exchange rates for the year, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in
which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any,
are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of translation
reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as
appropriate).

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants that are received or receivable as
compensation for expenses already incurred with no future
related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions. Payments made to
state-managed retirement benefit schemes are dealt with as
payments to defined contribution plans where the Group’s
obligations under the plans are equivalent to those arising in
a defined contribution retirement benefit plan.
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474 BF 7% ¥R X M 3T Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
AF+ZA=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets or liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL’) and loans and
receivables. The classification depends on the nature and
purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time
of initial recognition.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees paid or received that form an integral part
of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis
for debt instruments.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL when the financial
asset is (i) contingent consideration that may be paid by an
acquirer as part of a business combination to which HKFRS
3 applies, (i) held for trading, or (i) it is designated as at
FVTPL.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the near term; or

° on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-
taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as
a hedging instrument.

A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading
or contingent consideration that may be paid by an acquirer
as part of a business combination may be designated as at
FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

A financial asset may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial
recognition if:

o such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

o the financial asset forms part of a group of financial
assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed
and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis,
in accordance with the Group’s documented risk
management or investment strategy, and information
about the grouping is provided internally on that basis;
or

o it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKAS 39 permits the entire
combined contract (asset or liability) to be designated
as at FVTPL.
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A IS R KT 5 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEZZ—AF+=ZA=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL (continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value, with
changes in fair value arising from remeasurement recognised
directly in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. The
net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes any
dividend or interest earned on the financial assets.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and
receivables (including trade and bills receivables, other
receivables, other principal protected deposits, loans
receivable, pledged short-term bank deposits, time deposits
and bank balances and cash) are carried at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less any identified
impairment losses. The accounting policy on impairment loss
of financial assets is set out below.

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for
indicators of impairment at the end of the reporting period.
Financial assets are considered to be impaired where there is
objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events
that occurred after the initial recognition of the loans and
receivables, the estimated future cash flows of the financial
assets have been affected.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Objective evidence of impairment could include:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

° breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments; or

o it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade
receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a
collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a
portfolio of receivables could include Group’s past experience
of collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed
payments in the portfolio past the credit period, observable
changes in national or local economic conditions that
correlate with default on receivables.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)
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Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of
the impairment loss recognised is the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade and other receivables, where the carrying
amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account.
Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are
recognised in profit or loss. When the trade and other
receivables are considered uncollectible, it is written off
against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the
asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not
exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the
impairment not been recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group
entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the group
entities are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct
issue costs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (continueq)
Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.
Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities (including trade and bills payables, other
payables, amounts due to other related parties and bank and
other borrowings) are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.
If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of a transferred financial assets, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable and the cumulative
gain or loss that had been recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is
recognised in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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22T -HF+ZA=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION

UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the Directors are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year.

Estimated allowance for bad and doubtful
debts

The policy of allowance for bad and doubtful debts of the
Group is based on the evaluation of collectability and aged
analysis of accounts and on management’s judgement. A
considerable amount of judgement is required in assessing
the ultimate realisation of these receivables, including the
current creditworthiness and the past collection history of
each customer. If the financial conditions of customers of the
Group were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their
ability to make payments, additional allowance may be
required. As at 31 December 2015, the carrying amount of
the trade receivables is HK$134,655,000 (net of impairment
losses of HK$32,971,000) (2014: HK$151,108,000 (net of
impairment losses of HK$30,907,000)). Details of the
allowance for bad and doubtful debts are disclosed in note
22.

Impairment loss on properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are stated at cost less any
impairment loss. The amount of impairment loss is measured
as the difference between the carrying amount of properties
and the market value of the properties at the end of the
reporting period which was estimated by the Directors base
on the current market condition. As at 31 December 2015,
the carrying amount of the properties held for sale is
HK$2,310,000 (2014: HK$2,448,000), no impairment loss is
provided.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Estimated useful lives of property, plant and
equipment

In applying the accounting policy on property, plant and
equipment with respect to depreciation, management
estimates the useful lives of various categories of property,
plant and equipment according to the industry experiences
over the usage of property, plant and equipment and also by
reference to the relevant industry norm. If the actual useful
lives of property, plant and equipment is less than the
original estimate useful lives due to changes in commercial
and technological environment, such difference will impact
the depreciation charge for the remaining period. As at 31
December 2015, the carrying amount of the property, plant
and equipment is HK$380,880,000 (2014: HK$422,100,000).

Fair value measurements and valuation
processes

Some of the Group’s assets and liabilities are measured at
fair value for financial reporting purposes. The Directors have
to determine the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs
for fair value measurements.

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group
uses market-observable data to the extent it is available.
Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages
third party qualified valuers to perform the valuation. The
Directors work closely with the qualified external valuers to
establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to
the model.

The Group uses valuation techniques that include inputs that
are not based on observable market data to estimate the fair
value of certain types of financial instruments. Notes 6 and
25 provide detailed information about the valuation
techniques, inputs and key assumptions used in the
determination of the fair value of various assets and liabilities.
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CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to owners of the Company through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which
mainly includes the bank and other borrowings disclosed in
note 30 and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued share capital, reserves and retained
profits. The Directors review the capital structure on an
annual basis. As part of this review, the Directors consider
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class
of capital. Based on recommendations of the Directors, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through
issuance of new shares and share buy-back as well as the
issuance of new debts or the redemption of existing debts.
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6. @I H 6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
SRMIAZEHR Categories of financial instruments
ZE-AF —E-{mEF
2015 2014
FTHEx FH T
HK$’000 HK$’000
CREE Financial assets
BRBEREREATEEREREZ Financial assets at fair value through
& Bt & E (Pt 5£25) profit or loss (note 25) 82,227 —
B K W KIE Loans and receivables
BB S RIEREREE Trade and bills receivables
(Bff 522) (note 22) 295,440 307,323
H e R E (B2 R Other receivables (included in other
HbEWFKRIA - & receivables, deposits and
K T8 5 5538 ) (Bt 5523) prepayments) (note 23) 22,478 8,240
FEWCER 17 R B A Bank interest income receivable
(B8 45 7 L fh 8 Ui 5078 - (included in other receivables,
Re RBMNRIE) deposits and prepayments)
(Hf 5%23) (note 23) 2,223 115
FE W & SR (Bt 5E24) Loans receivable (note 24) - 7,605
E A RAE 773K Other principal protected deposits
(Fff 726) (note 26) 205,327 240,349
—Z BT R Amounts due from a related party
(H$ #40(c)) (note 40(c)) 157,937 167,344
BERAEPEITER Pledged short-term bank deposits 424,912 21,697
E A 77 5% (Bt 5327) Time deposits (note 27) 200,636 25,317
BITHE B KRR © (M 5E27) Bank balances and cash (note 27) 697,297 1,026,591
2,006,250 1,804,581
2,088,477 1,804,581
REHEKATEZ Financial liabilities measured at
cHEE amortised cost
FE AT B 5 R IE K JE A5 3= 4% (Bff 5128) Trade and bills payables (note 28) 103,997 100,611
E i FE T RIE Other payables (included in other
(BEREMEMKERERIEZS) payables and deposits received)
(P 7E29) (note 29) 2,295 2,016
HEBEME BER Payables for acquisition of property,
R S ROE (B 1 plant and equipment (included in
O H fth & 1< 5k I8 other payables and deposits
KB Wi <) (Kt 5529) received) (note 29) 3,905 11,080
HM st K& &R (BENEMmER Other accrued operating expenses
RERBRIZE) (included in other payables and
(B 5£29) deposits received) (note 29) 3,904 14,365
R— % B 5 7R Amounts due to a related party
(Fff 5£40(c)) (note 40(c)) 2,137 69
RIT R E & & (Mt 730) Bank and other borrowings (note 30) 777,456 442,554
893,694 570,695
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22T -HF+ZA=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (coNnTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments are listed above.
Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in the
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (interest rate risk and foreign
currency risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on
how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented in a timely and
effective manner.

Market risk
Interest rate risk

The Group’s fair value interest rate risk relates primarily to
certain fixed-rate pledged short-term bank deposits, time
deposits, loans receivable and bank and other borrowings
(see note 30 for details of these bank and other borrowings).

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk primarily relates to
variable-rate bank balances and bank and other borrowings
(see note 30 for details of these bank and other borrowings).
For interest rate linked structured deposits, which are
grouped under other principal protected deposits, interest
varies depending on the movement of the Shanghai Interbank
Offered Rate (“SHIBOR”).

The Group has not used any interest rate swaps to mitigate
its exposure associated with interest rate risk. However,
management monitors interest rate exposure and will
consider necessary actions when significant interest rate
exposure is anticipated.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial liabilities
are detailed in the liquidity risk. The Group’s cash flow
interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of
Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate and the interest rates
quoted by the People’s Bank of China arising from the
Group’s bank and other borrowings.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (coNTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based
on the exposure to interest rate for non-derivative instruments
relating to bank balances and floating-rate bank and other
borrowings at the end of the reporting period. The analysis is
prepared assuming the amount of assets and liabilities
outstanding at the end of the reporting period was
outstanding for the whole year. 200 basis points increase or
decrease for bank and other borrowings and 15 basis points
increase for bank balances represent management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest
rates. It is expected that the interest rate for bank balances
will not decrease in the next twelve months from end of the
reporting period.

If interest rates had been increased/decreased by 200 basis
points in respect of bank and other borrowings and all other
variables were held constant, the Group’s loss for the years
ended 31 December 2015 would increase/decrease by
HK$12,940,000 (2014: profit for the year would decrease/
increase by HK$4,182,000).

In addition, if interest rates had been increased by 15 basis
points in respective of bank balances and all other variables
were held constant, the Group’s loss for the years ended 31
December 2015 would decrease by HK$1,003,000 (2014:
profit for the year would increase by HK$1,485,000).

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk through its interest
rate linked structured deposits which are principal protected
and their interest varies depending on the movement of the
SHIBOR. The sensitivity analysis has been determined based
on the exposure to the fluctuation of the SHIBOR. Based on
the terms of the interest rate linked structured deposits, the
interest would be adjusted only when there is at least 320
basis points decrease (2014: 420 basis points) in the
SHIBOR. The management considers that the opportunity for
such movement is remote based on current market situation
and there is no significant change on the loss for the year
ended 31 December 2015.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (coNnTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)
Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign
exchange rate. The Group’s operations are mainly in the PRC
other than Hong Kong. As at 31 December 2015, the Group
has bank balances, amounts due to a related party and bank
and other borrowings (2014: bank balances, amounts due to
other related parties and bank and other borrowings)
denominated in HK$ which is the currency other than the
functional currency of the respective group entities. The
Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, the management monitors foreign exchange
exposure closely and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arises.

The carrying amounts of monetary assets and monetary
liabilities that are denominated in HK$, which is a currency
other than the functional currency of the group entities are as
follows:

—E-0F —ZE—mF
2015 2014

TH T T T
HK$’000 HK$'000
988,801 888,283
779,593 398,318
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (coNTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)
Foreign currency risk (continued)

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
increase and decrease in RMB against HK$. 5% sensitivity
rate represents management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in foreign exchange rate. The sensitivity
analysis includes the financial assets and financial liabilities
denominated in HKS$, and adjusts their translation at the end
of the reporting period for a 5% change in foreign currency
rate. A positive or negative number below indicates a
decrease or an increase in loss for the year (2014: an
increase or a decrease in profit for the year) where RMB
strengthen 5% against HK$. For a 5% weakening of RMB
against in HK$, there would be an equal and opposite
impact on the result for the year.

—E-HF —T—mF

2015 2014

FET FAT

HK$’000 HK$'000

REFEE Result for the year (7,845) (18,374)
FERR Credit risk

AEBENEERRIEZREBKRE SR
AREWER R LM EWKIE  EB
BREREAFEEREZSHEE
HRAREH - BWER - EHEE
HRTER ERERXRBTEHRE
o

AEERRZHFREBTEEMER
SEARYUBEBERZ&ZREERR
HEREAVBARKMINZEEE
EReMEELREE-

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and
bills and other receivables, financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, other principal protected deposits,
loans receivable, pledged short-term bank deposits, time
deposits and bank balances.

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will
cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge an obligation by the counterparties is the carrying
amount of the respective recognised financial assets as
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (coNnTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

In order to minimise credit risk, management has delegated
a team to be responsible for the determination of credit
limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. Independent companies are engaged to investigate
the credibility of customers, and guarantees or pledges of
assets provided by them on a needed basis. In addition,
management reviews the recoverable amount of each
individual trade debt, bills receivables and other receivables
regularly to ensure that adequate impairment losses are
recognised for irrecoverable amounts.

The credit risk on other principal protected deposits is limited
because they are principal protected and the issuing banks
are reputable banks with good credit ratings.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the Group’s
pledged short-term bank deposits, time deposits and bank
balances are deposited with banks of high credit ratings in
Hong Kong and the PRC.

The credit risk on the amounts due from a related party is
limited because the management of the Group determines
that the related party is in strong financial position.

Other than concentration of credit risk on liquid funds which
are deposited with several banks with high credit ratings and
on balances mentioned above, the Group does not have
significant concentration of credit risk on trade and bills and
other receivables as the exposure spread over a number of
counterparties and customers.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (coNTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The Group relies on bank borrowings as a significant
source of liquidity. Management monitors the utilisation of
bank and other borrowings.

The following tables detail the Group’s contractual maturity
for its financial liabilities. The tables have been drawn up
based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group can be
required to pay. The tables include both interest and principal
cash flows.

Liquidity and interest risk tables

mE¥H
ERA=E
Weighted ABREAS
average 3fEA REAHE
effective 2M1BA 1Z3f@A 21 1Z5F S5ENL Total REME
interest Less than 1-3 3 months 1-5 5 + undiscounted Carrying
rate 1 month months to 1 year years years  cash flows amount
TEr T#Ex TEx TExT TFTE=R TET TER
% HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
R-Z-H5%+=A At 31 December 2015
=+-H
ENES7ERERZER Trade and bills payables and
H b T 50R other payables - 55166 16,808 41,327 800 - 114,101 114,101
JE 1 SE 12 AR 2 Dividend payable to non-
R 8 controlling interest - 2,000 - - - - 2,000 2,000
RIFEERER Amounts due to non-controlling
A interests - 68 - - 69 - 137 137
RITREM Bank and other borrowings
e — %8 — variable rate 1.83 400,472 377,767 - - - 778,239 777,456
457,706 394,575 41,327 869 - 894,477 893,694
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6. ©RII A&
cREREEEERBRE)

RBESRFERBRE)

RZZE-MF+=A At 31 December 2014
=4=E

ERNES5ERERZER Trade and bills payables and
Hfth e 3E other payables

ET Amounts due to non-controlling
HE interests

TR AL Bank and other borrowings
BE - B8 — fixed rate

RITR AL Bank and other borrowings
BE - %8 — variable rate

HEBMEBE AN FERAREE
EEFMELBER - FFA LRETE
CRABENTEIAZSHENGEY -
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Liquidity and interest risk tables (continued)

MEFEH
ERRFI=
Weighted RERRE
average 3fE A MEHE
effective PR 1Z3(EA EFE  1E5F  5ENE Total  HEE
interest  Less than 1-8 3 months 1-5 5+ undiscounted  Carrying
rate 1 month months  to 1 year years years cash flows amount
TRr FEx FTEr TFiEx TER THT TEx
% HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000  HK$'000
= 62,354 33,309 31,561 848 = 128,072 128,072
= 69 = = - = 69 69
8.00 = = - 207,018 = 207,018 185,000
3.42 37,258 74,436 149,555 = = 261,249 257,554
99,681 107,745 181,116 207,366 — 596,408 570,695

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to
change, if changes in variable interest rates differ to those
estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the
reporting period.
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6. EMIA®)
EMIBECAFEETE

AW ERHEAEAEENAEESE
SHEERBEZAFEENEH -

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (coNTINUED)

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments

This note provides information about how the Group
determines fair value of various financial assets and liabilities.

AV EESR HEFEREESH
SRMEE AFEER Fair value Valuation technique and
Financial assets Fair value at hierarchy key inputs
ZE-RF —T-NF
2015 2014
TET FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
FIEEERE
Held for trading investments
&5 =t 3 HEREBRENER
Bonds 78,126 — Level 2 Price provided by a financial
institution
RBBAIN B2 IRAF 5 FE—#& % RE
Equity securities listed outside Hong Kong 4,101 — Level 1 Quoted price in market
82,227 =

REE-ZE—RAFER-_FT—NF+=A
=+ BHItFEE F—% F_HEFE
=Bt EERE -

E=ERRAEREFRAVBHRRAR
BEKAIENEREERSRAE
ZEEEEREAFEERASE -

7. WA
Ui N H5 7 Y i % 8 R AKOR R BRI

REBEBENXENHESE(BEMRITINR
sHEMBRIA)

There were no transfers among Levels 1, 2 and 3 during the
year ended 31 December 2015 and 2014.

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of the
Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at
amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values.

REVENUE

Revenue represents the sales amount from the
manufacturing and sales of cement and clinker and trading of
cement net of discount and sales related tax.

—E-EHF —E—mF
2015 2014
FHE T T T
HK$’000 HK$’000

A EMEEKE Manufacture and sales of cement
R 2t and clinker 239,934 347,131
BEEKE Trading of cement 225,805 385,994
465,739 733,125
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments” requires operating segments
to be identified on the basis of internal reports about
components of the Group that are regularly reviewed by the
chief operating decision maker in order to allocate resources
to the segment and to assess its performance.

For management purpose, the Group operates in one
business unit based on its products and service, and has
one operating segment: manufacture and sales of cement,
clinker and slag, trading of cement and provision of technical
services, if any. The chief operating decision maker monitors
the revenue, results, assets and liabilities of its business unit
as a whole based on the monthly sales reports, monthly
delivery reports and monthly management accounts, and
considers the segment assets and segment liabilities of the
Group have included all assets and liabilities as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position respectively, and
considers the segment revenue and segment results of the
Group have represented all revenue and profit for the year as
stated in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income respectively.

EBFEERNEHR Information about major products
FEERMBAIWTUWOT The revenue of the major products is analysed as follows:
— —E-F
2015 2014
FET FH& T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEMEE Manufacture and sales and
FEE: trading of:
K Cement 444,494 721,048
AR Clinker 21,245 12,077
465,739 733,125
EHEFEEFHNESR Information about major customers

HE_ZT—A&F+_A=+—HILFE "
KE—RBEFE 2W A 52,336,000/ 7T
(ZZ — 4 : 84,713,000 7T) * 515
fRARE B U A Z10% A E -

TOO —ZT—AFFHR ANNUAL REPORT 2015

For the year ended 31 December 2015, revenue from a
customer amounting to HK$52,336,000 (2014:
HK$84,713,000) individually represented more than 10% of
the Group’s revenue.
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CcONTINUED)

Geographical information

9. OTHER INCOME

As all the Group’s revenue is derived from customers based
in the PRC and all the Group’s non-current assets are
principally located in the PRC by location of assets, no
geographical segment information is presented.

Interest income from banks

Interest income from loans
receivable

Interest income from a non-
controlling shareholder of the
Group’s subsidiary

Subsidy income

Overprovision of open offer
expenses

Write-off of other payables and
deposits received

Sundry income

10. FINANCE COSTS

Interests on following borrowings:
Bank loans
Other borrowing

Loans arrangement fee

Loans guarantee fee

—E—HF —E—mF
2015 2014
FET FE& T
HK$’000 HK$'000
6,607 657
1,317 1,652
8,184 4,584
23,298 18,995
360 —
1,637 —
3,469 2,849
44,872 28,737
—E-EHF —EF—mF
2015 2014
FET F& T
HK$’000 HK$’000
11,155 7,130
3,609 7,664
2,035 —
1,922 —
18,721 14,794

Bt & 7K Je 2 B A R 2 7] ALLIED CEMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED
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11. EE - EERSREEBEAER 11. DIRECTORS’, EMPLOYEES’ AND SENIOR

B < MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS
REEZEERRREREABRER Directors’ and senior management for the year, disclosed
BEMARBRBBEREEFIHEERT pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance is as follows:
EEME Directors’ emoluments
ENKEMNtER(CE—NHE: +8)K The remuneration paid or payable to each of the seven
RAEEZEZHME T : (2014: ten) directors of the Company were as follows:
—E-HEF
2015
e
BREER
H 1t 52 Fl Bk FI
Salaries/ EXRBEFE BT
service ZIEAL Retirement
EE=WE fee and Performance benefits B4
Directors’ other related scheme Total
fees Dbenefits bonuses contributions emoluments
FHExT FET FHET FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
HITES: Executive Directors:
= AT A Mr. Huang Yu 10 600 24 - 634
(Kiita)
(note a)
=HE/EE Mr. Ng Qing Hai 10 2,730 1,180 126 4,046
(Bts#b)
(note b)
B S Mr. Deng Jinguang 10 347 24 - 381
(Hita)
(note a)
BILFEHT Independent Non-
2= Executive Directors:
fRB L E Mr. Chan Sze Chun 10 79 - - 89
SR I MY 5 A Mr. Zhang Ruibin 10 79 - - 89
RESEHLA Mr. Zhang Junxi Jack’ 4 29 - - 33
RN R A Mr. Li Shujie’ 6 50 - - 56
60 3,914 1,228 126 5,328
H-_ET—AFENA-t+—HEZ-ZT—FH ° From 21 August 2015 to 31 December 2015.
FE+-A=+—H-
g H-E—AF—A—HE=ZT—AFN ’ From 1 January 2015 to 21 August 2015.
A=+—H8-
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HEZZ—AF+=ZA=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

11. EE - EERSREEBEAER 11. DIRECTORS’, EMPLOYEES’ AND SENIOR

<z MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)
BEEME (2 Directors’ emoluments (continued)
=== —mfEE
2014
e/
R 7% & K&
E b 48 A RKAE A
Salaries/  ZXRBEFTE 5T 8 K
service ZIEAL Retirement
FEEMWE feeand Performance benefits B & 48 58
Directors’ other related scheme Total
fees benefits bonuses  contributions  emoluments
F#& T FHET F#& T FHET FHET
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BITESE: Executive Directors:
EHASLAE Mr. Huang Yu® 8 252 = = 260
=HFEEE Mr. Ng Qing Hai 10 2,676 1,403 123 4,212
(K1 i#b)
(note b)
B s e Mr. Deng Jinguang® 8 252 = = 260
M Mr. Li Chi Kong* 2 53 — 2 57
R E Mr. Yu Zhong* 2 119 36 15 172
(Kiite)
(note ¢)
B FEHAT Independent Non-
E=E Executive Directors:
PR BB S & Mr. Chan Sze Chung 10 79 — — 89
BRI KA Mr. Li Shujie” 4 35 = = 39
5% 3 2 5 A2 Mr. Zhang Ruibin” 4 35 = = 39
ER R AR SR Mr. Cheng Kin Chung* 6 57 = = 63
155 ) AR 2 £+ Ms. Doris Yang Yan Tung* 6 44 — - 50
60 3,602 1,439 140 5,241
@ H-Z-—WE=ATHEEE-ZT—MNF © From 15 March 2014 to 31 December 2014.
+=—A=+—H-
& BT —OME—A—HE=-FT—NmF= 5 From 1 January 2014 to 15 March 2014.
A+#&HB-
" =T WNFt+tA=-+MNBEE=ZF—NQN " From 24 July 2014 to 31 December 2014.
F+=—A=+—8-
S H=E—WNF—A—RAE=-ZFT—NF+t + From 1 January 2014 to 24 July 2014.
AZ=+mA -

AERRZHITESHEZEE R
ARBIRAEBEEMRERHEZRESR
B MR EPARZ B IERITESH
MEZRREEARBDEFTMAREMZ

REBEE_T-RAFF_FT-MNF+_H
=t -REFE BERESRETAMN

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were
mainly for their services in connection with the management
of the affairs of the Company and the Group, while the
independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown
kB - above were mainly for their services as directors of the
Company.

None of the Directors waived any emoluments during the
years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014.
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11. EE - EERSREEBEAER
[0 A ),
BEEME 2
B 5 -
(@) SRENIEFRNEMEL N FIHEBES

ZAI—FEBEWIBEL -

() SBINEENCHETNTEEZA
—FEBRBREARAEBEHEZE
BRIEAT -

© EBENEFACHAELNTERZA

—EFEBRBISIEAL AEHE R B S
Z BEBRIEAT »
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11. DIRECTORS’, EMPLOYEES’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Directors’ emoluments (continued)
Notes:

(@) The amount represented the actual discretionary bonus of the
preceding year approved and paid to the respective Directors
during the year.

(b) The amount represented the actual discretionary bonus of the
preceding year and the actual bonus on monthly target scheme
approved and paid to the Director during the year.

(c) The amount represented the actual discretionary bonus of the
preceding year and the actual bonus on monthly sales incentive
scheme approved and paid to the Director during the year.
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i Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEZZ—AF+=ZA=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

DIRECTORS’, EMPLOYEES’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS (CcONTINUED)

Employees’ emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, one (2014: one) were the directors of the Company
whose emoluments are included in the disclosure above. The
emoluments of the remaining four (2014: four) highest paid
individuals for the year ended 31 December 2015 were as

follows:

Salaries and other benefits
Performance related bonuses

Retirement benefits scheme
contributions

= —E—OE
2015 2014
FET FE T
HK$’000 HK$'000
3,806 2,589

230 894

225 305

4,261 3,788

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

= 5 —FmF

2015 2014

EE®HE E B &8 H

Number of Number of

employees employees

1,000,000 7T 8k LA T~ HK$1,000,000 or below 2 3
1,000,001,% 7t £1,500,0007% 7T HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 2 1

REBEE_ZF-—AF+_A=T—HLHF
B -AEESMEALEESHMA L
NEAME(CT—HEFE &) UER
5| 8% % 0 A SR AN A K & B 1% B $ie
B o

During the year ended 31 December 2015, no emoluments
(2014: Nil) were paid by the Group to the five highest paid
individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the

Group.
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11. EE - EERSREEAE
[ heACP)

BREEAEME

AEESRERAERELE(ZE—
OF: +R)BARAEFAHES @ ¥
FEZHEERLEXTURE - BHE_T
—RAFTZA=T—HBIEFE  E&HX
2(CE-—EOFEARALTZHE W

1.

DIRECTORS’, EMPLOYEES’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS (cOonTINUED)

Senior management’s emoluments

Of the senior management of the Group, seven (2014: ten)
were the directors or former directors of the Company whose
emoluments are included in the disclosure above. The
emoluments of the remaining six (2014: nine) individuals for
the year ended 31 December 2015 were as follows:

T

—E-hF —E-mF
2015 2014
F&T FHE T
HK$’000 HK$'000
& kA b 1E A Salaries and other benefits 4,625 3,000
BRBETEZIEA Performance related bonuses 369 782

iR K AE F 5T & Retirement benefits scheme
HR contributions 309 233
5,303 4,015

HEMe M FT5I8EE :

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

—E—TfF —T—EF

2015 2014

EEHE EE#HA

Number of Number of

employees employees

1,000,000/ 7L 3k A T HK$1,000,000 or below 4 8
1,000,001/ 7T 21,500,000 7T HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 2 1

RAFHREHZAEBTRERASZ
BERAERIEFEREFIESFR
EREEANBZEAER]—HHE -

—ZE—HFEF 3 ANNUAL REPORT 2015

The biographies of members of the senior management of
the Group at the date of this annual report are disclosed in
the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management” in the Directors’ Report of this annual
report.
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1.

DIRECTORS’, EMPLOYEES’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS (CcONTINUED)

Senior management’s emoluments (continued)

The performance related bonuses included an incentive
scheme adopted by the Company’s certain subsidiaries,
namely Shanghai Allied Cement Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai SAC”),
Shandong Allied Wangchao Cement Limited (“Allied
Wangchao”) and Shandong Shanghai Allied Cement Co., Ltd.
(“Shandong SAC”). Criteria on the incentive scheme are:

Amount of profits

Average cost of production

Quantities of cement and clinker produced
Electricity consumption

Coal consumption

Aggregate amount of aging debts

Sales volume

@"oo0CTw

Each company bases on its annual budgeted performance to
set its targets. If pre-set targets are achieved in a particular
month, all staff will be entitled to performance related bonus
as determined for in each target level as well as on
individual’'s assessed performance during the subject month.

i IE 12. TAXATION
=2 —5ae —E—E
2015 2014
FTET FAET
HK$’000 HK$'000
MIE (X H)E LB : The (charge) credit comprises:
BVEA R 18 Current tax
— REBREMEH — PRC Enterprise Income Tax (4,766) (27,026)
— BBHEH — Hong Kong Profits Tax (19) 19)
(4,785) (27,045)
BAFE 2 (BETE)BERME  (Under) over provision in prior years
— FEPEREH — PRC Enterprise Income Tax (439) 1136
i 3E 7% 78 (B 7E34) Deferred tax (note 34) 2,395 7,826
(2,829) (18,083)
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12. BiE (&)

TECEMSRLIZERBRENBR
AZHEAE - REPBEREEES - —
REFBEMKT W ERA B ILREH
MREEZMBLRR B -T—RF#E
AZEEEEMEISY - RPBEKL 2 H
L B B8 2 ] AN 4R R 2 53 A B R 15 73 26%
—F— 5 25%) c —RRFEEM
Rz M B AR R BEEMAERK
fEET—EPEMNE QRGNS
ARPEBITZEHRKAE o

FENSHMEFE R G ERD
i M 2 16.5% 5T & ©

AFEEHAXHESEBREREME
W s R A Z R B A S N SRR T

12.

TAXATION (coNTINUED)

The PRC Enterprise Income Tax is calculated at the rates
applicable to respective subsidiaries. According to the PRC
tax laws and regulations, a subsidiary established in the PRC,
which was recognised as the New and High Technology
Enterprise in Shandong Province, is entitled to enjoy the
preferential tax rate at 15% since 2015. The applicable tax
rate for other subsidiaries established in the PRC is 25% for
the year (2014: 25%). The PRC Enterprise Income Tax for a
subsidiary incorporated in Hong Kong is calculated at the
withholding tax rate prevailing in the PRC on the interest
income from lendings to a PRC subsidiary.

16.5%

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at of the

estimated assessable profits for both years.

The taxation charge for the year can be reconciled to the
profit before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

—¥-1F —FTmmF
2015 2014
THExT FE T
HK$°000 HK$’000
Br 7% A1 (B 18) )& 7 (Loss) profit before taxation (26,985) 46,107
L A FT 15 5 B R25% (—ZZ — P Tax credit (charge) at the domestic
F:05%) T HE 2 HIBE R income tax rate of 25% (2014:
() 25%) 6,746 (11,527)
AR EZE 2 Tax effect of expenses not
MR & deductible for tax purpose (5,309) (4,255)
BAERMKA Z Tax effect of income not taxable for
WA & tax purpose 4,402 24
RIERZHIBBEZ Tax effect of tax losses
MIBE not recognised (8,717) (1,576)
EE AR AR R L& Effect of different tax rates of
)= /NG| subsidiaries operating in
ZREMEZ & other jurisdictions 557 557
RoIREF 2 Withholding tax on
TEHI L undistributed earnings 356 5,504
FIkKEZ PRC withholding tax upon
B FE R dividend declared (563) (7,404)
BAFE 2 (BETR)BEEME (Under) over_provision in prior years (439) 1,136
HAh Others 138 (542)
REEBIEZ H Taxation charge for the year (2,829) (18,083)

BARBREERNTFELEZTERE
RBEVZEEBE -

—ZT—AFFHR ANNUAL REPORT 2015

The domestic tax rate represents the statutory tax rate of the

major group companies operating in the PRC.
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13. REE(F#8)&EF

13. (LOSS) PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

—F-IF —F-0F
2015 2014
FET FE T
HK$’000 HK$'000
NEE(E5E) m A T E kR (Loss) profit for the year has been
arrived at after charging:
BTEH Staff costs (including Directors’
(BREEEMWE) emoluments)
FekEMER Salaries and other costs 25,517 27,458
RAKAE A 5T & Contributions to retirement
HK benefits schemes 4,198 4,158
29,715 31,616
1% EAD B & Auditor’s remuneration 974 966
BRAEZHMTFEKAR Cost of inventories recognised as
expenses 435,852 663,039
WiEFEE 2 EE Loss on write-off of inventories
(BERIEEXARNA) (included in cost of sales) 5,685 —
FRUEHE 2 # 35 Amortisation of mining right
(BER (included in administrative
THRERA) expenses) 278 230
Y- BER Depreciation of property, plant and
R E equipment 22,888 21,759
BiERITERE Total amortisation and depreciation 23,166 21,989
THEE R 2 Release of prepaid lease payments
A EFRIEE T on land use rights 195 198
HERMEDE  MEKLKZEZ Net loss on disposal and write-off of
&5 18 = property, plant and equipment 1,697 524
L Pl S Operating lease rentals in respect of
HEM® premises 1,161 1,075

REE-_ZET—AF+_A=+—HItF
B AEBRAAEEREERSTH
—BAA RIS A A AR 7% & 8,061,000
B0 (ZZ— P4 : 8,028,000/ 7T) © 7%
ERBEERFA LXMW ETE A
4AEE o

)

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group paid
HK$8,061,000 (2014: HK$8,028,000) services fee to a
personnel services company providing temporary labours to
the Group. Such amounts are excluded from the total staff
costs as mentioned on above.
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14.

15.

BER(ER)BR

ARABREHZBRERNER)E
MIIRBE AT BURFHE

14.

(LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic (loss) earnings per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

—E—EHF —E—mF
2015 2014
THER FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
(E5HE) &R (Loss) earnings
Bt ESREN(EIB) AT 2 (Loss) earnings for the purpose of
(E518) & F basic (loss) earnings per share
(RRARIER (loss) profit for the year
JEAE RNFE attributable to owners of
(E518) 8 F1) the Company) (34,237) 17,280
— —E-NF
2015 2014
114 %
Shares Shares
i - QE| Number of shares
ARGt ESRER(EE) Weighted average number of
B 2 &R ordinary shares for the purpose of
N < 15 8L basic (loss) earnings per share 4,950,000,000 3,999,617,086
BREAR(ER) BN 2L AR E T The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the

BEERNARREHTEBRMETE
VERR-_Z-—HF-RETIERRK
TRAR (TR 4l D) i S8 2 -

B IR R ] R R R S HR R 3 4 R AT
MR B T m A - BRI L W fE
B2 Ek#EE(ER) AF -

@S

AR EFE((EFR) TERKME
E_T-RF+-A=+—HBILFEX
RS (CE-—HEF: &)

RAFE AR EE SRR HE A IR
BT —mF &)

—ZT—AFFHR ANNUAL REPORT 2015

15.

purpose of basic (loss) earnings per share has been
determined on the basis that the ordinary shares of the
Company have been in issue and adjusted for the effect of
the subdivision of the ordinary shares in January 2015 (the
“Share Subdivision”).

No diluted (loss) earnings per share has been presented for
both years as there was no outstanding potential ordinary
share during both years and at the end of the reporting
periods.

DIVIDEND

The board of directors of the Company (“Board”) does not
recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2015 (2014: Nil).

No dividend was declared or paid by the Company during
the year (2014: Nil).
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16. W% BMERRKRHE

LES
R-F-mE—A-A
wa

B

EH AR
BEREER

R-FE-WE+=-A=+—H
EXARYE

HE

i R 8

EFOR

BERERE

R-F-AF+=-A=+—H

5%
HW=g-mE-A-8
KRR

B S B

RZZE-—WNE+=-A=+—H
EXREYE

AEEEE
U5 T 3 6 s 4 8
RZZE-—AF+=-A=+—8

REE
R-ZE-AF+=-A=+—8

R-F-mEt-A=+-A

COSsT

At 1 January 2014
Additions

Disposals and write-off
Reclassification

Adjustment for overprovision

At 31 December 2014

Effect of exchange adjustments
Additions

Disposals and write-off
Reclassification

Adjustment for overprovision

At 31 December 2015

DEPRECIATION

At 1 January 2014

Provided for the year

Eliminated on disposals and write-off

At 31 December 2014

Effect of exchange adjustments
Provided for the year

Eliminated on disposals and write-off

At 31 December 2015

CARRYING VALUES
At 31 December 2015

At 31 December 2014

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

ES/E S

BFR ES

BEY Furniture,

Buildings HEHRE BERHS ERIR fixtures RE

and Leasehold Plant and Construction and Motor B
structures impro ts hinery in progress equipment vehicles Total
FET FET FET FERL FET FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
243,827 4,099 256,519 29,882 5,096 8,564 547,987
13,766 - 1,190 13,226 237 1,471 29,890
- - (643) - (459) (1,411) 2,513)
18,645 - 4,394 (23,687) 648 e -
(52) - - n - - (52)
276,186 4,099 261,460 19,421 5,622 8,624 575,312
(15,509) (230) (14,758) (1,091) (306) (484) (32,378)
1,111 - 4,085 7,889 341 1,174 14,600
- (515) (12,216) - (220) (1,526) (14,477)
15,386 = 2,972 (20,340 1,982 — -
(6,501) - - 3 - = (6,501)
270,673 3,354 241,643 5,879 7,319 7,788 536,556
33,591 845 90,735 = 3,433 4,714 133,318
7,202 128 12,850 = 418 1,161 21,759
- - (247) - #13) (1,208) (1,865)
40,793 973 103,338 - 3,438 4,670 153,212
(2,643) (60) (6,391) - (221) (313) (9,628)
7,886 126 12,818 - 730 1,328 22,888
- (496) 8,971) - (194) (1,135) (10,796)
46,036 543 100,794 - 3,753 4,550 165,676
224,637 2,811 140,749 5,879 3,566 3238 380,880
235,393 3,126 158,122 19,421 2,084 3,954 422,100
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B

16. ¥  -BERRE#®)

17.

AEWE - BB RERE(ERETERIN
TIABBERUNTEXRFTE:

BFREZEY 2.5%-9%
HEEE 4.5%-18%
R 5 K i 25 5%-9%
Rifh - HEREZHE 9%—20%
RE 18%—33.3%

AEENEFUNTEREFHBEY
FAECHE LM -

R-ZZE—RF+-_A=+—H K&EH
5 5 H 8% /(B A& ££ 4133,907,0005 7T
(ZZ—P 4 : 139,914,000 7T) I E 5
MEEMAREE RS - LS —
T8 §R 17 B 7£25,440,000/8 L (==& — Y
F 1 25,422,000/ 7T) K [m) 4 JE 7 e L B
7+ 22 #569,249,000/8 T (=& — U £ -
64,067,000/ Jt) 18 B & 52 57 4R 77 @
ﬁ o

RERMECES
B EBMER=—_ZE——FALA=-1+/\H

SN CIEEEWS  WBERTRER
#es o R (E A A RE380,000,0007T
(18 & 1 49454,002,000/ 7t (=& — M
£F 1 481,018,000/ L)) - —IHEE E %
HTIBEZREBERMEEERKAR
R EEHERAEBZFKELEER
MmEREE((AREBEE]D AEERK
ARAR R EIEZE R E R E B ER
B-W=FE—RAF+=-A=+—H £
BEBESN=EEERZEE TAKE
ZEEBMNRE £ AREGS,270,0007T
—ZT—4F : A R#¥68,270,0007T)(+8
B R #981,565,0008 T (— & — /4 4 -
86,418,000/ 7L)) - K H B H WA R
AHBORNA—ZE——F+A=BK=
E——F+—A+HEBZAERBKR
MG 6 IR R M 7E38 ©
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16.

17.

22T -HF+ZA=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

The above property, plant and equipment other than
construction in progress are depreciated on a straight-line
basis at the following rates per annum:

Buildings and structures 2.5%-9%
Leasehold improvements 4.5%-18%
Plant and machinery 5%-9%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 9%-20%

Motor vehicles 18%—33.3%

The buildings of the Group are situated on the leasehold land
in the PRC.

At 31 December 2015, the Group pledged its buildings and
structures and plant and machinery with aggregate carrying
amount of HK$133,907,000 (2014: HK$139,914,000) to secure
for a bank loan of HK$25,440,000 (2014: HK$25,422,000)
and short-term bank facilities in respect of the issuance of
bills payable to suppliers amounting to HK$69,249,000 (2014:
HK$64,067,000).

DEPOSITS FOR EQUIPMENT AND
MACHINERIES

On 28 September 2012, Shanghai SAC entered into three
purchase agreements for the purchases of certain equipment
and machineries at the aggregate consideration of
RMB380,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$454,002,000 (2014: HK$481,013,000)). The equipment
and machineries under the three purchase agreements were
purchased for future use in the development of new cement
production facilities at Bailonggang, Pudong, Shanghai
(“Bailonggang Project”) and the Group and the Company
does not intend to retain such equipment and machineries
for their own use. As at 31 December 2015, Shanghai SAC
has settled the respective first payments of the total
consideration in an aggregate amount of RMB68,270,000
(2014: RMB68,270,000) (equivalent to approximately
HK$81,565,000 (2014: HK$86,418,000)) under the three
purchase agreements. Details of the transaction were set out
in the announcement and circular of the Company dated 3
October 2012 and 15 November 2012 respectively and note
38 to these consolidated financial statements.
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18. T HfEF A2 BN A ERKE 18. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS ON LAND

USE RIGHTS
—ZE—AfF —T-MEF
2015 2014
THER FET
HK$°000 HK$'000
T AR 2 FEAT The prepaid lease payments
HEREBE: on land use rights comprise:
FEFEAOT Leasehold land in the PRC
ZHEEE T under medium-term lease 6,872 7477
MMEMIEL 2D Analysed for reporting purposes as:
ERE Non-current 6,685 7,279
B Current 187 198
6,872 1,477
HE T AE R EREEF &R FH The leasehold land is released on a straight-line basis over
B - the remaining term of leases.
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HEZZ—AF+=ZA=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

19. BRREHE 19. MINING RIGHT
FHET
HK$’'000
24 COST
R-ZE—MNFE—H—H At 1 January 2014 9,345
NE Addition 2,406
RZE—NF+=—A=+—H At 31 December 2014 11,751
EHRAETE Effect on exchange adjustments (660)
—HFE+-_A=+—H At 31 December 2015 11,091
sy AMORTISATION
R-ZE—MHFE—H—H At 1 January 2014 1,651
NE E R Charge for the year 230
R-ZZE—NHF+=_A=+—H At 31 December 2014 1,881
fEHAEE Effect on exchange adjustments (118)
NE E R Charge for the year 278
RZZE-—RF+=-HA=+—~1 At 31 December 2015 2,041
IR B CARRYING VALUE
RZZE—RF+=-HA=+—A1H At 31 December 2015 9,050
RZZE—NFE+=A=+—8H At 31 December 2014 9,870
AR E Y AR AR IS 0 4 % 8 A The license period for the mining of limestone quarry located
AR M BB AR T A 2R 1054 & 51 in the PRC is renewable for a maximum year of 10 years
(A HLATEBHRS04E) o E I - BB RE Y% each time for 50 years with minimal charges. Accordingly,
H 4555 R E S S al{E B & 2508 N the mining right is amortised on a straight-line over its
4 o estimated useful life of 50 years.
20. sy Ey % 20. PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE
4 A THIE (T AR R 2 ¥ o The balance represented properties located in the PRC.
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A IS R KT 5 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEZZ—AF+=ZA=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

21. & 21. INVENTORIES
—E—HF —E—OF
2015 2014
FET FHE T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEBETIER : Inventories consist of the following:
JR KL Raw materials 20,202 31,735
£ 8 i Work in progress 274 415
2 X i Finished goods 13,854 7,939
34,330 40,089
22. ERESZFFRERERERE 22. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES
—E-EHF —F—mF
2015 2014
TE T FHET
HK$°000 HK$'000
fEW & 5 K18 Trade receivables 167,626 182,015
B EWE 5 R IR Less: Allowance for trade
e receivables (32,971) (30,907)
134,655 151,108
fEWE & Bills receivables 160,785 156,215
295,440 307,323
EREEBERAESE ZE SRR Included in bills receivables are bankers’ acceptances,
W RSB ITR N EE « BgEAH EZAN commercial acceptances and post-dated cheques from the
HBRZE o Group’s trade customers.

i & K JE £ 1% B Bk 2 @] ALLIED CEMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED 1 15
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22, EWESRERERERE 2

REBZBREAELTHESEE — K
NTF120BE1FTFZ2EEH - RIRE
HABREREAHZ2I 2 BKREFH K
BEREKEE(FGRREERB) ZE
ROMMT

A IS R KT 5 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEZZ—AF+=ZA=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

22. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

The Group has a policy of allowing its trade customers credit
periods normally ranging from 120 days to 1 year. The aged
analysis of trade and bills receivables, net of allowance for
bad and doubtful debts, is presented based on the invoice
date at the end of the reporting period as follows:

—E-IF —E-mF

2015 2014

FET FE T

HK$’000 HK$'000

0ZE90H 0 to 90 days 161,123 195,380
91&180H 91 to 180 days 59,782 66,456
181%=365H 181 to 365 days 47,388 32,932
HBiE1F Over 1 year 27,147 12,555
295,440 307,323

EZRMTAHZTLA  NEESFG
BEEPZEEEZNEERPZE
ERE -EFZRBELEFDEFRT
MR ° #191% (ZF — 04 : #)96%) K
REHIBR B 1R 1O B W E 5 3R IR I B IR
EYEAHIRE AEEEEER
A MBERIY EBHRE &
WESHRENEREBREHRNEEE
ERif - ARFEPEASEZARY
BIERE -

R-E—RE+-_A=1+—0 K&EH
2 FEWE S FIE & B I 4 e B AR R
REFRE BEIM A S B I &R E
BEENERER REBE£EA
27147,000/% 7T (= Z —PU4E : 12,555,000
BT °

—ZT—AFFHR ANNUAL REPORT 2015

Before accepting any new customer, the Group will assess
the potential customer’s credit quality and define credit limits
by customer. Limits and scoring attributed to customers are
reviewed twice a year. Approximately 91% (2014:
approximately 96%) of the trade and bills receivables after
allowance were neither past due nor impaired. Management
of the Group is of the opinion that the credit quality of the
trade and bills receivables balances that are neither past due
nor impaired at the end of the reporting period is of good
quality and these customers have long term relationship with
the Group.

At 31 December 2015, included in the Group’s trade and bills
receivables balances are debtors with aggregate carrying
amount of HK$27,147,000 (2014: HK$12,555,000) which are
past due at the end of the reporting period for which the
Group has not provided for impairment loss.



A IS R KT 5 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEZZ—AF+=ZA=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

22 BEWESHEREWEE #  22. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

RWERS BB RREEWKE The following is an aged analysis of trade and bills
SHRERERER 2 REDTIT receivables that were past due at the end of the reporting
period but not impaired:
—E-hF —E-mF
2015 2014
THER FH T
HK$’000 HK$'000
B A1F Over 1 year 27,147 12,555
EWEBESZIEZEmMECSHET YR The carrying amount of the trade receivables is after netting
B B off the following impairment allowances:
—ZE—REF —E—OE
2015 2014
TER FH T
HK$’000 HK$'000
F ) 4 Balance at beginning of the year 30,907 29,377
fEH =R Exchange difference (2,460) =
B E YL SR IR T R Impairment losses recognised
BB 518 on receivables 18,274 1,530
fERE A INE R BEMEE 27 E  Amounts written off as uncollectible (13,750) —
32,971 30,907
R=Z—HF+=-A=+—H8 REE At 31 December 2015, included in the allowance for bad and
B 5 R B 48 4 8 532,971,000/ TT doubtful debts are individually impaired trade receivables with
—Z — U4 : 30,907,000 7T) K9 {& 7 an aggregate balance of HK$32,971,000 (2014:
ERERKESRE  ZEE&H#BRE HK$30,907,000) which included amounts in dispute with
HE AT 2 RIS KRB B debtors or amounts have been placed under liquidation and
FEEYRZ RIE - AREE WK HZ in severe financial difficulties. The Group does not hold any
LEBFEEMERR - collateral over these balances.

it & 7K Je 2 B% A R /2 7] ALLIED CEMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED 1 17
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HEZZ—AF+=ZA=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

23.

24,

HttEWRIE - ZERFER

MIE PREPAYMENTS
) L FE 7 A K Advance to suppliers

BffES Deposits paid

TES R IE Prepayments

Hh & 4 KR (M )

& U S B Y

& U SR 77 LB A

B sk AT E fih FE R FRIE AR B3 —TE R IR SR IE
% %8 514,337,000/ T (=& — 10 4F:

i Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Other receivables (Note)
Value added tax receivable
Bank interest income receivable

23. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND

—E-HF —T—mF
2015 2014
THT FHE T
HK$’000 HK$'000
17,514 41,383
543 228
8,384 11,491
22,478 8,240
- 639

2,223 115
51,142 62,146

i) C HTVRFRRE6% (ZE—0F: &) receivables.
FE W& =& 24. LOANS RECEIVABLE

P& W & X
FE A R

Loans receivable
Reverse repurchase agreements
Loan notes

—ZE-HFEF WM ANNUAL REPORT 2015

Note: There is a receivable amounting to HK$14,337,000 (2014: Nil)
carrying interest at 6% (2014: Nil) per annum included in other

—E—EHF —EF—mF
2015 2014

TH T T T
HK$°000 HK$'000
- 7,605

— 7,605




A IS R KT 5 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE-Z

24, EIWE R (&)
(@) EEBEEE
RBE-T—FE+-A=+—

(b)

Elﬁﬁﬁ $$lf’ﬂ%ﬁ@ﬁ§ﬁ
BB EBBEISHEIMNUAAR
BT E AeBBEAEARE
537,700, ooo;ﬂm é.=".? n
642,413,000/ 7o) (= F — U 4 :
A E #968,700,0007T (18 &
1226203000%75)) £l B Hf
NFE—Z=_F+N\KX FENER
0.45% %£23.00% (= & — PO 4 :
1.37% 2£10.40%) Z &5 E # R [0
BRH  ZEYEBARK S E
BB R N E YR IE R A% AR AR
HIBR o

i
M

”‘i_m

REBEE-_E—FRE+-_A=+—
BIEFE Ae@BEABARK
543,700,000t (# & ®H
649,582,000/ 7o) (=& — /4 £F :
A R #0962,700,0007T (18 & R
1,218,608,000/%8 JT)) Z 3 Bl & &
EEEHMEER -

EXRE

REE_ZTE—AF+_A=+—
BIEFE  ANEBERBE ST
8 N4 #4258 51,370,000,00078
o AR A—EANEE R
B EBEBEFELEN F1R0.58%
£090% c ZEERZERH A
8 TR N JE USRI T 4% B 8 AR AR
HIER o

REBEE-_ZE—AF+-_A=1+—
B IE & F K& BB A
1,370,000,000/ 8 T E E 2 ED
FE R ER o

—hAF+ZA=+—HLIFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

24. LOANS RECEIVABLE (coNTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Reverse repurchase agreements

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group,
as the reverse repo party, entered into pledge-style
bond repo transactions that were denominated in RMB
with the aggregate principal amount of
RMB537,700,000 (equivalent to HK$642,413,000) (2014:
RMB968,700,000 (equivalent to HK$1,226,203,000)
through the Shanghai Stock Exchange with maturity
periods from 1 day to 28 days and carried interest
ranged from 0.45% to 23.00% (2014: 1.37% to 10.40%)
per annum. Such reverse repurchase agreements are
classified as loans and receivables and stated at
amortised cost.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, reverse
repurchase agreements with aggregate principal amount
of RMB543,700,000 (equivalent to HK$649,582,000)
(2014: RMB962,700,000 (equivalent to HK$1,218,608,000))
had matured and been redeemed.

Loan notes

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group
subscribed for fixed coupon notes that were
denominated in HK$ with the aggregate principal
amount of HK$1,370,000,000 with maturity period of
one month. The fixed coupon notes carried interest
ranged from 0.58% to 0.90% per annum. Such loan
notes are classified as loans and receivables and are
stated at amortised cost.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, fixed

coupon notes with aggregate principal amount of
HK$1,370,000,000 had matured and been redeemed.
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i Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HEZZ—AF+=ZA=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

25. ZRERRRAFEEEREE

25. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

ZERMEE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
—E-hF —E-mF
2015 2014
F&T FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
BEEERE Held for trading investments
BE% Bonds 78,126 —
RAEB LA Equity securities listed outside
Tz AR FE 5 Hong Kong 4,101 —
82,227 =
(@) &% (@) Bonds

(b)

REBEZ2-_ZT—HF+—_A=+—H
EEE AREBUAKELES
10,287,000 7t (18 & 1479,338,000
BT WEE LA E TTEHE - SR T EIHE
HAfH B 46Z541E A & B A38.25%
BA00%21EZ - ZEEH WD LE
B EEERE - ThERAEE
EHEEZSELSRERBE S
i o

REBUINET 2 RAEE S

REBEBAIN LT 2 BRARE 27T 1%
NFEEIR - ZSEAFEET
REEBXSAMBZTHE A
BEE -

—ZE—HFEF 3 ANNUAL REPORT 2015

(b)

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group
acquired for bonds that were denominated in United
States dollars with the acquisition amount of
US$10,237,000 (equivalent to HK$79,338,000) with
remaining maturity period of 46 to 54 months and
carried coupon interest rates at 3.25% to 4.00% per
annum. The bonds are classified as held for trading
investment since the Group intended to hold the bonds
in short term and liquid purpose.

Equity securities listed outside Hong
Kong

Equity securities listed outside Hong Kong are stated at
fair value which is determined based on the quoted
market bid price available on the relevant exchanges.
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26. HittR A EFRK

26. OTHER PRINCIPAL PROTECTED

DEPOSITS
—E—EHF —E—mF
2015 2014
F&T FA& T
HK$’000 HK$'000
H R AR H Other principal protected
= deposits
F == £} 8 Interest rate linked structured
EBETEXR deposits 205,327 240,349
H i F R Other deposit - —
205,327 240,349

(a)

NRHBEBUEER

REZE—E—FHF+-_A=+—H
WFE  AEEE—EIRITAI A
AREAE AeRBBAEARK
328,500,0007T (16 & 72392,473,000
B ZE — 0 F: AR
718,800,000t (48 & 1 909,873,000
Bon) ElEEE N T —2 5@
A FBNTFRB875%E4.80% (—
TP : 470%25.15%) Z R AHY
R LR IETE R -

REZE—Z=—FHF+-_A=+—H
TEEE A& BEAEARE
344,500,0007T (#8 & 72411,589,000
B ZE — 0 F: AR
702,800,000t (8 & #2889,620,000
BIL) 2 BT RE RS REE
B -R-_ZFE—RHFF+-_A=+—H
ZESIERHAN T —NFE—
AE-_T—RE-_A(ZZE—MmF:
—E-RFE-AZE-_ZF—HF/\A)
ZEBMETER -

ZERBEGTRZMNERNE LE
R 17 ] A 36 AR A 3R 8 B T %
B 2FEBUEETIRIELE
TR Ko & Wk IR I 4 B 5H K A )
HE o

(a)

Interest rate linked structured deposits

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group
entered into principal protected interest rate linked
structured deposits that were denominated in RMB with
the aggregate principal amount of RMB328,500,000
(equivalent to HK$392,473,000) (2014: RMB718,800,000
(equivalent to HK$909,873,000) with a bank with
maturity periods ranging from one month to six months
and carried interest ranged from 3.75% to 4.80%
(2014: 4.70% to 5.15%) per annum.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, structured
deposits with aggregate principal amount of
RMB344,500,000 (equivalent to HK$411,589,000) (2014:
RMB702,800,000 (equivalent to HK$889,620,000)) had
matured and been redeemed. The balance as at 31
December 2015 represented structured deposits with
maturity dates ranging from January 2016 to February
2016 (2014: January 2015 to August 2015).

Interest rates of these structured deposits vary
depending on the movement of the SHIBOR. Such
structured deposits are classified as loans and
receivables and stated at amortised cost.
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26.

27.

28.

— =
—=

HMRABETRE

(b) HftfFX

REZ—Z—RF+=-_A=+—H
IEFE - AEBERITEINUAAR
BMSAE AeBBEAEARE
134,000,000t (46 & 72160,096,000
B ZE—F &) - B HHAR
B—EA  FENF290%%E3.70%
ZEMRREIFR - ZE TR
DI BB FE W GRIA I 12 5
AT B o

REBEE-_Z—HRE+=-AH=
+—HBLEFE A& BEHEA
A FE #134,000,0007T (18 & B
160,096,0007%8 7T)(= & — I :
A R 80,000,000 (18 & R

101,266,000/ 7t)) Z E 17 R E
BH R ER -

EHFRRITERR

R-E—RF+-_A=1+—H K&EH
BEEHEABREAEEERE 2K
B & M R0.75% £0.80% (= & — Y
F:08%FE1.35%) T EMEREHBE A=
ERARZRITEER °

IRITRARNIEMB KRR » FFEN
F0.00% £0.35% (—ZF — P £ 0.00%
Z 0.35%) °

BENEZREREANRE

RIBEMR - AEBE RN EHHERE
NEBREBEEZBHE2I ZRE DT
LI

26.

27.

28.

OTHER PRINCIPAL PROTECTED
DEPOSITS (CoONTINUED)

(b) Other deposit

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group
entered into other deposits that were principal
protected and denominated in RMB with the aggregate
principal amount of RMB134,000,000 (equivalent to
HK$160,096,000) (2014: Nil) with a bank with maturity
periods of one month and carried interest ranged from
290% to 3.70% per annum. Such deposits are
classified as loans and receivables and stated at
amortised cost.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, other
deposits with aggregate principal amount of
RMB134,000,000 (equivalent to HK$160,096,000) (2014:
RMB80,000,000 (equivalent to HK$101,266,000)) had
matured and been redeemed.

TIME DEPOSITS/BANK BALANCES

Time deposits held by the Group comprised bank balances
held by the Group and carried fixed interest rate which was
0.75% to 0.80% (2014: 0.8% to 1.35%) per annum at 31
December 2015 and with original maturity within 3 months.

Bank balances carried interest at market rates which range
from 0.00% to 0.35% (2014: 0.00% to 0.35%) per annum.

TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

An aged analysis of the Group’s trade and bills payables,
presented based on the invoice date, at the end of the
reporting period is as follows:

—E-HF —E—F

2015 2014

FERT T T

HK$’000 HK$’000

0£90H 0 to 90 days 60,043 68,905
91Z180H 91 to 180 days 20,300 26,586
181%365H 181 to 365 days 20,324 1,280
B A1F Over 1 year 3,330 3,840
103,997 100,611

AFEF#H ANNUAL REPORT 2015
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2. HtENFERE WIS

J& 1 IR
WELE B 25K
H b & F12 TH
H b & 1 5K R
HpEREER
Bz

30. RITRHMEER

%

A\
& 2
oF I

my S

B
E

29. OTHER PAYABLES AND DEPOSITS

RECEIVED

—E-hF —E-mF
2015 2014
FHET FHET
HK$°000 HK$'000

Payables for acquisition of property,
plant and equipment 3,905 11,080
Receipt in advance from customers 5,435 6,074
Other tax payables 16,210 15,143
Other payables 2,295 2,016
Other accrued operating expenses 3,904 14,365
Deposits received 344 386
32,093 49,064

30. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

—E-HF —T—mF
2015 2014
FHET FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
Bank loans 777,456 257,554
Other borrowing - 185,000
777,456 442,554
Secured 777,456 213,250
Unsecured — 229,304
777,456 442,554
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30. RITRHEMEE®) 30. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(CONTINUED)
LRI R EMEE 2 HH BB R The maturity profile of the above bank and other borrowings
e is as follows:
—F-1% —FmF
2015 2014
FET FHET
HK$°000 HK$'000
MITERZREE The carrying amount of bank loans
EEWT: are repayable as follows:
R—FR Within one year 777,456 257,554
HibfgE ZRMEE The carrying amount of other
EEWT: borrowing is repayable as follows:
—FNE More than one year but not
BB 3B RN exceeding two years - 185,000
777,456 442,554
R —F N EH Less: Amounts due within one year
Rt AR EE and shown under current
Z IR liabilities (777,456) (257,554)
—F 1B H Amounts due after one year and
REtAERB AR Z shown under non-current
IR liabilities - 185,000
RZF-—RF+ZA=1+—H KIK Bank and other borrowings of HK$777,456,000 (2014:
H ith & B777,456,000/% jT(— & — [T HK$398,249,000) were denominated in HK$ at 31 December
F : 398,249,000/ JT) Jh LA /& T &t & 2015, the currency other than the functional currency of the
(UHFEHEEEER RGN - relevant group entities.
ARBREFSKITERMER A E Details of the assets of the Group pledged to secure bank
15 B A KT aE16 %39 © loans are set out in notes 16 and 39.
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HEZZ—AF+=ZA=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

30. RITRHEMEE®) 30. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(CONTINUED)
AEENEEMZERITREMEE The exposures of the Group’s fixed-rate and variable-rate
B R BT bank and other borrowings are as follows:
—E-IF —ZT-EF
2015 2014
FET T T
HK$°000 HK$'000
ATHEEZESRBE: Fixed-rate borrowings repayable:
—FLAE More than one year
BB F but not more than two years - 185,000
ATEEZZEMEER: Variable-rate borrowings repayable:
R—FA Within one year 777,456 257,554
777,456 442 554
M5 E R E# B & H X 2 )F B R 1T The variable-rate bank borrowings carry interest rate, which
fEFRER are repriced periodically, as follows:
—E-HF —T—F
2015 2014
TER FHT
HK$’000 HK$'000
BEBRITRERFE Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate
A01.00% plus 1.00% 400,000 =
BBRITREFE Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate
712.00% plus 2.00% 229,956 =
BEABRITRAEFE Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate
112.25% plus 2.25% 147,500 —
BBRITRZEFES Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate
hn2.50% plus 2.50% - 147,500
BEBRITRAERFE Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate
112.85% plus 2.85% - 65,750
FREARRTT 1-year People’s Bank of China
— FHAE E R & benchmark interest rate multiplied
Ik LA105% by 105% - 44,304
777,456 257,554
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30. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(CONTINUED)

30. RITREMEE#)

REBEE_F-—AF+_A=1T—HLF
B AEBRTREMEENERFN R
(REB TN RER)EE T :

The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also equal to
contracted interest rates) of the Group’s bank and other
borrowings during the year ended 31 December 2015 are as

126

follows:
—E-RF —E—mF
2015 2014
FET FAT
HK$°000 HK$'000
B R = Effective interest rate:
EBRIT Fixed-rate bank and other
REMEE borrowings 5.52%-8.00% 5.76%-8.00%
FBIR1T Variable-rate bank and other
REMEE borrowings 1.30%-6.15% 2.81%—6.15%
31. BA& 31. SHARE CAPITAL
iigvig 4= [N
Number of Share
shares capital
FAT
HK$'000
YEIE Authorised:
RZZFE—NF—HA—HEK=-Z—  Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
WE+—A=+—H&EKA at 1 January 2014 and 31
B0.01B L 2 & i iR December 2014 20,000,000,000 200,000
A% 19 3 48 Subdivision of shares 80,000,000,000 =
RZZE—RF+=-_A=+—H Ordinary shares of HK$0.002
fi% 1 {E0.00278 JT 2 & 3@ A% each at 31 December 2015 100,000,000,000 200,000
BOREHRE: Issued and fully paid:
R-ZZE—NFE—HA—BEKRE Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
B0.01B L 2 &R at 1 January 2014 660,000,000 6,600
BRIBEARAEEET Issue of shares pursuant to open
Z 1 offer 330,000,000 3,300
R-Z—NFE+=-_HA=+—H&  Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
EE0.OIE T Z2EB K at 31 December 2014 990,000,000 9,900
% 17 % 48 Subdivision of shares 3,960,000,000 —
RZFE—RAF+=-H=+—H®%  Ordinary shares of HK$0.002
% T {80.0027%8 7T 2 & i A% each at 31 December 2015 4,950,000,000 9,900

—ZE—HFEF 3 ANNUAL REPORT 2015




474 BF 7% ¥R X M 3T Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B

32.

BT &

RAR B EAE (AR DR=F
——EMA - +N\BERH - KFESE
HE2HEEAREBELER @ REX
EEEBUBENREEAS A BB
B ARTANBEBHAEENE B8
EZANEBR -EZCAAEESEHE
MERBENERE RISEH - HY
AREFEZEBIEFHEERERMNRRE
TIERE  TEMBEMEMMBBEE
WRBRAEFAZEEANERZA
fAEMAL  BNAEBITMKERRZ
BE =HBE RE BEEXKX
(BREAEETAKBRR ZEMBNIT
HIENITESR) BRFARBARFMK
DZBERE - ANFEE =T ——F—7
TNBREFTERNER TR T
—F—A+tHE®R-

B 17 8 AN 5t 8 R AN & B A7) A BB ik
RETEEREMAREITE 2B HK
TEBERETEEESRM R EHEZ
BB M AR 1T 2 AR A A D B K
REE > TSHEBARBTEDETRMN
HE230% ° AN - EITERIEAG S
538 [F) KX B AL A7) EL Aty 8 AU AE AT 8155 T
B2 A BRE (T EEE KRB R
B)MAEETZARARMNDAS - T
FEBARABMONBRAEREW
Z B (TRt S AER B |) St A &2 3751 8l
RERG 2BARREHTRMDEE Z
10% °

RO BIEAGTE AT 21T
CEEZAYEEARE R _T—1F
+—A=1+—H  BEAFE A HET
2 5 % #8 80 /4330,000,0000% @ HHE R
RZZE—RAE+ - A=+—HEARRE
BHEIAR R A BT D 2 E #46.66% (BN
4,950,000,0000%) °

REZZZREHBHAN TR HM
N BAIRERTE28EZBRE
B RAR 1B AR B 2 AT ] H 4t B8 I i &t
FMERTREETZ2EEZMER
REEREBDITE  SEHEREKRITE
ZBEE)MEBRTEKTETZEN
Ry TREBRERRLARARF
BRITRMNAE 1% - LR HEE
—HREEBI%RE 2 BRE - AR
ARRBRAETAMEE M2 RE
REBBATHEARERSE -

22T -HF+ZA=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The share option scheme of the Company (“Scheme”) was
adopted on 28 April 2011 for the purpose of providing
incentives to participants to contribute to the Group and to
enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees
and attract and retain human resources that are valuable to
the Group. The Board may grant an option to subscribe for
the shares in the Company to any individual being an
employee, officer, agent, consultant or representative of any
members of the Group (including any executive or non-
executive director of any member of the Group) who, as the
Board may determine in its absolute discretion, has made
valuable contribution to the business of the Group based on
his/her performance, years of service, or is regarded to be a
valuable human resource of the Group based on his/her
working experience, knowledge in the industry and other
relevant factors. The Scheme shall be valid and effective for
a period of ten years commencing on 18 January 2012 and
will expire on 17 January 2022.

The limit on the total number of the Company’s shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme and any
other share option scheme(s) of the Company (excluding
lapsed and cancelled options) must not exceed 30% of the
total number of the Company’s shares in issue from time to
time. In addition, the total number of the Company’s shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the Scheme, together with all options to be
granted under any other share option scheme(s) of the
Company (excluding lapsed options), must not represent
more than 10% of the total number of the Company’s shares
in issue as at the date of commencement of the listing of
shares of the Company on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (“‘Scheme Mandate Limit”) or as at the date of
approval of the refreshed Scheme Mandate Limit.

As a result of the Share Subdivision, the total number of
securities available for issue under the Scheme was adjusted.
As at 31 December 2015, the total number of securities
available for issue under the Scheme was 330,000,000,
representing approximately 6.66% of the total number of
shares of the Company in issue (i.e. 4,950,000,000), as at 31
December 2015 and the date of this report.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each participant, together
with all options granted and to be granted to him/her under
any other share option scheme(s) of the Company within the
12-month period immediately preceding the proposed date of
grant (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options)
shall not exceed 1% of the total number of the Company’s
shares in issue as at the proposed date of grant. Any further
grant of options to a participant in excess of the 1% limit
shall be subject to the shareholders’ approval of the
Company with such participant and his/her associates
abstaining from voting.
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32. BRESTE ()

BEAFEERMARFRNES  THER
HEERRIBESEAZ2EMBEEA
TR BB E - NEEBTIER
TEETBREAEEEANBLIEH
TEFIRAE - 4N WEARBFEE
RSB IIEATESSIFESBZ
B8 A %A BAREEER
RERTZE AR ARNEZE TR 2T
2D BBEEITRD Z201% K A E
(BEBROAEBELEREBSR ZKME
sH&) #83A5,000,000/8 7T © BIZBH AR
AR RPN R RS EL#E & -

BTBREZENBARK L AL
AT NBRER® - SEEREARA
RBEARTREREZ ZNRN TARF]
ZEBR1.008 T - BIRE ZITREBE
HESESRT  EREMBRATITE
HRIB R B A B E R A+ F -

RAFTEETBREETER QT
BRIz RBEFNRERAT=E2&S
FRbBEREER(WAR/ERA)
Bt 32 P B ¥R R P51 By A fn W T 18
(D) B = B Bk B AT AL & % A
Bt XX P R SRE R P B D 2 F U T
B:ReEhEE -

B RN AN ET 81 A K - BB (A BB A AR
RIBAFFEME L - A REECABE
RER-_ZE-—AFR_T-—HF+_H
=t —HERITE -
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22T -HF+ZA=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (conTINUED)

Any option to be granted under the Scheme to a Director,
chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company or
any of their respective associates must be approved by
Independent Non-Executive Directors (excluding Independent
Non-Executive Director who is the grantee). In addition, any
option to be granted to a substantial shareholder of the
Company or an Independent Non-Executive Director or any of
their respective associates which will result in the shares
issued and to be issued in excess of 0.1% of the issued
shares or with an aggregate value (based on the closing
price of the shares at the date of the grant) in excess of
HK$5,000,000 within any 12-month period is subject to
approval by the shareholders of the Company in general
meeting.

An offer for grant of options must be accepted within 28
days from the date of grant. The amount payable by each
grantee of options to the Company on acceptance of the
offer for the grant of options is HK$1.00. The exercisable
period will be determined by the Board and in any event
must not be more than 10 years from the date of the grant
of the option.

The subscription price for the Company’s shares on the
exercise of options under the Scheme shall be at least the
highest of: (a) the closing price of the shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of
grant, which must be a business day; (b) the average closing
price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet for the 5 business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (c) the nominal value of the
share.

No options have been granted under the Scheme since its
adoption and accordingly there were no options outstanding
at 31 December 2015 and 2014.
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33.

IR 10 i (B I 1

AREF B EFEANEE RO EE R
FEcEBAREZEH N EEEESE
HEHPRTZ25 -

—E-RFE+-_A=+—REMEEB
LB AT RNUE RO
FEBE© 24,092,000/ 70 (Z T — M4 :
24,002,000 T) At EHAR E &
8,722,000/8 jt (—ZZ— M 4 : 8,722,000
BID) c MEES AN ENE
EES  EOEEFBE MEEST
BER@ERERBR T REERFHIE
ko DEMEES VARESHE W0
FERE IR BIEE INE A -

A R B X SZ Y PR B X B) S R B O A [
R BB BUS 7 R RO HE O - X6
BF ZEWB AR PTESE RKRE I
KEERHA -

22T -HF+ZA=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

33. SHARE PREMIUM AND RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s share premium and reserves and
the movement therein for the current and prior years are
presented in the consolidated statement of changes in

equity.

Other reserves as at 31 December 2015 comprise reserve
fund of HK$24,092,000 (2014: HK$24,092,000) and enterprise
expansion fund of HK$8,722,000 (2014: HK$8,722,000) of
Shanghai SAC, Allied Wangchao and Shandong SAC. The
reserve fund is to be used to expand the enterprise’s
working capital. When the enterprise suffers losses, the
reserve fund may be used to make up unrecovered losses
under special circumstances. The enterprise expansion fund
is to be used for business expansion and, if approved, can
also be used to increase capital.

The remittance of retained profits of the subsidiaries
established in the PRC outside the PRC is subject to
approval of the local authorities and the availability of foreign
currencies generated and retained by these subsidiaries.
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34. IEEB IR
REREHRERSFERBEFERN -

AR ERERCRERBRRE(BE)
HEUTEERR:

RZZFT—NF—H—H At 1 January 2014

REEZR Credit to consolidated
meElEmERk statement of profit or loss
Hfh2mH and other comprehensive
s /RAFTA income for the year

R-Z—mWE+=—A At 31 December

=+—H 2014
R Exchange differences
KEEZR Credit to consolidated
LEEBRZR statement of profit or loss
HEfh 2| and other comprehensive
WEsRAEA income for the year

R=ZZT—RF+=A
==

At 31 December
2015

R-ZTE—RF+_A=1+—H K&EH
B B 864,493,000/ T (ZZ— P04
30,548,000 JT) 2 5T A 8 B H &S
A A K 45 & 2R FE o R 5 AR A
EREH A Rt ERERIET
THIEEE - & 8019,875,000/ T (=&
—NF - E) ZABAREEESER
FRZFEEIE - MR T RSB IEEE
Al4EPR Hi AR 8 o

AN—_E—RAFR-_F—NF+_A=1
—H HZREMZELEREBEBEETE
ERERERATEEREZSME
ERRAZABRAFLEEIKZ RHEM
RAMGFREFEWAZERER -
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34.

DEFERRED TAXATION

At the end of the reporting period and during the current and
prior years, deferred tax liabilities (assets) were recognised in
respect of the temporary differences attributable to the
following:

ROKEF 2
REREE EMB
MEB B ITE Allowance Withholding
Accelerated for tax on
tax  doubtful undistributed Hity #at
depreciation debts earnings Others Total
FET FET FHET FET FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
31,635 (12,283) 8,076 3,178 30,606
o (382) (5,504) (1,940) (7,826)
31,635 (12,665) 2,572 1,238 22,780
(1,776) 771 (129) (39) (1,173)
- (1,357) (356) (682) (2,395)
29,859 (13,251) 2,087 517 19,212
The Group had estimated unused tax losses of
HK$64,493,000 (2014: HK$30,548,000) at 31 December

2015, which were available for offset against future profits.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams. Unused tax losses of
HK$19,875,000 (2014: Nil) at 31 December 2015 will gradually
expire in five years and the remaining unused tax losses may
be carried forward indefinitely.

The deferred tax liabilities included in others as at 31
December 2015 and 2014 represented the temporary
differences on the unrealised fair value gains recognised on
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and
accrued interest income on other principal protected
deposits.
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35.

36.

37.

FEFRAERS

REE_Z—RAF+_A=+—HILHF

£ REIBAEEBERTERNNAE
BRI 2 B EE 520,921,000/ JT
—ZT— U4 : 39,679,000/ JT) °

R K2 A 5 E

AEEZHEE TS B EES
HRERRIVEFNEZKE - A%
EARZSRINEFHAZRETH
WA ETFANLIELER - AAME
FIIR R & o A % B 5 3 5 R 1R 4%
B 8RR 2 I — B B R -

ZNE W) A= L N e
BEitEl) - FrERARERERASZ
MBS - FEAMNEERANEE
MEENRFA FERITAEE
MES - BERAKEZHRIIILE
BT AEAKANS%IEL - BRI
tR - BREZBAEARFT S EERG
1 EBR - A5 B E B S5% B i

==
A °

FREEREB ZRKBFFEIH R
7 Bl & 7 BT 5E11 %218 ©

REHERRE

AEEENPEzE=TRI7H - 8
RBUERKBEERE R -+
F-HMEARBYEZKLHAOED
REBRER—FE+F -

35.

36.

37.

22T -HF+ZA=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION

During the year ended 31 December 2015, bills receivables
with recourse offset against corresponding bank loans upon
maturity was HK$20,921,000 (2014: HK$39,679,000).

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The PRC employees of the Group are members of state-
managed retirement benefits schemes operated by the local
government. The Group is required to contribute certain
percentage of their payroll costs to the retirement benefits
schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to the retirement benefits schemes is to
make the specified contributions.

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (“MPF Scheme”). All qualifying employees in Hong
Kong are required to join the MPF Scheme. The assets of the
scheme are held separately from those of the Group, in
funds under the control of trustees. Both employees’ and the
Group’s contributions are calculated at 5% of the employee’s
monthly relevant income with the mandatory cap, and the
Group will make 5% top-up contribution if an employee’s
monthly basic salary exceeds the mandatory cap.

The retirement benefits scheme contributions of the Directors
and staff for the year end are stated in notes 11 and 13
respectively.

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Group entered into an arrangement with a third party in
the PRC to lease rented premises as the production facilities
for manufacture of cement with a term of twenty years.
Other operating leases for rented premises were negotiated
for terms from one to ten years.

—E—EHF —E—mF
2015 2014
THER FH T
HK$’000 HK$'000
KEHRERT Minimum lease payments under
WRAEZEZ operating leases recognised as
RIEHERIE expenses 1,161 1,075
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37. KEHERIE#)

RBEMR AEBERE L2 R
HM T a2 MENR B R &R &
EHERABZZBARZEEEREAZ
FEERATE

37. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
(CONTINUED)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
commitments for future minimum lease payments under the
above arrangement and other non-cancellable operating
leases for premises and plant and equipment which fall due

as follows:
—E—EHF —E—mF
2015 2014
FHET FA&T
HK$’000 HK$'000
TEER—F Not later than one year 1,788 1,144
—F F Later than one year and not later
BETBEeRF than five years 4,031 4,051
BB AF Later than five years 398 1,435
6,217 6,630
38. EAREKIE 38. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
REBBHIUTERNAYE: The Group had the following capital commitments:
—E—REF —E—OE
2015 2014
FHET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
S Capital commitments contracted for
BARREE PTG RREE but not provided in the
B consolidated financial statements:
— EARAEKT — capital contribution to a joint
—EagRnd] venture 477,897 506,329
— BEYE BE — acquisition of property, plant
S Ei] and equipment 3,807 5,363
481,704 511,692
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38. EXREIE#®)

HIOARBRZE——F_A+AHBA
o R-ZE——F_A+=B L5 LK
HEECE EEEM(EB)ERAF
(AL SEEVB(ER)BAAFR -
(s DT (R ERIARE
BIEBIAEHBBE)A EHE]D RE
REBEIEERRIRANHBZI[EER
Bltpag ) - LARIE B B < 163k R I&
HRIGERR([EERAD - RES
et EBEEMRB R £E LA
EREMEHEEBEE 2EBRFH X
% BRAEBERANBZZERKILIAEE
NE AEEREREAQREBIERB - FA
AT —HEERRZEAEREE QT
=5 OM O K 250% IR B A R OB
400,000,0007T (16 & M #477,897,000
B L (ZZF — Y 4 : 506,329,000 7T))
BHRAEERE - REFBHNREAH
AR AZE——E-_RAt+HEAR=
T-—NFE-—A=tHZAERHB A
E——FZA+ABZBEHA -

EEEFBMER T ——FNA-1+/\H
SN IHEEWE  WBERETRER
22 (B A A RK380,000,0007T
(18 & FA 49454,002,000 7T (— =& — Y
£ : 481,018,000 L)) - R=ZZE—HF
+=—A=t+—H8" LB EHMEX=1
EEZE TARBzSeHNREe L
AR #68,270,00070 (ZZF—PF : AR
#68,270,0007T) (18 & M 481,565,000
7T (ZF — 0 £ : 86,418,000 7T)) ©
—HEHBEWEBE NBE 2Rk RS
SEEAKXBRAREBEE AEERAK
NATEEIEZERE LK EEIES
B RAEBRAEIKILIE LB AR
BHEBEPBEEEEEN - UK AER
ERHESEM TR EZREBEEERH
EATEE 2 REMMEE AR AE
RERBEMZE TZ2ENRETT
BERF  HZHEBRBIEERIEDIR
B AIAKABEAEDEE A&
BaEREREE  UATAERAER
AIEMEARLH ZHE - XBEB DRI
HNAATERA-—ZE——F+A=H
F—E——F+—At+HEBZAELE
KA o

22T -HF+ZA=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

38. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED)

As announced by the Company on 15 February 2012,
Shanghai SAC entered into the (EREFRIBEABEB]IEE
#% &) (Bailonggang Project Construction Cooperation
Agreement®) (“Cooperation Agreement”) and the (B &2
& & A 8RB # &) (Principle Agreement for the
Establishment of the Joint Venture Company*) (“JV Principle
Agreement”) with Ei&#E#H (5£E) FR2AR (Shanghai Building
Material (Group) Company Limited*) (former known as /&
Sk (£8) %27 (Shanghai Building Material (Group)
General Company*) (“Shanghai Building Material”), a state-
owned enterprise, for the purpose of setting up a joint
venture company (‘JV Company”) pursuant to the terms and
conditions therein on 13 February 2012. Pursuant to the
Cooperation Agreement, Shanghai Building Material and
Shanghai SAC agreed to establish the JV Company to
operate and manage the Bailonggang Project under the
terms of the JV Principle Agreement after the relevant
government approvals for the Bailonggang Project being
obtained. The commitment on capital contribution to a joint
venture represents the 50% share of registered capital of the
JV Company by the Group amounting to RMB400,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$477,897,000 (2014:
HK$506,329,000)). Details of the transaction were set out in
the announcement and circular of the Company dated 15
February 2012 and 30 January 2014, respectively and the
circular of the Company dated 16 March 2012.

On 28 September 2012, Shanghai SAC entered into three
purchase agreements for the purchases of certain equipment
and machineries at the aggregate consideration of
RMB380,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$454,002,000 (2014: HK$481,013,000)). As at 31
December 2015, Shanghai SAC has settled the respective
first payments of the total consideration in an aggregate
amount of RMB68,270,000 (2014: RMB68,270,000)
(equivalent to approximately HK$81,565,000 (2014:
HK$86,418,000)) under the three purchase agreements. The
equipment and machineries under the three purchase
agreements were purchased for future use in the
Bailonggang Project and the Group and the Company does
not intend to retain such equipment and machineries for their
own use. After the JV Company is established, Shanghai
SAC may transfer, by way of disposal or otherwise, the
equipment and machineries purchased at cost or novate the
rights and obligations of the purchase agreements at cost to
the JV Company in accordance with the relevant PRC rules
and regulations, or subject to the relevant PRC rules and
regulations, may transfer such equipment and machineries at
cost by way of contribution in kind to satisfy its proportion of
the registered capital of the JV Company. Details of the
transaction were set out in the announcement and circular of
the Company dated 3 October 2012 and 15 November 2012
respectively.
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38.

39.

22T -HF+ZA=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED)

Since the equipment and machineries under the three
purchase agreements were purchased for future use in the
Bailonggang Project, the total commitment of the Group to
the Bailonggang Project, including the commitment under the
three purchase agreements, would be limited to
RMB400,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$477,897,000 (2014: HK$506,329,000)) being the
commitment on capital contribution to a joint venture.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At the end of the reporting period, certain of the Group’s
buildings and structures and plant and machinery with
aggregate carrying amount of HK$133,907,000 (31 December
2014: HK$139,914,000), prepaid lease payments on land use
rights with carrying amount of HK$5,960,000 (31 December
2014: HK$6,481,000), an other principal protected deposit
with carrying value of HK$143,369,000 (31 December 2014:
HK$151,899,000) together with short-term bank deposits,
carrying fixed interest rate ranging from 0.00% to 3.08% (31
December 2014: 0.00% to 3.08%) for annum, of
HK$424,912,000 (31 December 2014: HK$21,697,000) were
pledged to secure bank loans to the extent of
HK$777,456,000 (31 December 2014: HK$213,250,000)
granted to the Group and short-term bank facilities in respect
of the issuance of bills payable to suppliers amounting to
HK$69,249,000 (31 December 2014: HK$64,067,000).



474 BF 7% ¥R X M 3T Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B

40.

BB LXK

REE-_Z—RAFR-_FT—NF+_H4
Z+—HIEFE  AEEEEB 2R
D RAEEGHFUT

(a) XZMAE

22T -HF+ZA=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
BALANCES

During the year ended 31 December 2015 and 2014, the

Group had transactions and balances with related parties as
follows:

(@) Summary of transactions

(B A) & H
(Income)/Expenses
= s —F-0F
2015 2014
B 5 TER FH T
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
BaitE(FB) Allied Properties (H.K.)
BRAF(EAME])  Limited (“APL”) and its
R HKE QA subsidiaries (other than
(FTBEFRAT Sun Hung Kai & Co.
(THBEDR Limited (“SHK”) and its
H B A = BR AN subsidiaries) and its
RESKREZER ultimate holding
AH company (ii)
e - Rent, property
MEERE management and
kZ=HEHR air-conditioning fees - 41
THE R Administrative expenses - 8
EERBEERA Management service fee - 122
B R AR The former ultimate
N holding company (i)
THEA Administrative expenses - 327
rE Non-controlling
MEBARZ shareholders of the
IE 2 IR BR R Group’s subsidiaries
A2 M A Interest income (iii) (8,184) (4,584)
EEEST M Management fee expense 68 69

it & 7K Je 2 B% A R /2 7] ALLIED CEMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED
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40. BB AR SR &8 ®) 40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
BALANCES (CONTINUED)
== =
b)) TREEEAEMS (b) Key management personnel compensation
—E—EHF —E—mF
2015 2014
F&T FHET
HK$’000 HK$'000
e kHM Salaries and other short-term
72 B 42 A benefits 10,198 8,882
BKREFER Post-employment costs 435 375
10,633 9,257
(c) HEeR#EE (c) Summary of balances
—Z—HfF —E—mF
2015 2014
B o FET FET
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
REEE Current assets
BTAREE Loan to a non-
MEBARlZ—% controlling
I 72 B R shareholder of the
ZER Group’s subsidiary (iii) 157,706 167,089
e U AR £ Interest receivable from
B TR Z a non-controlling
—Z IR shareholder of the
AR R 2 F) B Group’s subsidiary (iii) 231 255
— KA Amounts due from a
R related party 157,937 167,344
REBEE Current liabilities
FERASE Dividend payable to a
BB AR Z non-controlling
—ZIEER shareholder of the
IR E 2z B B Group’s subsidiary (iv) 2,000 —
RANE& Amounts due to a
(= NG) non-controlling
Z—RIEER shareholder of the
f& | 2 I Group’s subsidiary (iv) 137 69
IR — % B Amounts due to a
KIE related party 2,137 69
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2 =

HEZZ—AF+=ZA=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

40.

4.

EBMAERIREtRE)

() HerMEE )
GBS

() BE-T—NF_AMB#  »
Autobest Holdings Limited £ 1
BRI 2 BB kg
RNRE) Z A REIERRBREH
EEEERAR(XRKZDK AR
BEAARZBEHEITRADLR
20%Z2MRE - ZAEBRER=T
—NE-_AMBAZRS °

(ii) R-Z—WE=-AMNAB At
ERREZHBBEEAVEXE
R - ZRERER=ZZ—HF
“AWAR/MZRS o

(i) ZERGREKREEB KRR
REFAEEMBEAR 2 —RIE
EERBRREZETER - R=ZT—
FE+=-A=+—HB Bx4A%
REF48%:TE - REEBAER
T RFRARZT—REF+t
RAEE - ZERFHINEKFER
ERG(EEREWMHAA) - X5
ZHBHERAARBSH AT —
FFRAZ+TZHZRAEA

vy #HEHAEER 2RERAREX

iy (8 -

REPRREE

WM ARBRZE—R"F—A=1+/\H
B ARRIZEHEEEWB AR EE
ERAR ([EE]) BRI MERTEE
ERERAE(RINEREDIILEE
W Bl BERKAEREEEMR
NEBRFEKGEREL SR E R
BZHRAR(Exis] —MRHPEH
RS 2 RING B E) A H£60% 0%
g - MERRERFAFAER
Al ER BREAARE
291,200,0007T ° B W EEHEFA
NABIBRRERR_ZT—"FNLNA+AHA
BT BRRENASE LI E - X535
BHBEINSERAARAHE=-ZT—X
F—A-_+N\BE-_ZE—X"F=A=-1+
ZTHZRAERBERA o

40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND

BALANCES (CONTINUED)

(c) Summary of balances (continued)
Notes:

(i) Since 4 February 2014, following the completion of the sale
and purchase agreement entered into between Autobest
Holdings Limited and China Health, Tian An China
Investments Company Limited (“TACI”), the former ultimate
holdings company of the Company, became shareholder
held less than 20% of the entire issued share capital of the
Company. The amounts included transactions before 4
February 2014.

(ii) As at 4 February 2014, APL was a substantial shareholder
with significant influence over TACI. The amounts included
transactions before 4 February 2014.

(iii) The transactions and balances represented the provision of
entrusted loans through a bank to a non-controlling
shareholder of the Group’s subsidiary. As at 31 December
2015, the principals of the loans bear interest at 4.8% per
annum, were unsecured and were repayable in May 2016
and July 2016. The transactions also constituted
connected transactions within the meaning of the Listing
Rules. Details of the transactions were set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 22 May 2015.

(iv) The balances were unsecured, non-interest bearing and
were repayable on demand.

41. EVENT AFTER THE END OF THE

REPORTING PERIOD

As announced by the Company on 28 January 2016,
Kingwood Limited (“Kingwood”), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, and RII T ERMFEEEETIEG R
A 8] (Shenzhen Waranty Asset Management Co., Ltd."
(“Shenzhen Waranty”) had entered into a sale and purchase
agreement, pursuant to which Kingwood conditionally agreed
to purchase, and Shenzhen Waranty conditionally agreed to
sell, an aggregate of 60% equity interest in 1t R Bl 5
R A7) (Beiing Ziguang Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.*) (“Ziguang
Pharmaceutical”), a sino-foreign joint venture enterprise
established in the PRC, representing the entire interest held
by Shenzhen Waranty in Ziguang Pharmaceutical, for an
aggregate consideration of RMB291,200,000. The proposed
acquisition is subject to the approval of the independent
shareholders of the Company at an extraordinary general
meeting to be held on 15 April 2016. Details of the
transaction were set out in the announcement and circular of
the Company dated 28 January 2016 and 22 March 2016
respectively.
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ARBEE
ME - BENRRE
RBRBRZRE
B 8 2 B R R

RBEE

H A 18 WK TR I TN FRIR
PRERREATEEREZ

TREE

SR EHRITER
EHBER
RITEBR IR S

RBAEE
FEEtE M
—FRIBMZRITEE

REERRBAR
A R Mk 8

PR A
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EEBE
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A IS R KT 5 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HEZZ—AF+=ZA=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

42. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE

COMPANY

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment
Investments in subsidiaries
Amounts due from subsidiaries

Current assets

Other receivables and prepayments

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Pledged short-term bank deposits

Time deposits

Bank balances and cash

Current liabilities
Accrued expenses
Bank borrowing due within one year

Net current assets

Total assets less current
liabilities

Capital and reserves
Share capital

Share premium and reserves (note)

Total equity

—E—EHF —E—mF
2015 2014
FHET FHE T
HK$’000 HK$'000
58 46
396,360 464,783
98,289 169,186
494,707 634,015
637 395
78,126 —
400,000 —
200,636 —
435,037 636,885
1,114,436 637,280
1,484 2,338
400,000 —
401,484 2,338
712,952 634,942
1,207,659 1,268,957
9,900 9,900
1,197,759 1,259,057
1,207,659 1,268,057
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42, KRRz B ER &)

RRABIFAMBARR_-_ZT—hFR_

A B 7% w2k M 5E438 o
W 3 -
REOBEREE

RZZT—MFE—HA—H
AN A AR E E i F
BIEAREE
BITZBH
BEAHZE
BT R AP
ZHEBAEA

R-F-—HmFEr+-HA=+—H
RRRAFEER
2 EREE
ZIEHZR

RZZE—AF+=A=+—H

NR-ZTB—FRE+-_A=1+—H  &x2Q7a
AR F AR A IR R 2 W 18 A IR D 5
{81,215,024,000,8 Jo Bk B 2438 251 18
9,215,000/ L (ZZE — W F : B 1a /& E
1,215,024,0007% Jt & 7] 2 K 17 28 Y4 Fll

3,556,000 JT) °

42. FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE

COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Particulars of all

consolidated financial statements.

Note:

Share premium and reserves

subsidiaries of the Company at 31
T—NEF+-—A=+—HZFBHNRLE December 2015 and 2014 are set out in note 43 to the

B’ A5 % 8 EifEE REEA
Share Translation Retained FEC)
premium reserve profits Total
TET FET FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
At 1 January 2014 731,052 = 32,403 763,455
Profit for the year of the Company — B 11,630 11,630
Issue of shares pursuant to open
offer 491,700 =3 = 491,700
Expenses incurred in connection
with issue of new shares
pursuant to open offer (7,728) =3 o (7,728)
At 31 December 2014 1,215,024 o 44,033 1,259,057
Loss for the year of the Company — = (85,199) (35,199)
Exchange difference arising on
translation to presentation
currency — (26,099) — (26,099)
At 31 December 2015 1,215,024 (26,099) 8,834 1,197,759

The Company’s

profits of HK$3,556,000).

Bt & 7K Je 2 B A R 2 7] ALLIED CEMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED

reserves available for
shareholders of the Company as at 31 December 2015
represented the share premium of HK$1,215,024,000 net of
realised accumulated loss of HK$9,215,000 (2014: share
premium of HK$1,215,024,000 and distributable retained

distribution to
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43. B AR E#

ARRFAEHBANN T AR
F-mE+-A=t-BZARDT:

43. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of all subsidiaries of the Company as at 31
December 2015 and 2014 are as follows:

ERTRABR
ETBEBRRE
EHEEMELX FEEELZ
Paid up issued BB E S
MR AL, B R i 2 ordinary share Effective equity
Place of 1R i B capital/Paid up interest
NCIEE incorporation/ Place of registered attributable to T E X
Name of company registration operations capital the Group Principal activities
%
All-cement Limited EEBRLES BB E 100 REZER RIKRER
British Virgin Islands ~ Hong Kong US$1 Investment holding and
cement business
All-Shanghai Inc. EBEXES BB 15,376,500 7T 83.33 HEER KIKEER
British Virgin Islands ~ Hong Kong US$15,376,500 Investment holding and
cement business
LI ARAR RBRLES 5 E 100 REERK
Fortunate Gold Limited British Virgin Islands  Hong Kong US$1 Investment holding
EmM=ARAF BB BB 18T 100 REZER
Fully Fine Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 Investment holding
Gratwick Limited REBRUES 5 1E€7T 100 ®EZRK
British Virgin Islands ~ Hong Kong US$1 Investment holding
Greater Vision Limited KBEZHE B 17T 100 REER
British Virgin Islands ~ Hong Kong US$1 Investment holding
HEREBBERAA B B 18T 100 REZERK
Kingway Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 Investment holding
BUEBR AR BB B 18T 100 REZER
Kingwood Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$1 Investment holding
SAC Intellectual Properties RERUES 5 1E€7T 100 REZRK
Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Hong Kong US$1 Investment holding
IWREE & ERKERERAR REARAME HEARAME 14,360,000 7T 100 4 2 R HE RO R AH
Shandong Allied Wangchao People’s Republic of  People’s Republic US$14,360,000 Manufacture and sales of
Cement Limited China of China cement and clinker
IR EEARORE R AR QA REARAME REARAME 1,000,000 7T 100 £EREHEEH
Shandong Shanghai Allied People’s Republic of  People’s Republic US$1,000,000 Manufacture and sales of
Cement Co., Ltd. China of China slag

AFEF#H ANNUAL REPORT 2015
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HEZZ—AF+=ZA=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2015

43. B AT E R (& 43. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)
EERTRAR
ZERBRAE
EREEMESR rEEEMLZ
Paid up issued BERBRAER
FE R 3L B AT i B ordinary share Effective equity
Place of 1 i B capital/Paid up interest
NCIEE incorporation/ Place of registered attributable to T E ¥
Name of company registration operations capital the Group Principal activities
%
LEBAKEERAR FEARAMER FEARAMEA 24,000,000 7T 50 BB KB R A
Shanghai Allied Cement Co., People’s Republic of  People’s Republic US$24,000,000 Trading of cement and
Ltd. China of China clinker
KRB ARG BB BE 10,000,000 7T 100 REZERK
Shanghai Allied Cement Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 Investment holding
Holdings Limited
Sharkview Limited REBRLES & 17T 100 REZERK
British Virgin Islands  Hong Kong US$1 Investment holding
EEtAR AR EEBEXHES BB 17T 100 REZER
Splendid Link Limited British Virgin Islands  Hong Kong US$1 Investment holding
AERBECEERAZAORY) FEARLME REARAME = 100 KB K 1 3 B
ARAA People’s Republic of  People’s Republic Investment holding and
China of China corporate advisory
IREERFBRRERERE REARKEME REARKEME = 100 REEZERK
HRAT People’s Republic of  People’s Republic Investment holding
China of China

RAER - WB AR EETERER

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at

B o the end of the year.
B 5 Remark:
This company is held and controlled by a 83.33%-owned

# ZAFR/ARERNEREE R IZE i

83.33% KM B A F] ° subsidiary of the Company.
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44. EEE KRR EZR 2R 44. DETAILS OF NON WHOLLY-OWNED

BB AR ZF#1E SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
TERBRAARAEBERNFERER The table below shows details of non wholly-owned
ZIEEEMBRAZFFE subsidiaries of the Company that have material non-
controlling interests:
FEREZSEZHERE
kR ERLLA
Proportion of ownership
interest and voting rights 2B ZFZERE=E 2 HEF Bt FERESR
AR BB held by non-controlling Profit allocated to Accumulated non-
Name of company interests non-controlling interests controlling interests
—E-RF —T—NF Z—TB-HE —T-NF ZZEB-HFE —T—MNF
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
FERT FHIT FExT FHIT
% % HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BB AKEERAR
Shanghai Allied Cement Co., Ltd 50 50 2,708 11,025 394,086 424,524
BEAEERER
18 51 3E 88 A Kt BB 2 &
Individually immaterial subsidiary with
non-controlling interests 6,860 4,534
400,946 429,058
BREANRNA A E NI 2 M Summarised financial information in respect of the
BREI 2 BERBERTIAT - T Company’s subsidiary that has material non-controlling
HERBEZREBANEIERIN S interests is set out below. The summaries financial
B o information below presented amounts before intra-group
eliminations.
tRBEKERRAF Shanghai Allied Cement Co., Ltd
—E—EHF —E—F
2015 2014
FE T FHET
HK$’000 HK$000
mBEE Current assets 815,981 870,277
ERBEE Non-current assets 161,193 181,221
mEBaE Current liabilities (167,123) (177,426)
EMEBEE Non-current liabilities (21,910) (25,058)
NN 3 R et Equity attributable to owners of the
= Company 394,055 424,490
I #72 {% o Non-controlling interests 394,086 424,524
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44. EEERFERERZFE
BB AR Z2F#E B @

44. DETAILS OF NON WHOLLY-OWNED
SUBSIDIARIES THAT HAVE MATERIAL
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
(CONTINUED)

tBEBESKEBRATE) Shanghai Allied Cement Co., Ltd (continued)

—ET-HF —ZE-mEF
2015 2014
FET FHE T
HK$°000 HK$'000
WA Revenue 253,908 414,133
BREHE Net expenses (248,492) (392,084)
ANF E 5 F Profit for the year 5,416 22,049
ZAN/NGIE 8 X ) Profit attributable to owners of the
i Al Company 2,708 11,024
FEVE IR 4 %5 B AL Profit attributable to non-controlling
i ) interests 2,708 11,025
AN F E 5 F Profit for the year 5,416 22,049
/NG i - Other comprehensive expense
HEfh2HEx attributable to owners of the Company (23,410) —
15 I i = PR (G Other comprehensive expense
Hih 2 M H attributable to non-controlling interests (23,410) —
AEFEEHEMEES T Other comprehensive expense for the year (46,820) —
/NG i Total comprehensive (expense) income
2HE(EZH) W= B5E attributable to owners of the Company (20,702) 11,024
FE 12 AR %5 FE MG Total comprehensive (expense) income
2E(EZH) K= B attributable to non-controlling interests (20,702) 11,025
REE Total comprehensive (expense) income
2HE (X)W @ for the year (41,404) 22,049
7B T I R Dividend distribution to non-controlling
Z IR E interests 7,786 10,355
EEXB 2 R® Net cash outflow from operating
R R activities (20,081) (41,970)
WEFEBH2EESMAFRE  Net cash inflow from investing activities 67,675 489154
BMEXEK 2R S MILIFT  Net cash outflow from financing activities (39,472) (453,176)
RemACRL) 58 Net cash inflow (outflow) 8,122 (6,992)

*  For identification purposes only
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81 755 B

Financial Summary

ES
A

B #2 B0 A (&5 18)
IR

AREE A (& HB)

AE 5 A (B 18)
e DT
RRFRIR
FEH% B 21

BEREARRF (EHER)

(&AL

EERAE
BEHRR
BEARE
SEE R
RN g2
FE1h #E 21

Results
Revenue

Profit (loss) before taxation
Taxation

Profit (loss) for the year

Profit (loss) for the year
attributable to:

Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Basic earnings (loss) per
share (HK cents)

Assets and liabilities
Total assets

Total liabilities
Non-controlling interests

Equity attributable to
owners of the Company

—ZE-HFEF WM ANNUAL REPORT 2015

BE+t-A=+—-HLUBREE

Financial year ended 31 December

—T——F ZE—-F =ZZT—=F =ZZZT—NF =ZB-IHF
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
FAET FAET FHET FET FET
HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
725,298 704,698 703,468 733,125 465,739
117,810 46,516 62,618 46,107 (26,985)
(29,321) (9,384) (16,396) (18,083) (2,829)
88,489 37,132 46,222 28,024 (29,814)
76,158 26,834 32,564 17,280 (34,237)
12,331 10,298 13,658 10,744 4,423
88,489 37,132 46,222 28,024 (29,814)

(F%)) (&) (E7)

(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
3.54 0.68 0.82 0.43 (0.69)

R+=—B=+—H
At 31 December

—T——F ZZT——-F =ZT—= —T-WFE ZEB—HF
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
FHET FHET FHET FHET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
1,587,749 1,611,846 1,625,996 2,426,774 2,629,925
593,730 450,782 415,688 713,025 1,021,320
423,262 419,431 430,169 429,058 400,946
570,757 741,633 780,139 1,284,691 1,207,659
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